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POLTERGEIST PHENOMENA AND DISSOCIATION
By James H. Hyslop.

I give here one of the most important cases which it has
been my good fortune to discover. It comes especially in
good sequence after the Burton case of hysteria. Readers will
remember that case as representing physical phenomena, ap-
parently of an independent kind, occurring much after the
manner of Eusapia Palladino, but which proved to have been
caused, in most instances, by the young lady herself in a
trance, this fact exempting her from the accusation of fraud.
It only needed that we find a case where similar phenomena
occurred in a normal state to suggest a wide generalization
of very considerable importance in psychic research.

The first experiment that came under my observation in
the following case was some time after it had begun its mani-
festations and not at the inception of them. My relation to
it is narrated in the first record. But its history psycho-
logically is not stated there, and that is brief.

A few years ago the family were trying some experi-
ments in the country, for table tipping, and they obtained
some interesting messages spelled out in the usual way.
The young boy, however, was sceptical and did not believe
there was anything in it. When the family tried some ex-
periments later in their own home it soon appeared that the
boy was developing physical phenomena himself. They first
manifested themselves in table tipping and two or three
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tables were broken to pieces by him. He became convinced
himself that the phenomena were genuine and was not dis-
illusioned until we discovered the dissociation in the case
and felt it necessary to explain to the boy just what hap-
pened, when he was so disappointed that it required much
encouraging to get him to resume experiment. He soon
developed automatic writing and finally the trance, when
there were some indications of automatic speech and clair-
voyance. In the meantime crystal gazing was tried and
proved a success. These types of phenomena are mentioned
in the detailed record.

The boy is the son of a clergyman known on both con-.
tinents and has an excellent reputation. No one would sus-
pect him of devious conduct. He has all the characteristics
of a refined and model boy, and only the world would suspect
him because he is a clergyman’s son. In this instance there
is no reason to suspect or reproach the lad. He was fourteen
years of age when the phenomena began and is now a year
older than that. No record was kept of the earlier experi-
ments and only when I came on the field were any notes
made and the present record is the result of them. I have
given all the details, not because they are evidential nor be-
cause they are interesting, for they are neither, except where
there is evidence of the supernormal, but because I do not
wish any feature of the case to represent merely my opinion
of it. The chief interest lies in the dissociation discovered
and in the peculiar evidence of nonsense in the development
of the case. It is not always that we can get at the inception
of mediumship and even in this case we have not all the facts.
But it was discovered in time to note the peculiarly boyish
nature of the mental action, especially in the trance state,
tho the automatic writing, done in his normal state, showed
the same impudence and lack of good manners, neither of
which are at all characteristic of the boy in his normal life.

But the important feature of the case was this. The
boy apparently produced things brought through matter.
The experiment showed how apparent this was. He was
also apparently in his normal state. There were no evi-
dences of a trance. The boy’s eyes were open, he spoke in a




Poltergeist Phenomena and Dissociation. 3

normal manner, moved about the house when the light was
up, or in the darkness just as the rest of us, and observed the
phenomena exactly as the rest of us did. He wrote auto-
matically and then read it, or read it at times just after hand
wrote, but always after the writing, not while it was going
on.

But now comes the important fact. The experiments
show that the boy’s hands or feet, as the emergency required,
became anzsthesic and that he did things with them that he
would not normally do. He had, of course, to prepare for
the performances in some instances. In others he did not
prepare for them. There was no means of testing him in
these preparations. But in the conditions described in the
record we discovered anasthesia of the hands and feet when
certain things were done. This showed that the boy was
unconscious of what he was doing with his hands and feet.
Fortunately for the phenomena they were done either in
the dark or when he could not see them occurring. It is
possible that, if it had been in the light, the optical action
would have inhibited the phenomena. However that may
be, the chief interest is that no phenomena occurred in the
light, except in a few instances where the boy’s eyes did not
see what was going on.

I shall not detail here the evidence for the anasthesia. I
must leave that to readers who are interested. I shall here
only call attention to its significance.

In the case of Miss Burton we found phenomena that the
conjurer and laymen generally described as fraud. All the
superficial evidence was in favor of this view, and I had to
meet this explanation of the case wherever I went. All who
had witnessed her phenomena, except the two physicians,
Drs. Hamilton and Smyth, came away convinced that it was
ordinary fraud. But the investigations of Drs. Hamilton
anid Smyth and myself showed that it was a case of hysteria
in which the action of the young lady was unconscious and
she could not be accused of fraud. The explanation of the
phenomena might be what you please, and in most of them
she was herself the agent, yet the accusation of fraud was
not legitimate. The problem was one for the psychologist,
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not the conjurer. This was the great lesson taught by that
case. Now this lesson is still more forcibly taught by the
present case. We may well acquit a subject, who is in a
trance, of fraud, when things are done that we should call
fraud if done normally. But here is the case of the young
boy who does the things in his normal state and yet is not
conscious of it! He too cannot be accused of fraud.

It is not exactly correct to say that he was in his normal
state. He was the subject of dissociation and therefore of
what we may call a partial trance. The trance extended
over the area of anzsthesia. He was normal only in that
part of the body not affected by anasthesia, and this was the
main part of the body and the sense of vision and hearing.
He was to all appearances normal, and in fact was normal
in vision and hearing. No one not familiar with abnormal
psychology would have suspected any anzsthesia. But the
tests showed that it was there. The phenomenon was some-
what analogous to the partial anasthesia of Miss Burton as
described in her case. Readers of that report will recall that
Miss Burton showed anasthesia all over the body except the
head above the larynx. Here is the same thing practically
tho not accompanied by any trance phenomena until a later
time. Miss Burton, however, was more affected by amnesia
than the boy. His consciousness was apparently not limited
by his anzsthesia. He simply had no knowledge of what
was done by his arms and feet. He was apparently normal
and yet did things which he did not know, just as Miss Bur-
ton moved her hand to her face and thought some one else
was touching her face. The boy was not conscious of what
he was doing and could have been made conscious only by
having the phenomena occur in the light and under his own
vision. Now we cannot impute fraud here. There was the
dissociation of function, and the anzsthesia hid what was
going on.

The importance of this is apparent to any one. We have
been explaining things by the “ naughty boy ” theory instead
of learning psychology. More than twenty-five years have
been spent in merely superficial investigation of such cases and
amateur psychic researchers or our academic men in medicine
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and psychology have been content to sneer about “ naughty
boys ” instead of keeping cool heads and assuming that there
is something to be learned in abnormal psychology. The
present case puts an end to that contented indolence and
indicates that it is time to take the whole subject of psychic
research out of the hands of the conjurer and of those lay-
men who defer entirely to that point of view. This position
must be abandoned and the whole problem and phenomena
approached from the position of abnormal psychology. The
conjurer and layman must be turned out of doors. They
may be called upon for special services, but they are not the
authorities in such cases. Their methods are sure to defeat
scientific investigation, even when they can explain the phe-
nomena in the usual way. The first thing is not the expla-
nation of the facts, but what the facts are, and conjurers
are the last people in the world to discover psychological
facts. Psychic research has been too long under their do-
minion. They have usurped authority in it and have culti-
vated public opinion in that direction until no one can ven-
ture to study a case without bringing down upon his head
their ridicule-for not deferring to their judgments. The fact
is that they are wholly unqualified for the study of the prob-
lem, and the Burton and the present case prove this beyond
question. The importance of the two cases consists in just
that fact. Psychic research is not going to make proper
headway until that class is disregarded and the subject put
into the hands of psychologists.

This view of the problem is directly in the face of general
opinion. But I am not in the habit of paying any deference
to that when I have the means of proving it wrong. I am
sure that time will prove me correct and I know that the
student of abnormal psychology recognizes the position and
will not gainsay it. Such cases as the present are crucial
ones and perhaps are very rare. They are much more strik-
ing than trance instances, because they represent the situa-
tion as so paradoxical that it calls attention to the facts in a
more striking manner. We may well understand that a man
can claim unconsciousness and exemption from fraud when
the subject is in a trance. But to exempt him when he is
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apparently normal, when the senses of sight and hearing are
intact, is to challenge opinion at a point that must abash it at
once. It throws the burden of proof upon the man who
does not know what psychopathology has proved and enables
the man who knows its methods to demand an entirely dif-
ferent method of investigation than that which usually pre-
vails. Much of the investigation has not been scientific at
all, but done in the most superficial way. Such cases as that
of Miss Burton and the present one indicate very clearly
what is necessary for such work, and laboratory methods are
absolutely necessary for it.

Another important lesson in the case is the attitude of
mind with which such phenomena need to be approached.
The usual method is to ridicule the phenomena and manifest
so much contempt for them that it is impossible even to find
out the existence of dissociation. This attitude of mind al-
ways assumes to dictate, prior to investigation, how the phe-
nomena should occur. It is not scientific but dogmatic.
It has none of the characteristic which Mr. Huxley said was
essential for the scientific man; namely, that he should ap-
proach a fact as a little child. It is not that he requires to
be credulous, but that he needs to be open minded and unin-
fluenced by intellectual snobbery. The superficial appear-
ance of the facts is not in their favor to minds that know all
about the universe a priori: but we have arrived at a point
where we may return the ridicule on that class and they
shall have it, thanks to the assured conclusion of such cases.
We are brought by them to see the need of patience and per-
severance where the conjurer and layman would pass by on
the other side. Such cases show beyond a doubt the place
of the subliminal in the development and manifestation of
psychic phenomena, and correct the illusions of the public
as much as they modify the expectations of even scientific
men. We have been taught by spiritualists and conjurers
alike to expect a certain type of phenomenon, only one be-
lieves in them and the other does not. It seems that both
types of mind are wrong. The supernatural agent may be
there but the evidence for it is not what the layman sup-
poses, if there be any evidence for it at all, and whether
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there be any evidence for the supernormal or not, the study
of the phenomena is more than worth while. The mysteries
of the subconscious require investigation as much as the more
obtrusive phenomena of normal consciousness. Indeed
pathology will prove to be the salvation of normal psy-
chology. If perchance we prove the supernormal as a by-
product and with it the existence of discarnate agents acting,
occasionally at least, on the living, the outcome will be more
than the regeneration of psychology. It will put a force into
philosophy which it has not had since Plato.

This case would be invaluable without the existence of
supernormal phenomena, but it becomes doubly so with
them. With or without them it suggests, as did the Burton
case, the existence of hysteria and dissociation in hundreds
of cases that have hitherto had to bear the stigma of fraud,
and it has been due to the stupidity or indifference of the
student of abnormal psychology that has allowed the ignor-
ant public to became saturated with as many illusions
against the subject as for it. They can be cleared away only
by having the scientific man treat it seriously instead of with
ridicule. He, of course, will not do so, owing to intellectual
snobbery, until the supernormal has been accepted. For-
tunately we are not without this accompaniment in the pres-
ent case. It is not plentiful, but it is present. Much more of
it has occurred since making these records and in the privacy
of the family circle. Unfortunately no written record of
them was made. But my own were made at the time. The
best incident is the cross reference connected with the “ pink
pajamas ” and the “ black necktie ”. These have been com-
mented on already in the Journal (Vol. VI, p. 321). There
was an additional incident of some value. In a trance, while
writing automatically, the boy wrote “Swift River ” and then,
after repeating it, drew a mountain. somewhat the shape of
the Matterhorn,—which Chocorua is,—and wrote the name
“ Chocorua ” on it. Now Swift River rises in Chocorua and
both were near the summer home of Professor James, the
home being at the foot of Mt. Chocorua. The boy seems to
have known nothing of the river at least, and its relation to
the mountain, and possibly knew nothing of Prof. James’
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summer home, tho it might have been mentioned casually in
his presence without his consciously remembering it. Be-
sides this I got a circle with a cross in it quite constantly in
connection with Professor James. I tried to get it completed,
supposing that it was an attempt at the Greek letter Omega,
but I never got any farther than the circle and the cross.
This, of course, was before I had made public the references
to the letter Omega through Mrs. Smead and Mrs. Cheno-
weth and before I had told a single person of the fact.*

There were occasional hints of further supernormal, but
not distinct enough to make a point of them. It was notice-
able that the subconscious of the boy was particularly acute
and alert, ready to pick up any hint you gave and to elaborate
it. The text is full of this and it was one circumstance that
evidently gave rise to the trifling often, where the boy was
subconsciously mixing fun with trifling and an effort to get

. October 8th, 1912,

* ] was told this evening by the father of the boy that, this summer,
the boy was writing automatically and in connection with the name of
Professor James the word Omega came. It struck the father as peculiar
and the boy had not seen anything that would give him previous know-
ledge of its connection with Professor James. The father did not know
it, and when I told him the facts he was quite surprised. I had been ex-
ceedingly careful all last winter, when the circle and cross were being
drawn by the boy, not to indicate what I wanted in addition. The father
told me to-night that he thought I wanted some additinnal characteristics
in the cross. I wished to preserve the knowledge of the sign from all
members of the family. The Proceedings went to the office of the father,
but not to the home. The father had glanced at them, but had not seen
the mention of the Omega in them. It is,therefore, more than probable
that the boy had not seen the facts, tho we may suppose that, either in a
waking trance or a normal state out of curiosity, he might have examined
the Proceedings and happened upon the sign there, or he might have seen
allusion to it in the summary of the Report in the papers, the New York
Times being one that goes to the house. The possibility deprives the in-
cident of the evidential value which is desirable, but it is not probable
that he saw allusion to it.

The boy also got in his writing allusion to a letter written by Pro-
fessor James, put in a safe, taken out and then returned to the safe again.
Readers of the Proceedings will note that Professor James made similar
allusions through Mrs. Chenoweth, but he had no safe and there is no
evidence that he wrote such a letter and he certainly could not have put
it in any safe of his own as he had none. Whether the incident repre-
sents prior knowledge casually obtained by the boy cannot be asserted,
tho it is possible that it crept out in my own conversations with the fam-
ily. The subconscious very clearly contributes to the boy’s work and
sometimes unexpected allusions may emerge in this way. But we have
no assurance and no evidence that this incident either had or had not such
an origin.
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something supernormal. It was evident that rapport was
very imperfect, while some of the boy’s old dislike for the
subject still influenced the subconscious. But that is neither
here nor there in this question. The main point is that,
despite the existence of apparently deliberate trifling, there
were some supernormal phenomena which simply showed
that, whatever fraud you might insist upon, you had to admit
that some of the facts could not be so explained. The con-
jurer and layman who knows nothing about hysteria and
dissociation will ‘resist the conception of anything but
trickery when the facts externally show the same physical
characteristics as fraud. He cannot, however, persist in this
when the information cannot so be explained, and hence the
supernormal assigns limits to the suspicion of dishonest deal-
ing. The case thus imposes a heavy obligation on the man
who knows nothing about abnormal psychology and makes
imperative that charity which all dissociation teaches for the
whole field of psychic research. In the future no case will
be adequately investigated which does not take account of
the possibilities of dissociation and hysteria. The hasty
judgment of fraud will not be allowed, any more than that of
spirits, and indeed, as remarked in a reply to a letter of Mr.
Carrington (Journal Vol. V, p. 489), where hysteria and dis-
sociation are concerned, it is as hard to prove the existence
of fraud as it is to prove that of discarnate spirits, because in
both you are proving the existence of a certain state of mind
apart from its usual physical accompaniments. Fraud has
no meaning except as a state of mind, the intent to deceive,
and in hysteria as in dreams you cannot use the act as an
assured proof of the intent. The subject is too likely to be
deceived himself as to the situation.

I shall not discuss here what takes place in such cases.
It will require much more investigation to assign a probable
cause in instances that do not afford any direct evidence of
foreign invasion. But when we find this foreign invasion in
the evidential incidents we are justified in suspecting that
it may often be connected with the non-evidential. Assum-
ing this, we should have an explanation of the case as a
whole, tho making large allowances for the intrusion of the
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subconscious into the result. Indeed, we should treat the
subconscious as the vehicle for the expression of this foreign
agency or the territory which it invades, the subconscious
unavoidably coloring the influence. We cannot draw the
line assuredly where that begins and ends except for the su-
pernormal phenomena, but we may try, as in the De Camp
case (Journal Vol. VI, pp. 181-265), to test the probabilities
of phenomena which superficially appear to be subliminal,
by experimenting with psychics and by finding whether the
non-evidential phenomena are there accepted as having an-
other than a subjective source. We found in the case of
Miss De Camp that Frank R. Stockton, deceased, who pur-
ported to be writing stories through her, accepted their
authenticity and thus what had to be treated as subliminal
production obtained recognition for other possibilities.

This experiment I also performed with the boy. But,
before doing so, I received through Mrs. Chenoweth direct
reference to my experiments with him without hinting to her
either in her normal state or in her trance what I was doing.
I got good evidence of cross reference of a certain kind in
this way. The control described the character of the phe-
nomena going on with the boy. I then arranged to have the
boy take some sittings with Mrs. Chenoweth, preserving his
incognito and my own silence as to the case, and again dis-
tinctly supernormal information was conveyed regarding his
phenomena and other events that had happened in the life of
the family. What had to be treated as subconscious on its
own recognizance was acknowledged as being influence from
the transcendental side, so that the case becomes as interest-
ing as that of Miss De Camp in that respect. The record
of what occurred in those sittings will be published at some
later time. It suffices here merely to remark the nature of
the experiment and the result.

But the important lesson is for the study of such phenom-
ena by the student of psychology and not by the conjurer,
who has sedulously saturated the public mind with illusions
as to the real nature of the phenomena in such cases. In the
case of professional frauds his service and knowledge have
been inestimable, but he too readily fell into the habit of
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studying cases superficially and from the mere occurrence
of the physical side of the phenomena, and neglecting the
mental. What we contend for here is that all ordinary cases
are not completely understood until the mental side has been
investigated and the nature of the state of mind determined
in them. The possibility of dissociation opens the way to
some different correlation between the mental and physical
than that which characterizes normal life, and it will be im-
perative in the future to take account of the fact. The pres-
ent case, as well as that of Miss Burton, prepares the way to
a different classification of phenomena and a different method
of determining that classification from the methods em-
ployed by the conjurer. If it accomplishes nothing more it
will have done excellent service in psychic research.

I publish the detailed record here with all its tedious and
non-evidential material because that is the only scientific
way to deal with such phenomena, especially when we are
investigating incipient mediumship. It is, in fact, both the
most interesting and the most important feature of this case
that the phenomena were of rapid development and went
through the stages of subliminal intrusion, that make it of
transcendent importance that we should study that aspect
of such cases as carefully as we would supernormal incidents.
It is not scientific just to pick out evidence of the supernormal
in such phenomena and neglect the borderland phenomena
which manifest both the limitations of the supernormal and
the obstacles to its occurrence. The physical phenomena
did not even superficially indicate the presence of subcon-
scious action. The automatic writing did manifest indica-
tions of this, perhaps from the start. But its peculiarly
chaotic and mosaic character became more manifest as the
development of the supernormal went on. This we could
not prove without the detailed record, and at present there
is nothing more mandatory on the psychic researcher than
the investigation of the conditions affecting the origin and
evolution of mediumistic capacities. There will be no ap-
preciation whatever of the scientific aspects of the problem
until that is done. There is no excuse, therefore, for the
omission of data that do not perplex the believer in natural
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phenomena. The subconscious is both the vehicle and the
obstacle to the transmission of supernormal knowledge and
we shall not understand the fact until we record its phe-
nomena as faithfully as we do miracles. The man who will
not study this aspect of the phenomena is not entitled to
serious consideration in the problem. It is the habit of many
psychic researchers to regard subliminal intrusion as unim-
portant and to be neglected as a well understood fact. Noth-
ing is farther from the truth. So far from being understood,
it is a mundum ignorantiae and the supernormal will never be
understood until it is seen in the light of the subconscious
medium which distorts or prevents its passage. For that
reason the record of the boy’s development is more important
than its supernormal incidents. Rarely have we been able
to catch this growth at the start. Indeed we have not as
perfect a record of the case in this respect as is desirable.
On the one hand the earliest data were not recorded, and
much in my own experiments came so rapidly that it was im-
possible to note all the facts. But what I obtained represents
the whole very fairly and includes much twaddle and
rambling dreamerie which will be a future help in studying
the educational processes in the development of mediums.
The facts which I wish most to emphasize, however, are
those in which the boy gave evidence of an abnormal condi-
tion where, superficially, he seemed to be perfectly normal.
He took part in the experiments along with the rest of us and
was really or apparently as much interested as an observer
as we were. Readers must remember that only the auto-
matic writing took place in the light. The physical phe-
nomena required darkness. This naturally aroused sus-
picion, or would arouse it with ordinary observers acquainted
with the history of these phenomena. Under these condi-
tions the boy was the same kind of a spectator as the rest of
us. He seemed to be perfectly normal and only our know-
ledge of his relation to the table tipping and the automatic
writing gave us any clue to his being any more connected
with the incidents than ourselves. He was even the center
of the “ tricks ” played when he was himself injured or struck
by objects. He showed an apparently normal interest in
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them. In the light he was apparently quite as normal as
any of the others present, so that any suspicion of his part in
them, without assuming him to be abnormal, meant that he
was simply Mr. Podmore’s ‘“naughty boy”. No other
supposition but the genuineness of the phenomena could be
made from the standpoint of the layman, and only the pos-
sibility of hysteria could offer an escape from either of these
views. In other words, the boy presented all the appear-
ances of a normal person and yet the phenomena were such
as to prove that he was in some way connected with them
while apparently innocent of trickery. It was the proof of
anaesthesia that altered the whole case. This opened up the
way to explain both the apparent normality of the boy and
the physical part which he took in the phenomena without
knowing it. In this respect he was exactly like the Burton
case (Proceedings Vol. V). She exhibited zonal anzsthesias,
and, as we showed, was sometimes anzsthesic all over the
body except above the larynx, this condition enabling her to
be a normal observer and to have normal sensory action
on the face. Apparently this was the case with this boy.
I did not test him for the line which defined the limits of this
anasthesia as I was not interested in determining that ac-
curately. It was enough to find its invasion of the hands
and legs and its absence from vision to explain the situation.
But with his eyes normal and with perfect control of the
motor system he was able to appear perfectly normal and
wherever his vision was concerned his memory was normal.
It was only in the anasthesic area that his memory was
absent. Vision kept him adjusted to normal physical con-
ditions and we discovered the abnormal only within the area
of motor actions connected with his anasthesia. When he
went into the trance the anaesthesic area became universal
and all the phenomena were expressions of mal-adjustment.
But the most striking phenomena in this connection were
those in which the boy actually prepared beforehand for the
“ tricks ” which were afterward performed without his nor-
mally knowing it. Take the incidents of the matches put
above the door, and the rhinoceros tooth. There was in-
direct evidence in other instances that this preparation was
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made. But the rhinoceros tooth was the best incident. The
family had expressed the desire to have some object brought
into the house from the outside as a more conclusive proof
of apports. No hint was given of what the object should
be. Hence the appearance in the house of the rhinoceros
tooth, when the father had it in his office some blocks away
and had left the office locked up at ten minutes after two that
day, was at least superficially very striking. The boy’s
spontaneous statement that he had been at the place during
the day to deliver a letter but without memory of having
gone into his father’s office showed that he had probably
gone into a waking trance and taken the tooth with him and
put it on the library shelf without knowing it. This sort of
waking trance I have seen in numerous instances and alienists
are well acquainted with it. Here the boy in an apparently
perfectly normal condition makes preparations for what is
subsequently either to be done in a similar trance or con-
fessed in the automatic writing, as was done in this instance.
He has been known when I was present to get up from the
table before the rest of us and evidently prepare for the per-
formance and know nothing of it, to reveal the facts either in
a totally unconscious trance or by the automatic writing.

The importance of all this is that even psychic research-
ers have not always equipped themselves for the complica-
tions of their problem. They have rushed into the issue with
the conjurer’s standards of judgment and cried fraud where
it has evidently not existed at all, but where we have all sorts
of dissociation and complications. If instead of talking so
glibly about fraud and considering that reference to the sub-
conscious and secondary personality terminated all reason
for investigation, they had recognized that it simply began
here, they might have found what very little experience with
mediums shows: namely, that there are no fixed conditions
for the invasion of foreign influences and that the psycho-
logical approach to the problem through abnormal phe-
nomena was the first condition of any intelligent view of it.
When psychic phenomena are concerned we cannot assume
that the criteria of ordinary life apply and the case of the boy
in hand is definite proof of this and does more than even the
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Burton case to throw the conjurer, his standards, and his
methods out of court. There is no progress in this subject
short of his banishment. No superficial investigation of such
cases will suffice.

DETAILED RECORD.
November 20th, 1911.

I called at the home of Rev. Dr. X. this afternoon, in
response to an invitation by himself to talk over some mat-
ters. In the course of accounts about recent happenings in
his own family he resolved to try an experiment in auto-
matic writing by his young son who has recently developed
it, in spite of sceptical distrust of all such things at first.
There were the usual questions and answers which I could
not record, as I usually do, for lack of the means to do so.
But at one stage of it William James purported to be present
and referred to “ those letters ” saying that they were locked
up, when I encouraged the giving of something special that
I wanted. But I did not get any hint of what I desired.

A little later G. P. was referred to, the reference being
made in response to a query what “ Bellyache ", the control,
was doing when Professor James was trying to communicate.
He said he had gone to get G. P. Dr. X. asked him to come,
and the control who had returned after James left said that
G. P. refused to come. I saw at a glance that there was rea-
son for it and so said, and the matter was not pushed.

At the end the hand wrote directing us to look behind
the door of the back stairway. We went and did so and
found there three razor blades from the Gillette razor. Dr.
X. at once went to the box in which he kept them, and it was
empty. He stated that he had shaved in the morning and
had examined and found that there were only three in it.
Here it was empty. I was holding the blades, so that they
could not have been taken out then, I having taken them
from the boy when he picked them up. I had followed the
boy out and saw that he did not get the blades from the box
at that time. There was nothing to hinder his having done
so during the day and then writing as he did. So the case is
by no means conclusive for a supernormal phenomenon.
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There were present Mrs. X. and another clergyman, rela-
tive of the gentleman who invited me, and the young daugh-
ter. There was no work of an accomplice at the time. The
only supposition that will apply is that the razor blades had
been placed there before by some one prepared for the ex-
periment which might take place, tho this was not prear-
ranged with me before my arrival. I believe Mrs. X. was out
of the room awhile, but returned and was present at the end.
No one would suspect her capable of consciously playing
tricks.

November 21st, 1911.

I was invited yesterday afternoon to take dinner with
Dr. X. and family and after it to witness some physical phe-
nomena which had recently been occurring in the family, in
connection also with the automatic writing of the young son,
some of the latter of which I have described in the brief ac-
count of what I witnessed yesterday afternoon.

The first thing after dinner we went into the library, closed
the door and turned out the lights, to try table tipping and
levitation. Dr. X. had provided a small bamboo table in the
afternoon for the purpose. It was to take the place of two
other more or less similar tables which had been smashed to
pieces in their own experiments. I examined the table and
found it reasonably strong, but of course breakable under
violent experiments. There were in the room Dr. and Mrs.
X., Rev. S. and the three children of Dr. X., the boy being
about fourteen years and the other two younger. We all sat
down about the table and held our fingers lightly on the top
of it—or all I can personally vouch for is that my own fingers
were so held, and the statements of the others were to the
same effect. Soon the table tipped and did so in response to
questions, a rapid fire of which was made by Dr. X. to have
the table lifted off the floor, and expressing a desire that it
should not be so violent as to hurt any one or break the table.
It was impossible to take notes of the questions, even if I had
not been a sharer in holding hands on the table. After it
tipped a number of times it began to attack the boy at my
right rather violently, and his mother beside him. We had



Poltergeist Phenomena and Dissociation. 17

to seize it and prevent it from doing so. This was done a
second time and I was the victim of the attack as well as the
boy, and we again prevented violence.

We then stood up and holding our hands, or rather, fin-
gers lightly on the table, asked it to levitate. Soon it did so,
jumping up and falling down abruptly on the floor. On re-
quest this was repeated several times and two or three times
it must have risen two feet from the floor, going down with a
bang. Twice its foot fell on the feet of those at my right,
Mrs. X. being the victim once, and I think the boy once. Of
this latter I am not certain now, it may have been Mrs. X.
The table rose straight in the air in a manner that was im-
possible on the supposition that a foot had been placed under
one of its feet, unless we suppose it was simultaneously held
with a hand. Besides no one could have done it with a foot
when it rose two feet without betraying the act. It is, of
course, not necessary to suppose it done with a foot. Hand
action would be simpler and undetectable in comparison.
On that point I could secure no evidence.

There was some light in the room from a slumbering fire-
place fire, and from the street through the window curtains.
But it was not sufficient for me to see the hands on the table.
Once the table signified by tipping out the letters “ Li” its
desire to have more light shut out and the dark curtain in the
window next to us had to be pulled down. I was told that
always as soon as the intended word is guessed the table will
not tip out the rest of it. I let the table slip under my finger
several times to prove that there was no unconscious muscu-
lar action on my own part. The most striking incident was
the levitation of the table about two feet from the floor. That
was certainly not done with the feet and the whole question
of its relation to the hands of any of us depends entirely upon
the honesty of the parties present and their freedom from
hysterical phenomena, meaning by this unconscious muscular
action. There were no trances connected with the phenom-
ena and all the evidence was for normal conditions of con-
sciousness, but there might have been zonal anasthesias, as
in the Burton case, and under the circumstances this could
not be detected. Its existence would enable hand action to
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take place without detection on the part of the subject and
without any right to impeach him or her for dishonesty.

The automatic writing before these experiments had told
us that the table tipping and levitation would not be done for
more than five minutes and at the end of that period we in
vain sought to continue it. From the later statements
through the automatic writing (when I insisted that enough
had been done and that the energy must be exhausted), that
they had just begun, it is possible to conceive that the table
action would have become very violent if we had continued
it, and this without regard to any question of explanation.
My own observations have uniformly been, in both mental
and physical phenomena that, at least up to a certain point,
the manifestations increase in power from the beginning and
we may suppose on any theory here that the table tipping
was stopped to prevent a climax of this kind.

We then ceased table tipping and tried for the translation
of objects; that is, for the movement of them without con-
tact, leaving this matter wholly to the spontaneous choice of
the agents. The same parties were in the room. The doors
were closed, there being but one set of doors into the room.
A light was in.the hall outside and I sat where I could see the
light shining under it and lighting the carpet some six or
eight inches. I kept close watch on this light all evening to
see that it was there. The door could not have been opened
without admitting a bright light into the room and it was
never opened, except for some one to go out a few times for
making certain observations and fixing some things with the
hope that we should get test results. We locked a number of
things in a bureau drawer in another room and some in a
drawer in the table in the library, I holding the key of the
latter all evening.

Some one stood near the button of the electric light, this
not being always the same person, to turn on the light when
we heard anything fall. Sometimes it was the boy, some-
times Mrs. X. and sometimes Mr. S,, but always the light was
turned out when we wanted anything done, as it is claimed
that nothing can be done in the light. This may be true
enough on any theory.
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While we sat in the darkness for a few moments, perhaps
a minute, we heard something fall and when the light was
turned on we found, about six feet from myself and the same
distance from the door, the thick glass cover of a picture and
near it the picture and its brass holder. Dr. X. said it was a
picture from his own room across the hall. The door had not
been opened. A heavy paper weight was the second, from
upstairs. It was brass and weighed perhaps a pound.

The doctor, Mr. S. and myself went out to see that some
things were locked in a bureau drawer. When we were
nearly ready to return we were called to see what had hap-
pened: a small dish had fallen off the edge of the mantel-
piece, the dish being from a room upstairs and not belonging
to this room at all. It was broken into fragments.

Doors were closed again and the lights turned out. Ina
few moments something fell, sounding like two objects. Up
went the lights and within a few feet of each other were two
pairs of scissors which belonged in another room. The next
were a nail cleaner and the boy’s knife, both from rooms up-
stairs. Then a drinking-cup struck the boy on the head and
seemed to have hurt him. Next a skate key from upstairs.
Then a dozen marbles from rooms two flights up. A pipe-
stem was thrown across the room from a table in the corner.
Then a fountain pen from the library table where we were.
A piece of cocoa cake was found under the chair on which I
sat and came from the box on the library table on which I
rested my paper in making my notes of the occurrences.
Two more skate keys came following each other in separate
experiments. Then came a paper cutter which could not be
found in the afternoon and which Dr. X. had wished to re-
move fearing that it might be used to the injury of some one.
It fell some ten or twelve feet from the table and near the
boy.

In the next experiment the boy was at the light and sud-
denly exclaimed that he was cut. The light was turned up
and his right thumb was bleeding at the root of the nail and
the chair on which he was sitting was found to have a neat
slit in the leather covering. I had myself noticed earlier in
the evening that this covering was perfectly intact. The au-
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tomatic writing said the cuts were made with “an invisible
arrow”. We could find nothing in the room. The cut in
the leather was a very smooth one and about two inches long.
The under covering was wholly unharmed and no search re-
vealed a cause for it or the object with which it was done.

We went out of the room for some purpose and Dr. X.
saw that his razor box was in its place in the toilet room. We
returned and in a few minutes something fell on the floor.
Turning up the lights we found this box with ten blades in it
wrapped in paper, as they came from the store. The lid had
not been removed from the box. Only about three minutes
before he had seen this box and saw that it was safe in the
toilet-room across the hall and off his own bedroom.

The next was throwing Flournoy’s recent book from the
library table against the boy’s head and tearing the picture
out of it. Then the large library scissors or shears were
thrown against and lodged on the corner of a book shelf.
These shears were the pair we tried to find earlier in the
evening. The automatic writing had been asked to tell where
they were and replied that they were “in his power ”, and
then in a moment said he was fooling and that he did not
know. After the act the same writing said that the paper
cutter and shears had been concealed in the register. We
had no evidence of this. '

Then a large brass paper blotter was thrown from the
library table and lodged on the edge of the table in the other
corner of the room. The next was a crash of some glass and
we found the heavy glass bulb of the electric light and the
Edison incandescent light broken all to pieces and a stone like
some Indian knife on the floor. One of the children recog-
nized it as a stone the youngest child used as a plaything and
the automatic writing said it was from some distant time and
‘place but found by the child in the park. At any rate it was
this stone that evidently broke the glass.

Then while the boy was standing by the table drawer he
exclaimed that it was coming out toward him and he sprang
back some three feet from it and it went back to its place. I
got up to see it. The boy was between me and the windows
through which light enough came for me to see him standing
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fully three feet from the drawer, but I could not see the
drawer move. I nevertheless heard it move.

Next a key from a dish on the table was thrown and then
the hair of the boy pulled. Then we tried raps and many of
them occurred. Some were simultaneous with noises that
could be produced by rubbing the fingers on the leather cov-
ering of the chair on which the boy sat. There were some
raps that appeared to be further off. But I went around to
the boy to listen and for a time held both his hands. The
noises on the chair continued, but might have been explained
by movements of his legs. I had him stand and the noises
did not occur. I had him sit again and the noises were re-
peated. He held his hands high in the air and the noises
continued. Then as he held his hands in the air—I could
see them all the while—the chair under him began to move
and I asked him to throw his legs on the arms which he did,
I holding my hands on the back of the chair. The chair
moved slightly under these conditions and I suddenly called
for the light. They were a little too slow in turning it up,
and when turned up it revealed the boy’s legs on the arms of
the chair. There was time enough to have put them up after
I called for the light. But I had not discovered any signs of
muscular movement of his body. This, however, I was not
well situated to discover if it occurred. But it was unfortu-
nate that the llght was not promptly turned up to protect the
boy against suspicion.

We then tried table tipping again, but it would not move
and we went to the automatic writing to see why. The writ-
ing gave no explanation, but stated that if we turned out the
lights it would give us a theatre party. We did so and soon
a piece of candy fell in the lap and chair of Dr. X. It was a
piece of candy that belonged upstairs in the room of one of
the children. The candy which was locked in the table
drawer in the library was not touched. Then the stone was
thrown again from the library table across the room, and
then a pen. We then stopped that sort of thing and tried the
experiment of raising the library table by holding our hands
on it lightly. It weighed, according to Dr. X., as much as
four hundred pounds. It only trembled after a long trial. I
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found the first indications of trembling apparent to me were
due to my pulse beat, but it became distinct enough. When
we found that it was apparently to be a failure I suggested
that the energy was exhausted, having given the same reason
for the other phenomena dwindling, and automatic writing
was resorted to and the control said that the power was not
exhausted and that he had only begun. When interrogated
why the table would not move he wrote it was due to the
presence of a stranger, evidently indicating me, as I had ear-
lier expressed this idea as a possible hindrance to the occur-
rence of anything. I then left the room at the request of the
control, through writing, and waited for the movement of the
table. Report made it that the table had trembled and moved
and I came in and it was continued. Finally, I being some
six or eight feet distant, the table audibly trembled and then
rose possibly some inches and fell on the floor. The experi-
ments then ceased.

I venture on no assured explanation of the facts. They
are, of course, inadequate proof of telekinesis or apports
through solid matter. The first difficulty is in the fact of
darkness and the inability to see any object start, or to be
absolutely and sensibly assured that no hand raised the table.
No one would question the normal honesty of the mature per-
sons present. Rev. S. was wholly a disbeliever until he wit-
nessed the phenomena a day or two before. The two younger
girls and the mother were out of the room when a few of the
apports came, so they are not to be suspected or accused.
The father, the boy, Mr. S. and I are the parties to be inves-
tigated. Now the following are facts to be considered in es-
timating the scientific value of the phenomena.

1. There was no object brought into that room which
might not have been previously concealed in the pockets of
one or more of the persons present.

2. 'This would not naturally be suspected of either of the
men or Mrs. X. present, whatever we might suspect of the
children.

3. My denial of having gotten objects which did not be-
long to me and did belong to the inmates of the house will be
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worth just as much as my word and that may be small or
great, as people wish to believe.

4. The absence of the mother and the girls in connection
with some of the phenomena relieves them of responsibility
and the boy remains as the person to suspect, and the father
vouches for his entire integrity. He was at least apparently
an entire sceptic of such things when they occurred, until au-
tomatic writing convinced him that he had to yield, unless
we assume that this was a part of a trick.

5. A large number of the apports were closely connected
with the boy, a number of them striking him, and we should
have to assume that he took this means of concealing his own
part in the result. ,

The objections to suspecting or accusing the boy are his
perfectly apparent honesty and actions when he was struck,
tho we cannot say that they were not or could not be simu-
lated. But he would have to be exceptionally shrewd and
foresighted to break articles and to cut himself, as these were
done, just to throw suspicion off himself. His whole conduct
seemed natural and unassuming. If fraud be charged against
him, it was very clever.

But let us assume that he was perfectly honest and ex-
empt, there are possibilities in the case that we must reckon
with. The boy is mediumistic as the automatic writing
shows and it shows it in ways that an observer would easily
see, tho having to meet the objection that he was simulating.
Both contents and form make this at least apparent. Grant,
then, his honesty and exemption from suspicion. Being me-
diumistic he may have moments when he is partially anaes-
thesic and in a waking trance, taking and concealing articles
about himself and the room and throwing them at the proper
times and places, going into these conditions and not being
aware of what he is doing, being apparently perfectly normal.
There was no opportunity for investigating this hypothesis
and it would not be an easy thing to do so. But it is the al-
ternative to the hypothesis of conscious fraud and it suggests
possible resemblances to the Burton case.
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November 29th, 1911.

I was present last night again with Dr. X.’s family, Mr. S.
not being present, and some of the experiments were re-
peated. There were present Dr. X., Mrs. X,, the son, and
two daughters. The first experiment was at table tipping
and levitation. It occasionally tipped answers to questions
indicating whether we should do certain things or not. The
primary object was to get levitation and, if possible, levitation
without contact. There was sufficient light in the room for
me to see the top of the table, but as the top itself was light
in color I could not see the hands placed on it. I seldom
held my hand on it, as apparently I was a deterrent, no mat-
ter what explanation be adopted. The table was lifted sev-
eral times and even to a height of three feet. The claim was
that the hands of the persons present were held lightly on
the top of the table. There could be no assurance that the
hands of one or more of them may not unconsciously have
assumed a position necessary to do the act. But some phe-
nomena occurred that were inconsistent with any such ac-
tion, apparently. The table at times acted so violently and
with so much power that none of the children could have
normally controlled its movements. It was the same light
table we had used on the former occasion. It once struck
Dr. X. on the shin and almost disabled him. Several times
it made a dash or thrust at the boy and was prevented with
difficulty. On one of these occasions I had hold of the table
and could measure its power. It required much of my power
to prevent it from striking me once, which it tried to do.

We tried for the same phenomena in the light, a not very
bright light, but sufficient to see hands and feet, but nothing
occurred. We tried when all stood some distance from the
table, and nothing occurred. No evidence one way or the
other was found and the explanation of what occurred will
have to be conjectured from the nature of later incidents.

Before dinner I was told that the control of the boy in
automatic writing had told them that he would not do any-
thing if I were present, as I was a man who would give pub-
licity to the facts and that, if I succeeded in proving to people
that spirits could do all this, the power and control over spir-
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its would come into the hands of the living. In other words,
that the spirits would lose their power. This had been writ-
ten in the afternoon. It was tried again in my presence and
the same idea was repeated. I endeavored to correct this
impression and encouraged the control to do things for us
as before. But he insisted that I should not be in the room.
However, when we came to work his demands were not in-
sisted on and he voluntarily offered to do various things.
This began with the table phenomena which I have described.

We then tried for apports. The boy’s pockets were emp-
tied of all their contents except some peanuts, and there were
no such articles in them as were thrown about the room on
the previous occasion. We sat some time, and the control
was asked to bring certain articles from the house of a friend
and also from the church. The only thing that occurred at
the time was the falling to the floor of the pencil which the
boy had used in the automatic writing. The boy himself
thought it had rolled off the table. This is possible, tho the
boy sat near enough to reach it, but as he sat between me and
the window so that I could see him and was watching him all
the time, I am inclined to think that his theory of it is cor-
rect.

We then sat again, the lights out as before, to get apports.
We sat a long time and nothing occurred. We resorted to
automatic writing and this first told us that something had
been done. We had heard nothing and asked what it was.
The writing said that a rhinoceros tooth had been brought
from the church. This at once aroused the interest of Dr. X.
so that I at once saw the possibilities, and the control was
asked to tell where it was. He wrote that it was behind the
bookshelf where the boy had been, referring to the place he
had been when we tried table levitation and some other phe-
nomena. We turned up the lights and in a moment saw the
rhinoceros tooth in an open space between two books. Dr.
X. said that he had left this on his table locked in his room
at the church when he left it at ten minutes after two. But
the boy spoke up spontaneously to say that he had been at
the church in the afternoon and spontaneously remarked that
he could not recall whether he had been in his father’s room
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or not.” He told the story of his going there. His mother
had given him a letter to take to Mrs. C. addressed to the
house of the C.’s, and the boy knowing that Mr. C. would be
at the church went there, thinking until he got there that the
letter was for him. While he could remember all this and
where he gave the letter to Mr. C. he could not recollect go-
ing into his father’s room there. Subsequent events show
how he might have done this without knowing the fact.

I had suspected last week that I would find anasthesia in
the boy connected with his own participation in the phe-
nomena, and I wanted to test it on this occasion. I told no
one of my desire, but immediately after this incident just de-
scribed we resorted to automatic writing and I went around
to the boy and before the writing began I asked him to close
his eyes. He did so and spontaneously turned his head to
one side, so that he could not have seen me do what I did if
his eyes had been open. I placed my fingers on his hand as
it began to move and it would only scrawl, which it did for
some time. I pressed it heavily and then pushed my finger
nails hard into the flesh. No writing of an intelligible sort
occurred, but scrawls did occur. I removed my hand and
then questioned the boy (who was surprised to find no writ-
ing when he looked at the paper), dexterously putting my
question to avoid suggestion of what I had done. He had
felt nothing. I then repeated the experiment and while his
eyes were closed and head turned away as before I put my
fingers again on his hand and asked him if he felt anything
and he said he did not. I then removed my fingers and
asked: “Now do you feel anything ”, and he said that he
did not. I repeated the question with still more emphasis on
the “ Now ” to imply that I was touching him and he felt
nothing. I then pressed the hand hard and he felt nothing.
I repeated the same process of removing and putting my
fingers on the hand and found that he had no sensation in any
case. I then pinched his hand hard about two inches from
the knuckle of the first finger and near the root of the thumb.
He remarked that he felt a very slight sensation and located
it at the root of the knuckle of the third finger, two and a
half inches from where I was actually pinching it.
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I was then directed to leave the room. I did so. While
absent the telephone receiver was removed and struck the
boy’s head and pulled the stand to the floor. The boy sat in
a chair about three feet from it. Whether he got up in the
dark and did it, is not determinable, but he might have done
so and not known it himself, judging from these sudden in-
vasions of anasthesia.

In his automatic writing I noticed that he could never
begin it at once on putting the pencil to the paper, unless
some little expectation of doing it had previously occurred to
him. Usually there was a little pause before the pencil be-
gan to move. The fact coincided with the pause and prepa-
ration which was associated with the automatic writing of
Dan in the case of Miss Burton, if he were suddenly asked to
do it. -

We then tried raps on the chair on which the boy sat.
There occurred rather loud ones and at times two different
types of them, as if conversation had been carried on between
the raps. Finally the name James was spelled out in raps,
the boy rapping until he came to the letters of the name.
Dr. X. asked Prof. James to spell out the name of the man
who had influenced both of them, and first Balzac was spelled
out, and then Goethe, both wrong, and then Fechner which was
correct. But prior to this a remark had been made that the
man was a teacher, and on the previous evening in the boy’s
presence Fechner had been mentioned as a man in whom the
father had been interested, who had been his teacher. But
the boy, who did not know the Christian names of Fechner,
could not give them. Then I questioned the communicator,
asking first if he had ever communicated with me. Answer
affirmative. In Boston? Affirmative. Elsewhere? Af-
firmative. Near ———? Negative. North? Negative.
West? Negative. South? Affirmative. All these replies
were correct. I tried for the sign between us but the signifi-
cant answers were wrong.

Soon afterward the boy remarked that the chair on which
he sat was lifted from the floor and we heard it fall to the
floor again. Soon, however, the boy discovered that it was
tipped and this was probably what had occurred when he



28 Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

thought it lifted. Finally raps with the feet of the chair oc-
curred and then it was again apparently lifted as before. The
boy then put his feet up on the arms and the chair trembled
but could not lift. I could see both feet in the air, as suf-
ficient light came from under the door beyond him, he being
between the door and me, to enable me to see his feet in the
air. Presently I saw one of the feet on the floor, and the
chair began to lift. In the dark I stealthily crept over the
soft carpet and touched the boy’s foot. He exclaimed that
something had touched his foot. Nothing was occurring at
the time. In a moment he himself observed that he could
not move his foot and that it was impossible to raise it for
some seconds. It seemed to be pressing down heavily on the
floor. Then the chair began to tip again. I again got my
hand on his ankle and pinched hard. He knew nothing about
it. ‘The chair was tipping as I did it. I thus again had my
conjecture confirmed that rapid changes of asthesia and
anasthesia take place and that the boy is anasthesic when
phenomena occur. It is probable that all sorts of local an-
asthesias occur, and assuming this we have an extraordina-
rily interesting case of an apparently normally conscious sub-
ject, introspectively conscious to some extent, doing things
automatically and knowing nothing about it. The anaesthe-
sia invades him at suitable times and places to prepare for
events and to carry them out without his knowing either
preparation or result.

After the children, the boy included, were sent to bed,
Dr. X., Mrs. X. and I sat in the darkened room to get phe-
nomena. I did not expect anything whatever to occur. Af-
ter some time we heard some raps, single ones but repeated
some four times. We tried to have them repeated, but they
seemed not to occur. Just as we had ceased our interest and
began conversation a loud bang, apparently on the window
pane, occurred, almost enough to break it. It was so loud as
almost to frighten us. The others were such that we had to
suppose that some casual snap of the wood might explain
them, tho there is no reason in the habits of the house for
such a thing to occur. When nothing more occurred I asked
Dr. X. to see if anything had happened with the boy who
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was getting ready for bed. Dr. X. went upstairs, and had
hardly opened the door before the boy called out that some-
thing had occurred to him. Asked when, he said about a
minute before. This would coincide quite closely with the
bang on the window. Dr. X., when upstairs, had found that
the boy was just ready to get into bed when his electric light
had gone out, apparently spontaneously. The boy was as
much surprised at it as any one could be. The only interest
in this is that it was not usual and that it coincided with ex-
periments down-stairs of which he knew nothing and with
raps and an apparent bang on the window which he could not
normally make. There was no wind blowing and the street
was very quiet. It was one of the quietest residence streets
in a large city and late at night, boys not frequenting that
part of the city at any time for mischief.

One thing I neglected to mention in connection with the
automatic writing when I was testing the boy for anasthesia:
the automatic writing told what I had done to the boy, say-
ing I had placed my hand on his. Then as if suggesting an
experiment the control asked me to place my hand on his
head. I asked if this was what he meant and the reply in
writing was “ No”. Ina moment he repeated the request to
put my hand on his head, and I was again puzzled and so was
the boy. The hand then wrote: “ My head is his hand.” I
then placed my hand on the boy’s hand and he closing his
eyes turned his head away while he tried to write. I do not
recall whether there was writing or not, but there was an-
aesthesia, as I tested this carefully enough to determine the
fact. '

The interest in the confusion of the head and hand re-
sembles a phenomenon in the experiments of Prof. Newbold
and Dr. Hodgson with Mrs. Piper. G. P. considered that his
head was in the hand of Mrs. Piper.

December 12th, 1911.

I again saw the boy of Dr. X. last night and had some
further opportunities to observe the case. Persons present
were Dr. and Mrs. X., the boy and one daughter. After din-
ner we went to the library and before sitting for experiment
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the boy suddenly called attention to an ink bottle resting on
top of the door by which we enter the library. It was far
above his reach and he did not and could not have put it there
while we were in the room, as it was lighted with the usual
electric light. Moreover the mother had opened the door as
we entered, being the first to enter the door. She happened
to do it gently enough to prevent the ink-well from being
thrown down. )

The boy had had a headache before dinner, or at least had
complained of it and did not eat much, but left the table early
and went upstairs. It is probable that he got the ink-well
then and, using the step-ladder chair, put the ink-well on top
of the door and knew nothing about it. The evidence of his
ignorance must come from what was proved in other in-
stances.

We then resorted to automatic writing to find how the ink-
well got there. Dr. X. asked the questions.

(How did it get there?)

Aha, ha ha! Look for the Meerschaum pipe, the scissors and
the fountain pen.

(Where is the pipe?)
fU]nder the sofa. [We looked for it and found it under the
sofa, '

(Well, where is the fountain pen?)

Naw.

(Tell me like a good fellow.)

Out with the light.

Light was put out and we bethought ourselves of search-
ing the boy’s pockets, so that the light was turned on and
this done. There was nothing in them except some papers,
a pencil or two, and a little jewel stone.

When the light was turned out again the boy soon found
a five-cent piece on his chair or in his hand. Dr. X. com-
plained of having lost a twenty-five-cent piece which had been
in his pocket, remarking that it was a new one. We sat again
for something to occur, and after waiting without anything
happening we resorted again to the writing.

(Did you do anything?)
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Yes, the scissors.

(Where are they?)

Won't tell.

(Will you bring them back?)

Yes.

(Can you bring them and drop them down so that we can see
them?)

Belle has the pen. [We went to the chair on which Mrs. X.
was sitting and found the pen concealed under the cushion.]

(Now, give us the scissors.)

Won't tell. That is my only weapon. No enticing.

(Can’t you move them or throw them on the floor?)

‘Wouldn't that be fun.

(Will you try to bring some objects here for us?)

They are here already.

(Whereabouts?)

Have found ome already.

(Can you bring anything from the outside or other parts of the
house now?)

Have found something you did not know was touched. The
brass bowl.

(Can you give me a reference in the new Encyclopaedia Bri-
tannsca?) .

Ome dollar.
(I will give you twenty-five cents for two references.)

[Something was then written which I did not get as it
was connected with the hunt for Dr. X.’s lost quarter, which
was found under the cushion of his own chair. While hunt-
ing for it the little girl cut her finger on something which
was found to be a safety razor blade concealed under the
same cushion.]

(When was the razor put in the chair?)

Was put there two days ago. I made you say that. I made
Mary take that side of the chair. Now do you believe in spirits.

(Why did you wish to cut Mary?) '

Too diabolical.

(Won’t you bring the scissors?)

No, where are they?

The writing then said they would be found straight out
from the left ear. This pointed toward the telephone and
Wwe sought in that part of the room for them, the boy going
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there first by following a direct line from the direction of his
father’s left ear. But we found nothing. He then returned
to the automatic writing and it directed how his father should
hold his head. First he directed it toward the bookshelves
and I went to the corner of the room but found nothing.
The father was then directed by the writing to look toward
a certain light. This made the left ear point a little to the
right of its previous position and I then looked under the
carpet and found the scissors where they had been put at
some earlier time.

There was then some sparring between Dr. X. and the
automatic writing about the price of some references in the
Encyclopaedia which was followed by agreement to try it.
The father wanted three references, the boy’s writing kept
insisting on two references and keeping the price above that
offered by the father.

(Give me three references.)

No, two.

g will give 25 cents for two and 50 for three.)

o.

(Better do it.)

Can’t do it any more.

(Can you give me two?)

Doubtful.

(Make an effort.)

Two for fifty.

(Two for thirty-five.)

No.

(Well, I will give fifty for two.)

Done. 200. [pause.] Voltaire. [Volume in Dr. X’s hand
examined and name of Voltaire found on page 200 at top of
page.

Welton. 300. [Examination showed it was “ Walton ".]

Further efforts to have the experiment repeated failed.
the automatic writing refusing. But it urged us to try ex-
periments with the table and, asked which table, replied
“Both ”.

The boy sat on the chair at the large mahogany table and
in a few moments it was lifted, on his side. I went around to

his side of the table to watch his hands and feet. I saw a
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book on his knees and between them and the table, just
filling the natural space between the knees and the table.
The boy’s hands were on top of the table, sometimes writing.
Finally an enigmatical message was written that we should
all sit. I sat down on the seat behind the boy, believing
that the previous writing had implied that I was not to see
his hands and knees, but further writing directed that I
should go to the other side of the table. I did so and sat
down on the floor where I could see under the table and
watch the boy’s feet and legs. Nothing occurred. I then
went again to the side of the table where the boy was and
was again directed by the writing to get under the table. I
did so and watched his feet and legs. Two or three times I
saw muscular action evident, but the table was not lifted.
I pinched the boy’s leg several times and once the automatic
writing said: “ You are too familiar”. I pretended not to
know what it meant and it wrote to the effect that I had
touched the leg. Soon afterward I quietly removed the
book from the top of the boy’s knees and put it on the floor.
After some five minutes the writing said that it wanted the
charm put back in its place. I took this to be an enigmatical
reference to the book and replaced it on the knees. Then
followed another enigmatical reference to it which I do not
now recall, having failed to get it from the sheets at the time,
but the boy was perplexed to know what it meant when he
read it. I told him that I understood it and he remained
satisfied. I again tried pinching his leg after putting the
book in its place, and he betrayed no consciousness of it.
Asked about it afterward, he said he felt nothing, except
once, and named a part of the body which I had not touched.

I then went to the smaller table with the boy for experi-
ment. I did not touch it until after it began to tip. I then
held my hands on top of it and examined the boy’s hands,
which were on top. Only tipping occurred, tho we tried to
get levitation. I then went to the end of the table and at the
boy’s side where I could watch the boy’s hands and, as I
hoped, his legs by the little light that came in from the street.
But I could not see his feet and legs as I had hoped. I held
the legs of the table and called for its levitation. But while
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there 'were frequent tips to throw it over it was never
raised. I held it to prevent its being thrown against me.
There were many attempts to do this and once I noticed that
it was thrown with one leg on top of the boy’s foot and he
observed the fact and said it was on his foot and removed it.
But I noticed several efforts to levitate it in this way. I then
tried the boy’s leg again for anasthesia and he did not seem
to be conscious of my touching it. Finally the table spelled
out by tipping its desire for less light and we started to put
down the curtains to prevent the admission of the light
from the street. Hardly had I left the table when it was
thrown against the boy’s knee and seemed to hurt him con-
siderably, and to the floor where its top was smashed. This
sort of thing was then stopped. I noticed that the boy’s pain
did not last long. There was, of course, no proof that he
had had any pain. The same thing had occurred when he
was cut and when a drinking cup was thrown against his
head at an earlier experiment.

We then went to the automatic writing and the dialogue
turned on doing various things requested. First the pencil
made scrawls, which the automatic writing said was dancing.

(What more will you give us to-night?)

Goodnight.

(Can’t you bring us something out of the house?)

Go out of the room. (Who?g All of you.

(What will you do?)

Moose. [A moose head was on the wall.]

(You want to bring him down?)

Yes. I have have been practicing for some time to get the
heads down.

The dialogue continued, but it had no psychological
significance, and was merely to get something done. Finally
the hand wrote: “ Out with the light.” We turned it out.

After waiting for some time we heard low whistling. It
continued and finally I was sure of it and spoke encouragingly
and it improved. Taking the cue of the whistling in the
Burton case I put a lot of questions directed with a view
to ascertain whether the whistler was Pietra, as I detected
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efforts to do fancy whistling. I asked a large number of
questions in succession, whose correct answers would be
negative, and a few whose answers would be correct if affirm-
ative. The negative questions were all answered correctly
except one and all the affirmative correctly but one, and when
I asked if Pietra had done the whistling no answer came.
This was the last question I asked, all having been answered
by the whistling itself, one whistle for ‘ no’ and two for ‘ yes’.
At intervals I remained quiet and the whistling improved
so as to show efforts and some success at fancy whistling,
tho not at all striking or rgsembling that of Pietra in ex-
cellence, but only showing a decided improvement on the
first very labored efforts to whistle at all.

Finally I noticed that no response came to my questions
and I went to the boy, to find him in a trance. I ascertained
this first by putting my hand on his chin and lips, having sus-
pected from the whistling that he would be found anaesthesic
in the face. I pinched his lips and chin severely and there
was no reaction. I found the same with his hand. I then
remarked to Dr. and Mrs. X. that the boy was in a trance
and Mrs. X, called for the light. I remonstrated for fear that
it might be a shock and placed my hands one on his head and
the other on his right hand. After a few minutes, perhaps
not more than two, he suddenly jumped or showed a slight
convulsion and was awake, remarking that he had been
asleep. This closed the work for the evening.

Dec. 19th, 1911.
Last night we had another séance with the boy. Mrs.
X. was absent with the two girls and left only the father, the
boy and myself to hold the sitting. We wanted first to try
automatic writing, but found the book and paper used for it
missing. It could not be found anywhere. We took a sheet
of paper and tried automatic writing to find where it was.
The writing said : “ above the bookcase, stand each and look.”
We looked on top of the bookcase behind us and there the
edge of it could be seen. It required the stepladder and the
full height and reach of Dr. X. to reach it. Of course the

boy had probably put it there and knew nothing about it.
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The primary object of getting the book was to examine
some significant statements made in it and purporting to
come from Prof. James. This writing claiming to come from
him had occurred on Dec. 15th. In it he apparently referred
to his Chocorua home in the following statement. “ Moun-
tain on the left and apple trees on the right, fields, beautiful
view from mother’s window.”

I noticed also a cross placed before the name of God.
This was found in two places. I found also a circle made
with lines in it either to erase or to form a cross. They do
form a cross, but whether this,was the intention or not is
not provable. After the figure were the words: “ No, No ”.
which were explained to mean dissatisfaction with the circle
and lines. ,

The significance of the figure to me was apparent, as the
Greek letter Omega is like a circle. Through Mrs. Smead it
was accompanied by the cross and Mrs. Chenoweth also got
the circle and the cross in connection with Prof. James.
Through another psychic I also got the circle in connection
with his name.

At the dinner table in the evening Mrs. X. had remarked
that Prof. James had referred to “ pink pajamas” in connec-
tion with my name and also a “ black tie.” I at once saw the
importance of this and examination of the record of auto-
matic writing showed the following sentence in reference to
myself: “ He has two pairs of pajamas and one black tie and
no best clothes.” In the record of the crystal gazing, in
which he saw visions of all sorts, I was again mentioned and
the message took the form of an interlocution between two
spirits referring to me apparently. Some puns were com-
mitted and then the message: “ They laugh. It is dark” and
then the second spirit said: “ No wrong. Give him two pairs
of pink pajamas.” The first spirit then remarked: “ The pink
of perfection. What shall I give him for Christmas?” The
second replied: “ Morning [Mourning?] black tie,” when
the first replied: “ You are not serious enough for me.”

Some years ago a reference was made through Mrs.
Chenoweth to Prof. James while he was in England with his
Lectures, and about the same time Dr. Hodgson purported
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to communicate through Miss Gaule (Mrs. Rathbun) and
said: “ Tell James he looks cute in pink pajamas.” In com-
munication with him at the time, I received a letter saying
that he was wearing pink pajamas at that time. Last year,
with the fact in mind, I asked Prof. James through Mrs.
Chenoweth to say “pink pajamas” through Mrs. Smead
and he failed to do so in the sittings with me as I hoped
he would do. The coincidence here is therefore marked, tho
disguised more or less by the form of stating it. But the
mere mention of “ pink pajamas” in association with both
his name and my own may have more than a casual meaning.

The “black tie ” is also coincidental. I have a black tie
of his which I have used as an article in my experiments with
Mrs. Chenoweth. It was not possible for the boy to know
anything about the necktie or the pink pajama incident, as
only Mrs. James knew about the tie and only myself about
the pink pajamas and their relevance.

We wentto crystal gazing for our first experiment. The
crystal was placed on the writing-desk. The boy’s face was
about a foot from it and his head resting on a pillow while
he sat in the chair. There was a long pause before any vision
occurred. Then the following came. The vision was in the
form of written messages.

Here is Professor James. Good evening Hyslop.

(Good evening.)

Do you recognize the papers?

(Yes.)

Tjust * * it. Would you like to see Hodgson?

(Yes.)

A man, with not much hair, blue eyes, long face, sober looking
looks like a thinker.

(A beard?) .

I can’t see now. He has turned his head. Tt is dark. James
is here now. What would you like?

(Your sign.)

A circle.

(All right so far.)

A line. [pause.]

(Examine that circle carefully.)

On top [pause.] it is a little crooked.

(Yes.)
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One side is.

(Yes.)

Nothing else.

(Remember that and draw it afterward.)

I saw the writing. [This was an explanation that he did not
see the circle, but the written message.]

(Can he just give that sentence?)

What would you have him do?

(I wish you would spell out where you took me once and what
1did?)

I took you to paradise and you [pause.] hang it all I took you
to lots of places. I took you once into my study and we agreed
on a sign. You remember.

(No, not that.)

Hyslop, Hyslop. (Yes.) Your undivided attention, undi-
vided. (Yes.) Come here undivided. Hands off on the table.
[I put hands on the table.]

[I was unable to take notes and lost some things here. They
were not important to my knowledge. Some reference was made
to my being or becoming great in tiptology and automatlc writ-
ing.. Then came the following:]

Better summon friends to make an agreement and not follow
my example locking up my paper on which all hangs. Now that
I am dead I cannot describe it. Wait till T can find it. If you
find the paper on top you will find it bearing my sign, at the
bottom a coat of arms of the Duke of Fairfax with two swords
crossed, above a helmet and an arm holding another like my
sign, picture to the left, myself, wife to right mother in the middle
Ready.

(Yes.)

Down farther [read ‘father’] down farther you will see in
the end. In the end you will see your mistake. What is the use
of traubling you with these things that you do not understand.
Down farther [repeated and then as if it meant “ father down”
and then apparently as if “ farther” was for “ father” but not
made clear.] I see your own picture that of a child and wife
[pause.]

(Yes.)

The left of that I find another picture taken at night by a
flash light a clever idea of mine, when it is flashed ha\e an in-
strument attached to the table of mine. The picture is of one
who calls himself the nameless one, horrible. Don’t look at it
too long, but only in short spells. You will see why it is horrible.
Is it too fast?

(No.)

[Pause.] Ready? (Yes.) The earthly person’s writing
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caused me all the trouble. It saps my forces, keeps me away
from objects. Publish that paper, don’t give the answer, but cross
it out. When you publish publish it in dark covered paper, print-
ing these in New York Herald, Boston Herald, Sunday Times,
Transcript. Don’t tell the plan. * * * * [Notes not clear.]

[Some minutes’ rest.]

[Then from the crystal the boy described where another object
would be found. It was the remainder of the inkbottle, At
first it was said to be behind the books on the shelf near the door,
and on the 4th or 5th shelf. We looked for it but could not find
it there. Then writing was tried and gave the second shelf, but
it was found on the first shelf. We then went on with the writ-
ing, interrogating the control which was purporting to be Prof.
James. He had previously promised the family to protect them
against this “evil” poltergeist. The following was in auto-
matic writing.]

(Dr. X.: I thought you were going to protect us.)

[Failed to take down answer at time, as I was busy trying to
get the question down.]

(Will you draw your sign?)

[Circle with the Swastika sign drawn in it.] one way.

(Dr. X.: What is the best way to proceed to-night?)

Bad news. Look over the register, [Found razors]. Be-
hind the Indian bowl. [Found more razors.] In the lap of
Time. [A statuette.] [Two more razors found.]

(Dr. X.: Where is the box?)

On your bureau. [Not there.]

(Dr. X.: No, it is not there.)

Taken. (Dr. X.: Who took it?) It was the leather box
with the boxes.

(Dr. X.: Do you know where the silver box is?)

Not that one. The leather covered one.

(Dr. X.: Any other devilishness done here?)

Yes, look among the books leaning on the long book case.
[Found pen and scarf pin.]

(Dr. X.: Any other mischief?)

Yes. (Dr. X.: What?) Look in the unused door and un-
der and between. [Found four new razors under edge of door in
hall and a large cut in the door itself.]

(Dr. X.: What was the injury to the door done with?)

Hair. '

(Any other mischief?)

Porcupine. (Dr. X.: Any other?) Yes. (Dr.: X.: What?)

Go follow me minutely to get good results. Go in the closet
with out liteing lite [lighting light] and close all closet [erased]
wardrobe door then wait for effects. [Found perhaps a hundred
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matches on top of door in closet so that there was danger of
their lighting, if door was opened suddenly. A few fell on care-
ful opening and revealed the situation.]

(Dr. X.: Any other mischief?)

Yes. (Dr. X.: What?) One box unopened cigarettes.
Can’t tell where.

(Can’t you tell me where?)

No. (Dr.X.: Why not?) Sinful weed. This is not James
you know.

(Dr. X.: Is that all the mischief?)

No. (Dr. X.: What else?) I think I will wait till lite
[light] is out for best effects.

(Dr. X.: What do you advise us to do now?)

[Writing stopped and the boy complained of a buzzing in his
head and said :]

Who spoke just then?

(No one.)

Did you make that noise? [Bewildered.]

(No.)

Under the back of the Morris chair is a paper weight.

(Which chair?)

Morris. Who is speaking? [Bewildered.]

(Not 1.)

There is something in my head speaking plainly. [Paper
weight found back of Morris chair.]

This was the first experience in clairaudience and the
boy showed the same inability to recognize the source of
the sounds that Miss Burton showed when she began to hear
a voice. He evidently felt that it was one of us, but was
not sure of the voice and showed very marked signs of be-
wilderment all the way through. There was no chance or
means for testing him for anasthesia.

The lights were then put out and the boy sat in the chair
for a trance, tho he did not know that this was what we
wanted. Soon he began to whistle and on encouragement it
improved. Finally the voice was used and said “This is
James.” 1 interrogated the control as to who was whistling
and the answer was that it was James by one whistle for yes.
Then I questioned him with whistles for answer to the effect
that he had whistled as a young man but not afterward.
Then came the voice after whistling stopped. I could take
only imperfect notes in the dark and nothing of importance
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was told. I asked again if he remembered where he took me,
having in mind a message through Mrs. Chenoweth, and the
answer was that it was a meeting, but not a suffrage meeting,
and then that it was vague in his mind. Then came the fol-
lowing:

L. M. is entranced heavily. Can you work in the dark?

(Not perfectly.)

Try to do the best. Ah! It was four. What is the first
letter. The meeting. You spoke, spoke, spoke, spoke.

(Yes. You see I am stupid.) [Seeing he meant I spoke.]

No. Tell my dear wife. (Yes.) No do not tell. She has
not the ability to believe as it is not passive. [Very pertinent
statement.]

(What did I speak about?)

No.

(Dr. X.: Do you remember the French monograph you
loaned me?)

Very slightly. You do not know French well.

(Dr. X.: Yes, that is true. Do you remember the book?)

No, yes. (Dr. X.: What was it?) Dying word.

(Dr. X.: That must be a joke.)

It was the L. M. word It was the word, Living Word (Dr.
X.: Yes.) Iknew it had some relation to name * * [super-
posed in note and not legible.] Hyslop, hold,donot * * [un-
deciphered note.] the light. So in corner behind the door in
bookcase behind the wall.

Hyslop through the control you will not get the sign.

(All right.)

The paper when you find it. Sorry I cannot tell. Henry, I
wish it gotten and opened. The contents. Yes they have the
sign. the signature, coat of arms. Hyslop, I fear that is from
my own mind. You understand me?

(Not....)

It is not subconscious working for details. I shall arrange
the device to work with you.

[Here I asked him to bring me the second letter of the alpha-
. bet the next day at the sitting I was to hold. Finally he said he
would try to give B.] [No reference to it to-day at sitting. No
chance.]

write write [right] correct.

[The boy then woke up and was surprised that he had been
“asleep ”. He went on to tell some of his impressions.]

Remember eating something hot. Somebody said write
{right] changed and said correct meaning the other was right.
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Said he was going to write something round. Saw a face, say
half a circle, a bar in the middle, and cut off going from one side.
[Evident reference to sign.]

[Crystal Experiments again.]

(Do you see anything of that?)

[Circle drawn with a curved line through it at one side and
then two curved lines at right angles to it, with convex sides to
each other. Then another circle with the swastika sign in it and
letter “o. w.” for “one way” in it (see above). Then scrawls
drawn, possibly attempt at face.]

(Can you write the name of that sign?)

[Writing.]

[Two tables drawn and camera on one and a street at one end
of sheet. Then an illegible word. There followed a face. Then
a circle with a cross in it, made very clearly.]

Is that correct answer? Is that correct answer?

(The circle suggests it clearly, but it does not make me cer-
tain.)

so far. (Not exactly yet.)

[Sign of the cross made outside circle.]

(What did you make that for?)

unknown, unknown. Is that correct?

(Yes, so far.)

[Then came a number of circles made by rapidly whirling the
pencil point about and then inserting a cross in them, the whole
having the effect of concentric circles with the one cross inside.]

Begin again. Lean L. M. back in chair [?] as far as * *

[pause.] will ’lgo [heavy writing.] H Y S L O p. [heavy
shaded lines. Then a circle drawn again with a cross in it.]

[Then a figure was drawn made of two parallelograms with
ends touching at an obtuse angle, and in it written:]

DEAR HYSLOP. write a paper against woman suffrage. it
is my desire that you do this your W. W. S. and B. W. [erased]
Bill James. P.S. Don’t let your wife see it.

[Crystal Experiment.]

I see a picture of a boat. All I see about it is the future.
Hyslop, beg pardon, Mr. Hyslop, is on the boat sitting down
writing, on board for England. A woman rather old tough look-
ing, strongly built, hair rumpled, large and sitting down reading.
* * and I see a. Pal .... something dino. Oh Palladino.
[Then the experiment ended.]

Dec. 27th, 1911.
I had another sitting with the boy last night. Present
Dr. X., Mrs. X. and sister of Dr. X. We had automatic
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writing first. The first word written was “ Hello.” After
a pause the word trance was written with the apparent mean-
ing that the work would best be done in that way. In a
moment the hand wrote: “Now that probably will be the

only means after this of communication with you.” Then

various scrawls were made in an unintelligible manner, but
which terminated in the outline of a face.

I then asked the boy to hold the pencil in the normal way.
His custom has been to hold it vertically in his fist and to
write as with his whole hand in motion with the arm. As
soon as I had the pencil inserted in his fingers and thumb the
hand moved automatically over the page and had the pencil
point strike the edge of the pad and the intention was quite
apparent to move it into the customary position. In fact he
got it so and I reinserted it in the normal position. But the
movements were repeated to get it in the customary position.
The hand seemed wholly unable to use itself to make the
change and had to use the edge of the pad to move the pencil
into a position in which it would fall naturally into the fist,
to be held vertically. After a few trials I allowed it to re-
turn to its customary way. Some question, unrecorded by
me, was asked by Dr. X. and the hand wrote: “ No I did not
take it.” In a moment a circle and a cross were drawn and
I asked what it was and again the circle and cross were
drawn. Then a series of circles amounting to scrawls and
then the hand wrote: “ Here goes a pin wheel ”, and drew
curved lines that might represent a spiral in perspective.
Then it drew a circle and after it a cross which it put in the
circle. Then the hand wrote:—

“ Reserved for Hyslop’s tomb. Old Hodson [Hodgson]
trusty old slave Myers.”

(What has Hodgson to do with that?)

Here’s to dear old Bill.

[Then again a circle and cross were drawn.]

(Who draws that?)

James. Is that correct.

(It is correct for certain things, but, James, you know certain
additions to that which need to be made.)

[Crosses made in corner of sections.]

(No, not that.)
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[Circle and cross made again.]

[Then the hand drew a large circle and curved lines in it to
represent layers and in each layer or section was a word or a
sentence written, and explained to mean the depth to which the
crystal gazing could penetrate into the world. I again tried the
pencil in a normal position and it wrote a little more easily than
before. Then the cross and circle were drawn and spontaneously
the hand wrote after them:] “ No, no, no, Hysloppppp.”

(Who did that?)

I did.

(What did it mean?)

Can’t tell.

(All right.)

I can’t tell what you ask. [Pencil returned to customary
position.] Not at all Hyslopppp. from Elizabeth liberties.
[Elizabeth was inserted before “from ” tho written after it had
been written.]

(Dr. X.: Shall we sit down now or go on?)

Trance.

At this point the automatic writing was stopped and the
boy took his place in the chair for the trance. The light had
to be turned out and I was unable to make full notes. Be-
sides the talk was too rapid. The boy went into the trance
very quickly, tho during much of the time the evidence for a
trance would not be apparent to any one who did not know
the boy and the nature of such phenomena. At times one
could not distinguish the things said from attempts to de-
ceive us. But certain things occurred to show that he was
in a trance, even tho we assumed that the subconscious was
trying to deceive us, tho I think the dream state was itself
deceived.

At one stage of it H. P was mentioned and explained in
a moment to mean Hodgson Piper, and that Hodgson had
seen me to-day. When I asked where, the reply was “ Sé- -
ance”. I had a sitting on that day, yesterday, and Hodgson
was the only communicator. The boy knew nothing of this.
tho he could well have guessed that I had had a sitting with
Mrs. Chenoweth as he knew of my work in Boston and the
place I held the sittings.

(Tell me about it.)
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This medium is not bad. It is not the best and not the worst.

(That is good.)

Light. [Call for turning up light for a moment which was
done.] Miss X. was asked for and she tried communication with
her mother, but absolutely nothing occurred which the boy did
not know. A Lansing Humphrey was said to want to communi-
cate and nothing but guessing occurred. Finally I was called
forward and Hodgson said to be present.

(What were you doing to-day?)

Talking with you.

(Where?)

Dartmouth St.

(Who was with you?)

James.

(Who else?) [Having Imperator in mind.]

Jennie [pause] No.

(Who else?)

‘Wait, you go to Piper. .

(What for?)

I want to give you a certain thing.

(Do you know what it is about?)

es.

(What?)

To tell you about B, that message.

(Oh, yes.)

‘What did it suggest.

(I must not tell.)

You must.

(No, it would not be evidence. I must get it elsewhere.)
It was Y.

(That is good.)

Last year in connection with the Omega in the Cheno-
weth case I was told that I would understand if I got the last
letter of the alphabet anywhere. Apparently it was felt that
the Omega could not come in many cases while its equiva-
lent could be given. When I gave the letter B at a past sit-
ting here I had in mind the suggestion of Omega or the last
letter in the alphabet. It is interesting to note here that the
next to last letter is given as I gave the next to the first letter.
The process was in the right direction tho it did not give ex-
actly what I wanted.

During the trance the boy asked that I leave him and go
to the table. I went toward it and placed my hand on it and
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he remarked at once that I had my hand on it and that I
should go nearer. It was too dark to see me do this, and
I had my hand on the table behind my body so that, if there
had been light enough to see, he could not have seen my
hand. Once also he saw me stoop in the dark when I was
trying to see the action of his leg between me and the light
under the door. It is possible that in both these cases my
shadow between him and the window curtains may have been
the clue to his vision, tho there is reason to believe that his
eyes were closed in the trance. They were in all cases in
which the light was turned up, and his mouth was open.

I tried him several times for anasthesia and he was not
in the least anaesthesic. He was sensible of my touch on any
part of the body that I tried.

There was a great deal of silly talk by the boy, subliminal
trash and badinage. It was very evident to all of us that the
old personality that had controlled in the apports and tele-
kinesis was breaking up and that the phenomena were more
complicated with subconscious play than ever before. The
disintegration of this personality was apparent, and medium-
istic power diminished.

Crystal gazing was tried but effected nothing. The boy
did not wish to do it, having some repugnance to it because
of the strain on the eyes.

The father, having had some trouble with the concealment
of articles during the week, had told the boy that all the phe-
nomena had been due to automatism. The boy resented this
interpretation and believed thoroughly in their telekinetic
character. The subliminal denied the automatism in the au-
tomatic writing, and it was evident that the boy had been
honest in his conviction that genuine physical phenomena
had occurred.

January 3d, 1912.
Another experiment with young X. last night revealed
nothing worth recording. There was no attempt at physical
phenomena. We tried automatic writing first and there was
nothing but subconscious play around old themes. The cir-
cle and cross were the center of them. The pencil was held




Poltergeist Phenomena and Dissociation. 47

in the normal way. Then we went to the trance with the
light turned out. There was nothing in this also but childish
subliminal impersonation. The alleged communicator was
Dr. X.’s father and answers to questions brought nothing ex-
cept what the boy knew.

One or two interesting things occurred, tho not super-
normal. The boy was asked to make the clock strike nine.
He counted nine and then went to the clock in the dark and
changed the hands. It struck half-past ten. The interest-
ing thing about it was the confidence with which he walked
to the clock in the darkness with his eyes closed, as they are
in his trance. Two or three times he knew that I wanted to
ask a question or had bent over to see if he was doing any-
thing. The latter I explained by supposing that he could
see me, if his eyes were open, against the light through the
window curtain. The knowledge that I wished to ask a
question would have to be acquired by other means, possibly
by discovering slight movements on my part or the checking
of my breathing. Tests for anasthesia resulted in showing
that there was none except on the fingers of both hands and
these were cold. It was even possible that he was hyperaes-
thesic except at the points named.

The whole work of the evening was only a balancing of
his mind between sleep where there would be no motor ac-
tion, and a condition in which there would be free motor ac-
tion and contact with supernormal agencies. It was only a
discipline in active subconscious life which would be neces-
sary in mediumship that did not lead to dissociation of some
kind.

There were a few complicated mental tricks like arrang-
ing numbers to signify certain letters which were initials of
phrases. No importance attached to them.

When it came to waking him, suggestion would not work
and he insisted on remaining in the trance as long as he
wished. When he got ready he arranged a complicated form
of auto-suggestion. We were to count three, each taking a
number, and then say awake. This did not work, and then
he directed Miss X. to look into the fire and see a monkey
there, and when she saw that he suddenly awakened and
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wondered how long he had been in the trance. He looked at
the clock and found it half-past three in the morning, sur-
prised that he had been entranced so long and not knowing
that he had himself altered the hands of the clock.

January 8th, 1912.
We held another sitting with young X. last night. We
began with automatic writing. The following is the record.

Good evening Hyslop.

(Good evening)

how are you today.

(First rate.)

You cannot read the writing on the page can you.

(No, I can’t.) ’

[Pause.] Merry Xmas happy new year bells * * [scrawls.]
no [and apparently the page erased.]

[I here asked that the writing be finer, as it had been very
coarse and illegible, the boy reading it immediately after writing
it, but forgetting it a few moments later.]

whom would you like to nit [night].

(I would like the one who controlled today.)

Meyers is near not here but would you like him in trance.

(Not now.)

you poor chump. you would be * * by his appearance.
do not try to seem outwardly cool but say what you mean hyslop.
[Pause.]

IO M A H. [‘O’ inserted after last letter written.] in-
terpreter of Meyers and Hodgson. 111111111111111111 188 1111
1111. 188 visits 186 to nite [night].

[The boy then counted the lines represented by figure 1 and
found that they represented 18 and 8, the corresponding letters
in the alphabet, R. and H. the initials of Dr. Hodgson.]

(What does Iomah mean?)

I owe Ma 20 dollars.

[In fact the meaning was given in the statement immediately
after them, the letters being the initials of the words “ interpre-
ter of Myers and Hodgson ”, and this new meaning is only one of
the instances of subconscious fertility in this direction.]

[As hand wanted to write over the other writing I insisted on
turning the sheet and the hand resisted until I explained what
was occurring.]

(It is superposing.)

Oh soup. I owe Ma twenty dollars that I borrowed from
her.
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(Hodgson there is some one on your side that might send a
message.)

hodgson is not here only his interpreter.

(Who is his interpreter?)

carl fisher. [Dr. X. asked if it meant anything to me. I
replied ‘No’.]

[Then a circle was drawn with the sign of the cross in it, one
line being curved and looking like a line on a globe.] tripple XXX
sign james [both last words written near circle.]

(Where did that triple X come from?)

H O [' O’ erased.] H. Hyslop [scrawls made.] point of pencil.

[Point of pencil pointed toward me and I supposed it was in-
tended to indicate the answer to my question after writing my
name, and hence I replied:]

(I understand.)

[We then saw that it meant the point of the pencil was worn
down, and we inserted a new one.]

dull d [erased] denser blockhead.

[Then the hand drew an Indian head with feathers extending
about it and down the back of the body. Then a tomahawk
above the head and a bow and arrow in front. Then it wrote.]
indian band.

Then a crooked line like a river was drawn, a dark spot near it
that I took for a town on a map, a line from it and then an arrow
pointing to the spot, at the end of the arrow the word “ enemy ”
and then the word “ snake ”.]

turkey * * does the snake go to?

(Where?)

* no one nose [knows] except * * [‘gone’?] wasted.
trance quick. Henry, I can show you where a fine engraved
photograf of Washington is.

(I know: on a postage stamp) [Stamps lying in sight of
boy.]

No it is in the White House.

We then prepared for the trance and tried to have it come
on in the light, but had finally to put the light out, after turn-
ing boy’s chair away from it. It was some ten or more min-
utes before the trance came on. I held my hand on the boy’s
head awhile and noticing that the skin of his scalp moved
under it I took this as a hint to remove my hand which I did
and he soon afterward went into the trance.

It is impossible to give any adequate account of what oc-
curred in this trance. When the boy spoke it was so rapid
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that I could not take full notes and the darkness prevented
my making intelligible notes of any consecutive importance.
Nor was it necessary, except in one case where there was
some excellent evidence of the supernormal. But most of it
was mere trash and that of the silliest kind. Once the boy
rushed to the telephone and pulling it off the stand, began to
shout into it. The father interfered to stop it.

Once we were told to call for Myers. We did so and I
asked him to remember to tell us elsewhere what he could
about the message already apparently given some days ear-
lier concerning his poem St. Paul. The three letters, “ G.
S. G.” were not explained. I asked if he could tell us any of
his poetry to-night. No intelligible answer came, but refer-
ence to new poetry being better than the old. Then there
was a pause and the words “ Swift River” came. I asked
what it meant and the words “ Swift River ” were repeated.
I asked what river it was, thinking it might be a reference to
some classical river, Dr. X. suggesting Lethe. I said “ No.”
The letters M. M. S. came but their meaning was not ex-
plained. Then reference was made to the letter B and that
it suggested Y, repeating an earlier message. Then the boy
wanted to get at the phone to tell the cross reference to
M. M. S. But he was denied this.

Then he was asked the name of Mr. Myers’ son, and he
gave the name Frederic.

A Mrs. Ford was called, and in a few minutes the boy be-
gan to breathe heavily and to sigh and cry, exclaiming that
he felt so lonely in that house. This continued for some min-
utes and some messages, admitted to be relevant by Mrs. and
Dr. X, came. After the sitting the father told me that the
breathing and crying and reference to loneliness were very
evidential and that the boy knew absolutely nothing about
the facts in the last part of the woman’s life and death.

This was followed by reference to Sarah, an evident echo
of the boy’s sitting with Mrs. Chenoweth. Once he ex-
pressed himself in the trance as believing that her work was
all imagination, and indicated that the name Laura was or
should have been Clara.

After we had tried to awaken the boy, who still clung to
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the trance, he finally signified a wish to write again. The
pad was obtained and a pencil given him.

“I wish to ask an * * * * * * of you u. d. cross
reference with P.

suggest a swift river, understand?

(Yes, where is it?) [Thinking of one near Professor James’
summer home.]

somewhere near, near.

(In Massachusetts?)

no somewhere near.

(In Vermont?)

Canada. James do you [know] it. a summer resort of [then
scrawls made, and outline of mountains drawn.] Mt. Chic ...
[Circle and sign of cross in it drawn.] at nit [night] you that
picture. swift river. Chic... Chichraura [Chocorua]. What
[not read] what * *

[Then scrawls were drawn over the page and the face of some
one drawn. Next to it was written the word “ Medium” and
then above, in order, the names: Myers, Hodgson, Rulson, in-
terpreter, Ford (N. C.) Hyslop, Sarah. Then the word “ Last ”
was written next to Sarah, and “ Next ” written near Hyslop and
the word “ First ” near the name Myers.]

Soon after this the boy was awakened by auto-suggestion.
we taking up the expression he dictated, and he awakened
immediately after we uttered the words.

Swift River is near Mt. Chocorua, the summer home of
Professor James. The boy knew nothing of this fact. The
circle and cross are probably attempts to give the sign Omega
with the cross.

The letters “u. d.” are evidently intended for * under-
stand ”. They are the abbreviations for that word in the
Piper case for which “ P ” probably stands. The boy pretty
assuredly did not know this fact at the time and probably
does not know it yet. He certainly does not know their use
in the case of Mrs. Smead.

January 30th, 1912.

We had another sitting with young X. this evening. We
began with automatic writing. Nothing of an evidential
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character occurred in it, or even interesting as secondary
personality. Mr. Myers purported to come first, but said
nothing, and we might even suspect it conscious fooling by
the boy and have nothing but his honesty to protect us
against that suspicion. Then the circle and the cross and
immediately after it a drawing of a coat and a necktie, show-
ing that, on any theory, Professor James was meant. Then
the promise was made to make lights for us later and the
circle and cross were drawn again.

We then turned to trance work. It was some minutes
before the boy got into the trance. The sign of it was some
childish references to his mother. Several persons purported
to communicate, but nothing whatever of significance oc-
curred. It would have been worth while to have a verbatim
record of it just for its foolishness. All sorts of boyish silli-
ness was expressed. Some whistling occurred, but no lights.
When Professor James was mentioned, reference was made
to papers and documents and then to one in Pennsylvania
who had attacked him. It is probable that the boy knew of
the Witmer incident. I tried to get the message promised
me from Starlight, but only guessing resulted. I got the
words: Chicago, Psychology, Hands, Snapping of hand, Bless.
Then a little later came the name Bruce and, on asking who
said this, got Robert Bruce. Dr. and Mrs. X. intimated that
something of recent occurrence in the family may have sug-
gested the name, but as it coincided with the incident through
Mrs. Smead last spring I insisted on trying to get the name
of Hodgson in connection with it. I did not succeed. In
more or less close connection with it came the name Leo, and
I asked who he was and the answer Rex came. Asked who
Rex was, the reply was, one of Mrs. Chenoweth’s controls. Then
he said he had forgotten the other name. and in a moment
said Master and then Imperator. Presently the message came:
“ Congratulations on the lecture at M. V.” T had lectured
last Sunday evening at Ford Hall and the boy knew it. I
had got the same expression from E. G. through Mrs. Cheno-
weth the day before, and hence, as that personality was said
to be one of the group concerned in the development of the
boy. I asked who said it and the answer came: ‘ Myers’
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Secretary ”, and in reply to the further query who this was
got J. P, said to be “ James Prescott,” which was irrelevant.

We then tried automatic writing again, primarily to as-
certain where some money was that the boy had said in the
trance was hidden. During the trance he alleged that he
had some money and stated it was seventy cents and that it
was “ toward the moose.” This head was over the mantel-
piece and the boy was twelve feet distant. We could hear
him handling money of some kind. On his recovering nor-
mal consciousness, we searched his pockets for money and
there was none on his body. He said he had had none for
a long time. We searched and found under the cushion of
the chair on which he sat two quarters, one dime and two
five cent pieces, making seventy cents. We then went to
the automatic writing to see if we could ascertain where the
money had been got. The only answer that we could get
was that it was from the mint of the control.

(Where did the money come from?)

that came from me. [Then three circles with crosses were
drawn.] see?

(Did you make it?)

no my mint. many dollars my mint miser. [referring to his
father] itisin M

A few more statements followed with reference to some-
thing else, but I did not get a note of the questions and so
their meaning is lost. Finally the name Imperator was spelled
out in capitals and I asked some question to get the reply,
“ Hy said.” Then came sketchy circles with a cross in them
and I asked who had given the name Bruce. Capital H was
written and then M and then J. Asked which of the three
had said it the hand finished each name by making a letter in
each name at a time, not completing any given name at once.
I then asked that Professor James’ sign be completed and
the words “ insignia ” and “ coat ” were written. I explained
that this did not complete it and the hand wrote: R E ...
R E X [the ‘X’ in a corner of the ‘E’]. T asked who Rex
was and the reply was: X=greatest control, followed by scrawls
that were evident attempts to write intelligibly, and then a
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scrawlly Rex again. I take the meaning to be that the sign
of the cross indicated by X, and the reference to “ the great-
est control” may be convertible with “ Greater Light” of
the Piper, Smead, and other cases. The boy knew nothing
of this. I could only get the name Rex again in trying to
have the name further explained, the object being to see if
we could get Rector. Nothing more of importance occurred.

After the boy left the room to go to bed, three loud raps
came on the window looking on the street and two stories
below his room. Dr. X. went at once to the boy’s room and
he protested that he had done nothing. The examination of
the window showed it fastened and the snow on it undis-
turbed. The boy would have had to rig up a long string with
a weight on it to make the raps at that distance, and very
likely marks would have been made in the snow on the win-
dow sill, which were not there. The little girl in the room
below him heard one rap on her window and was frightened.

February 5th, 1912.

We had another séance with young X. this evening. No
automatic writing was tried. We sat down for the trance
and in some ten minutes the boy showed signs of a trance.
There was some whispered talk like coughing out messages
for a while, evident tricks of the subconscious. When I got
a chance I asked for the message which had been promised
me, through Mrs. Chenoweth, to come from ... I
indicated, without saying who had promised 1t that a cer-
tain person there had promised it. Some guessing of Hodg-
son, Myers and Whirlwind was made and I denied them all,
saying that it was not one of that group. Whirlwind came
in the form of “ whirling wind ”” and Myers in the form of
“Me my” and then “ Memyers”. When I denied this the
answer was that it was a gir. When asked if it was “a
message of sense ”, I replied in the affirmative. Then came
the letter P and then J. P., which I denied, this being the
other name of Whirlwind and known to the boy. Then
came “ S” which I did not deny, and then “a”’; then “S o ”,
which I denied with “S a”. Then “S e d” and then
“S edy” which I denied. Then came “S u d” which I
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denied, and then “S u y” which I denied, and then “S u”
which I admitted. This was followed by “n”, then “d”,
with the statement that it was something like it which I did
not admit or deny. Then came “t” and I denied it. A
pause followed and the word “S u n s” was given and I
stated that the “s” at the end was not correct. “t” was
tried again and denied. Then “S u n r” and the boy spon-
taneously said that was wrong and repeated “S u n” and
after a pause said “b” and in a moment said “ Sunbeam ”
when I admitted it was correct. Effort to get the message
resulted only in the letter “ B” after considerable fishing.
[Correct, as far as it went.] .

I do not recall whether I ever mentioned Sunbeam in the
presence of the boy or not. Dr. X. says he never heard the
name, but Mrs. X. says that I mentioned the name to her.
It is possible that I may have mentioned it in the boy’s pres-
ence. But even if I had not so done the evident fishing and
guessing in the process deprives the acquisition of the name
of any significance. I did not care as I wanted his mind to
be expectant of some message from her and left all hints of
it unknown.

Nothing else of interest occurred until just before he was
awakened, when he spontaneously made allusions to methods
by which the noise on the window last week could have been
made, and with it he remarked that we should find some
money and other things concealed. Dr. X. then detailed to
me the occurrence of some of the old phenomena of coming
to the library and opening drawers, taking out some objects
and concealing them, and then revealing through automatic
writing where they were. It was apparent that the noise on
the window was made in the way conjectured possible, but
the absence of marks on the snow was not explained. We
kept the boy on the subject as long as we could and the al-
lusion to a coin on the end of something and dangling against
the window made clear what was intended.

Toward the end there was a reference to Z and I did not
recognize it at first. But the boy remarked that it was con-
nected with B and indicated that T had wanted it in connec-
tion with B. T recalled then that T had told Professor James
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to take that letter elsewhere and with it give the associated
letter. The boy got Y as the desired letter and I admitted it,
tho I was wrong in doing so, I thinking when I did so that it
was the last letter. I never corrected this with the boy.
The spontaneous giving of Z here and connecting it with B
involves a coincidence with the statement made by G. P. a
year or more ago that I might look for the last letter of the
alphabet anywhere and said that zigzag lines had been made
in one case, which I found to be true with Miss B. Whether
the same thought is here or not cannot be assuredly deter-
mined. After a pause I got two letters and then the name
Sunbeam. The two letters were the first two letters in the
first word of my father’s pass sentence. But the boy got no
farther and I did not press the matter, as it would involve
others knowing what it was, and I did not here admit their
meaning, or even that they had a meaning for me.
JAMES H. HYSLOP.

The following is the Report by the clergyman who was
present at one of my own experiments and some others. It
must speak for itself.—Editor.
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AN ACCOUNT OF CERTAIN PSYCHIC PHENOMENA
WITNESSED ON THE EVENINGS OF NOVEM-
BER 18, 19, 20, 1911.

On Saturday evening, November 18, immediately after supper,
Henry, Belle, Anna, Gill and I went into the study. This room
is on the second floor of the house, and a ground plan of this floor
is attached to this account. I should judge this study room,
which extends across the front of the house, to be about 25 feet
square. It is partially divided by an alcove in which there are
bookshelves extending to within a few feet of the ceiling, and in
it were a leather lounge and a small writing desk near the win-
dow. In the study itself the more prominent articles of furni-
ture were: an unusually large study desk, weighing certainly 550
pounds, standing before the bay windows. A fireplace is on the
side of the room opposite the alcove. Two large leather easy
chairs, a large Morris chair, two leather bottom Hepplewhite
chairs, and a table were in the room, and some smaller chairs.

Entrance to the room was from the hall by double doors, and
also by a single door which led into a closet leading in turn to
Henry’s bedroom in the rear. The room was lighted by two
clustets of electric lights, one in the middle of the ceiling of the
study proper, the other in the middle of the ceiling of the alcove,
both controlled by switch and buttons at one side of the double
doors of the study, electric lights at either side of the fireplace,
and an electric lamp on the desk. A telephone stood on the shelf
made by the alcove partition and near the double doors. In the
rear was a bedroom with adjoining bathroom and with passage
way into the study.

Gill sat down at the study desk and began automatic writing,
purporting to come from a control calling himself “ Bellyache .
Among other things he wrote references giving four pages and
the subject headings in Vol. IT of the New Encyclopzdia Bri-
tannica, which were verified. The rest of the writing was mostly
in reference to me, who I was, my wife’s name, etc., and contained
nothing of unusual nature, except that Gill wrote the first verse
of Felicia Hemans' “The breaking waves dashed high on a
stern and rock bound coast ” which Gill professed never to have
heard before.

After some time in automatic writing, Henry, Belle, Anna, Gill
and I sat down at a small table with bamboo legs. The doors .
into the hall were shut, the shades drawn down and the lights
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put out. Through the shades came some light from the street
lamps on M—————— Street, but only enough to very dimly
distinguish a few things. It was quite dark. The table began
to move vigorously as soon as we sat down to it. It rapped out
the imitation of a locomotive starting up, the tempo of several
tunes, answers to a few questions of an unimportant nature.
Then it began to raise itself and to thrust itself to and fro with
considerable violence so that we had to cling to it for fear of
being struck. It would then bang itself down on the floor with
violence so as to wrench and twist itself. We tried to get it to
right itself when left on its side on the floor and without any
contact from us whatever. It did this twice and then finally
broke itself, twisting the top right off the bamboo legs.

Another table, heavier than the former, and made of wicker
was brought in. When left to itself on the floor it threw itself
about repeatedly, and finally threw itself over one of the big
leather study chairs a distance of at least eight feet and struck
Belle with considerable violence. The lights were thrown on and
Belle took the table away. While she was gone with Anna,
Henry, Gill and I shut the doors, put out the lights again and
then laid our hands lightly on the heavy study desk. It im-
mediately began to tremble all over palpably, and then raised
its one side right off the floor fully six inches and came down with
a bump. Henry not wishing to run any risk of injuring the table
we desisted from further experiment with it.

Belle, on her return, suggested that we abandon the table
experiments as being too violent, and that we try some other kind
of experiment. We placed a book on the edge of the large desk,
and turned off the lights. The book was not moved, but we
heard a sound of some other movement, and, on turning on the
light found a slipper of Gill’s, which he had left under the lounge
in the alcove, had been thrown several feet out into the study.
We found the book which had been left undisturbed on the
edge of the table to be entitled “ Tarry with me, O my Savior ”.
Substituting another book after the lights were extinguished this
was thrown immediately out into the middle of the room. Gill
at this time was standing at the inner corner of the desk near
where the book was. I asked him to stand behind the desk
where I could see his figure clearly outlined against the pale
light coming through the shades from without. He did, and
again two books or three were thrown off the desk at the same
time as soon as the lights were shut off. I could see Gill all the
time and could not see that he moved. After this, each time the
lights were put out different objects were moved or thrown about
the room. The top of a tobacco can was thrown from the desk
into the alcove, pencils were thrown from the desk, match boxes
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were thrown from the table to the floor. We placed one match
box high up on the back of, a stuffed eagle near the bay window
which was out of reach. This was thrown down when the lights
were put out. Pipes and pipe stems from small table were
thrown about the room. The telephone receiver was taken off
the hook, I was struck on the head by a pipe stem, and Henry
by the pipe bowl of the same pipe. The pipe had been lying on
the table and the stem must have been removed from the bowl
with considerable effort. This was the last phenomenon that
evening. I have only mentioned the ones I remember distinctly.
Among other things that failed to occur, we asked the spirit or
power to remove the cigarette which Henry was smoking from
his hand. Henry told us that he experienced a peculiar feeling
along his forearm like an electric current, and then a distinct
burning sensation on the back of his hand, but the cigarette was
not disturbed. It should be noticed that it was our practice to
turn on the light as soon as we heard anything move or fall, the
object was then looked for, found and its point of departure
located and then the lights turned off again for the next ex-
periment.

Sunday, November 19th.

On our return from church about 12.30 P. M. the next day,
Gill again did some automatic writing. Among other things he
wrote, “ Henry, beware, shudder razors will fly through the air
to-night ”, or words to that effect. After supper, at about seven
o'clock, Henry, Gill and I were alone in the study, drew down
the shades, shut the doors. “ Bellyache ”, when asked whether he
would materialize for us, replied by automatic writing that he
would if we put out the light. We did so, Gill was sitting in the
chair near the alcove division, I opposite him towards the fire-
place, and Henry in a chair between the fireplace and the desk.

Gill immediately exclaimed that he was being touched on
the head and then along the arm and exclaimed, “Oh, it is the
funniest feeling, turn on the light.” We did, and found that a
match box had been deposited on the arm of his chair. When
the lights were again turned off again Gill again spoke of being
touched along the arm in the same way and then cried, “ Ouch
it’s cut me.” At the same moment Henry felt something hit him
lightly on the chest. When the lights were turned on, we found
on the floor around Henry’s chair, four Gillette razor blades.
These were found to have been removed from the little tin box
in Henry’s bath room. Mary then came in and joined us. Gill
was sitting on the leather lounge in the alcove. Something
dropped on his shoulder. It proved when the light was turned
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to be a padlock which Mary said had been in her desk that
morning. )

I put out the lights and stood by the switch by the side of the
double doors. Hardly were they extinguished when the top of
a brass box from the desk struck the doors at my side with con-
siderable force. The next time the lights were out an ink bottle
full of ink hit me in the calf of my leg and fell against the wall.
It spattered over the floor and wall paper. It took up some time
to wipe it up and Belle and Anna came in. 'When we proceeded
a cigarette box from the mantel-piece was thrown into the center
of the room and its contents scattered. Then a penholder was
thrown across the room. After this Gill sitting near the win-
dows on the window seat, the shade behind him was let up.
Then one further from him flew up. 'This let more light into the
room and we could distinguish things on the desk quite clearly.
Gill sitting in the desk chair called attention to a drawer of the
desk being opened and shut and an envelope from it was deposited
on the table. A copy of the Encyclopadia Britannica lying on
the table we could see open slowly by itself and Gill was sitting
in and on one of the large study chairs, when Gill was hit in the
face by an object which proved to be a pair of his gloves which he
said he had worn to church that morning and had left up stairs
in his room. The next phenomenon was in the alcove. Gill ex-
claimed that he saw some thing on the lounge (divan) coming
towards him, he jumped up and backed off. The lining of the
divan had been pulled out at the juncture of the head piece. We
tried afterwards to pull this out by hand and found it impossible
to do. . A rose was placed on the top row of books in the alcove
bookcase and we asked to have it removed. The bowl of a pipe
from the study table was thrown at it. Then the newspaper
basket was thrown out from underneath the desk. The telephone
receiver was again removed as on the night previous. A piece
of plastic rubber which Gill had been playing with before supper
and had left, he said, on the stairs, was thrown into the fireplace.
This same piece of rubber was thrown around the room from the
mantel-piece. On one occasion when the lights were on, Henry
suddenly saw one of the logs in the fireplace turn over and then
turn back, I did not see this. But I saw the fire tongs, etc. in the
fire set by the side of the fireplace moving in the light without
contact. Other minor phenomena occurred as pencils and pipe
stems being thrown about the room, but these were the phe-
nomena of which I retain distinct recollection.

Monday afternoon, November 20th.

In the afternoon, by co-incidence Dr. Hyslop came to call on
Henry. Gill did some automatic writing which seemed to in-
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terest him. Finally ‘“ Bellyache” wrote,—" Look behind the
door in the hall.” Gill ran to look, and behind the door leading
from the hall to the servant’s stairway were found a number of
Gillette razor blades from Henry’s metal case in his bath room.
An appointment was made with Dr. Hyslop to come to supper
and to sit with us that evening.

Monday evening.

After supper we began with some automatic writing, at which
the control warned us not to sit at the table more than a few
minutes. The table began with the locomotive tapping, tapped
out the tempo to “ Onward Christian Soldiers ”, and some other
tunes, lifted itself repeatedly several feet off the floor, moved
itself without contact, and then stopped absolutely. We tried
the telekinetic phenomena. The first thing that fell, imme-
diately behind me, was a framed little picture of Mia, which
had been standing on the mantel-piece in Henry’s bedroom. In
all these phenomena it is to be understood that the doors were
tight shut. Then a key from Henry’s drawer dropped into the
room. A heavy iron paperweight was thrown on the floor.
Then more Gillette razor blades were thrown. We went into
Henry’s bedroom and found that they were missing there. While
Henry, Dr. Hyslop, and I were in Henry’s bedroom trying to ar-
range for a test object to be removed, from that room into the
study, a drinking cup of little Daniel’s was thrown into the study,
where Gill, Belle and, I think, Mary were sitting in the dark, and
broken by being thrown into the fireplace. When we came
back, Gill’s pen knife, from his room up stairs, two pairs of
scissors, a nail file from Mary’s dresser, a number of marbles,
Anna’s fountain pen, we recall, in succession, thrown into the
room. Gill next was standing by the electric light switch near
the door and was hit on the temple quite severely with a tin
collapsible drinking cup that had been in his room. He sat on a
leather bottom chair close to the switch, and when the light went
out he felt something, he said, hit the chair bottom and when the
light was put on, a sharp cut was found in the leather chair bot-
tom, but nothing discovered with which it was done. “ An in-
visible arrow ” said the automatic writing when we consulted it
to find out what had moved. Gill removed from the switch and
was sitting on the lounge in the alcove when as soon as the
lights were turned off, crash, something was thrown through the
electric fixture over his head and dropped, it proved to be a stone
belonging to Daniel which he had brought from the seashore.
“ Bellyache ”, when consulted by writing, said that Daniel had
left it in the public gardens. Some unused Gillette razor blades
were thrown into the room. Before we began the séance we
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noticed that a paper cutter and desk scissors were missing from
Henry’s desk. These were in succession now thrown with vio-
lence across the room. The paper cutter was thrown into the
alcove, and the scissors against the bookcase near the door lead-
ing to Henry’s closet. Then a stamp box from the desk was
thrown to the floor. A little piece of candy from Anna’s room
was dropped into Henry’s lap. Anna, who was not present but
up in her room, said that she spilled some candy on the floor up
stairs. Gill then sat behind the desk and a drawer of the desk
opened and shut as he called our attention to it. Gill next ex-
claimed that his hair was pulled good and hard. A book of
Flournoy’s was hurled from the desk into the alcove. Gill then
sat in one of the big chairs near the desk. When the lights were
put out nothing happened for a while, and then a very faint pat-
pat-pat was heard tapping on the leather on the chair and with
this there went a creaking as if something were trying to be
opened and moved. Dr. Hyslop told Gill to lift up his hands
and the tapping and creaking continued. It ceased, however, when
Dr. Hyslop took hold of Gill’s chair. Then Dr. Hyslop standing
right behind Gill’s chair told him to put his legs over the arms
of the chair. He did so and kept holding his hands up so that I
could see them plainly against the light through the shades.
The creaking continued and the chair with Gill in it was pre-
ceptibly moved. We then experimented with having Gill lifted.
We stood about him and put our finger tips under his feet and
arms, and while he said he felt something trying to lift him,
we did not succeed. The automatic writing advised us to try it
with Gill lying flat. We did. And while Gill said that he felt
something lifting him, he sat up, we did not succeed in lifting
him from the floor. We tried the same with Henry, but with
no better success. After this several smaller objects were thrown
about the room. We then tried raising the desk. At first we
could only feel the faintest motion. By automatic writing it was
directed that Hyslop be removed, and that we stand in certain
positions, Henry, Gill, Belle and myself, and then the desk was
preceptibly raised, but the force was apparently growing weaker,
Snd so after, I believe, a pipe stem was thrown into the room, we
esisted.

This is the first time that I have ever witnessed any psychic
phenomena whatever, and of course in the natural excitement
I have not exact recollection of all that happened, but have
written above only such as I can distinctly remember. The
order in which they occurred may in some minor respects be
wrong. But this account is based on notes of the events of the
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three evenings put down on the following day, November 21st,
and written out in full between December and this date, February
7th. Under the circumstances, so intimate and informal, we did
not for a moment think of doing what we perhaps should have
done especially to establish the veridical nature of the apports
from the other rooms in the house, viz., had everybody present
searched, and have controlled in some way Gill with whom the
phenomena were closely associated. While of many phe-
nomena an outside critic might say that they were due to Gill’s
playing tricks, the nature of others, such as the moving of the
heavy desk, the tapping on and moving of the chair in which he
sat, the movement of objects placed outside of his reach, could
not have been due to him, and, during the movement of many of
the objects he was close beside me all the time.
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EDITORIAL.
LIFE MEMBERSHIPS.

We again call members’ attention to a very feasible
method of increasing the endowment fund. The present
endowment fund is over $35,000. The exact amount cannot
be determined until the Warren Will case has been re-
ported in full. But the amount may be $37,000. It is at
least the former sum. The amount necessary to assure an
assistant to follow in the work could easily be made $100,000

by life members. We have something like 650 Fellows,

Members and Associates. An average of $200, which is a
Life Membership, would give us over $100,000 for the en-
dowment. Members are reminded of the fact at this time
because they may wish to take it into account in paying
their fees this year. The policy assures them the publica-
tions just as the annual fees do and at the same time it as-
sures the continuance of the work after they have passed
away. We are at a critical point in our work. The intel-
lectual world is beginning to respect it and it must not fail
to be in a position to show its independence of ridicule. An
endowment fund would convert more people to the import-
ance of the work than all our facts, and it would enable us to
keep up its scientific character. We know that the publi-
cations are exceedingly heavy and do not appeal to any
sensational interest. They are tedious beyond endurance.
But we cannot abate one iota of our policy in the publications
if we are to receive scientific approval and that is the most
important thing to have now and in the near future. We
shall be ridiculed as long as we have no funds to assure the
continuance of the work, but the foolish world will respect
us as soon as we have the means to defy its criticism and to
outlive its hand-to-mouth way of treating us. Thus in some
respects endowment is more important than facts. With
most people it is the measure of success that tells and facts
count for much less. It should not be so, but it is.
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We therefore remind members that here is an excellent
opportunity to assure the endowment. Those who can take
out Founders’, Patrons’ and Fellows’ Life Memberships may
make up for many who cannot do more than pay their annual
dues.

HODGSON MEMORIAL FUND.

The following document was sent to us by one of the
contributors to the Fund. It was also published in the Journal

of the English Society for Psychical Research in its Novem-
ber number.

84 State St., Boston, June 19, 1912.

To the President and Fellows of Harvard College,
50 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts.
Gentlemen:

On behalf of the contributors whose names and addresses and
individual gifts are listed below, I transmit checks amounting to
$10,000.00, which total sum they hereby give to the President and
Fellows of Harvard College in their corporate capacity, and their
successors in that capacity, to be held for the purposes herein
stated.

The contributors desire that this gift shall commemorate
the life and work of Richard Hodgson, M. A., LL.D. (Mel-
bourne), A.B., A M. (Cambridge), who was born in Melbourne,
Australia, in 1855, and who served as secretary of the American
Society for Psychical Research and of the American Branch of
the English Society for Psychical Research successively from
1887 until his death in Boston in 1905, devoting throughout those
years a generous character and rare abilities to the investigation
and study of phenomena which purported to furnish evidence of
human immortality. They realize that enquiries of the kind
with which Richard Hodgson’s work in psychical research es-
pecially identified him may from time to time be most profitably
pursued in ways not now predictable, and they desire to estab-
lish a fund for the encouragement of such work that may be
broadly administered and that shall thus become a fitting and
permanent tribute to his memory.

Accordingly the contributors direct that the fund shall be
known as the Richard Hodgson Memorial Fund and that, subject
only to the provisions for permitting accumulations hereinafter
named, the income shall be expended in the sole discretion of the
President and Fellows in any manner designed to encourage the



66 Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

investigation and study of mental or physical phenomena the
origin or expression of which appears to be independent of the
ordinary sensory channels.

The contributors further direct that one third, but not more,
of the annual income of the fund and of all additions thereto,
may from time to time be added to the principal in the discre-
tion of the President and Fellows. Nothing herein shall be con-
strued to require the expenditure of income annually.

It is the hope of the contributors, this statement of which
shall not limit or restrict the discretion of the President and Fel-
lows, that a preference will be given in the expenditure of in-
come to the endowment of investigation and research as dis-
tinguished from lectureships and that, unless and until the fund
reaches such proportions that its income is sufficient to justify
the permanent appointment of an instructor or investigator, the
income will be accumulated for such reasonable periods as shall
be necessary to make possible its expenditure in amounts ade-
quate for important uses.

The contributors for whom I thus transmit the amount above
named are the following:

Mrs. William G. (Annie B.) Webb, care L. C.

Kimball, 35 Congress Street, Boston....... $5,000.00
Mrs. Richard FitzHugh (Catherine TenEyk)
Ledyard, Cazenovia, New York........... 1,100.00

Interest on gifts of Mrs. Webb and Mrs.
Ledyard which have been on special de-

posit for some months.................. 179.50
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Sergeant Perry.) ..... 200.00
Miss Margaret Perry................F «.... 10.00
Miss Edith Perry..........ccocvvvil) oot 10.00

(312 Marlborough St., Boston.)
Miss Theodate Pope, Hillstead, Farmington,

L0703 T 100.00
Henry James, Jr., 84 State Street, Boston.... 20.00
Mrs. David P. (Clara B.) Kimball, 48 Com-

monwealth Avenue, Boston............... 3,380.50
$10,000.00
Iam,
Respectfully yours,
HENRY JAMES, JR.

So far as we know this is the first official recognition
which any American College or University has given to
psychic research. The value of it lies chiefly in the fact of
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this recognition, as the fund is not large enough to do all
the work that must be done in this field. Besides no one
can any longer question the respectability of the work. The
objection which an. uninformed public has always raised;
namely, that the Colleges and Universities have not admitted
the work into their purview, cannot be presented any
longer. The acceptance of the fund makes it impossible for
any other institution in this ‘country to disregard or to dis-
respect the work. It has won its place in so conservative a
University as Harvard, conservative in all the problems that
affect long despised phenomena. It is in every way a most
welcome situation, and we have to thank the contributors
for the course which thus commits one of the first Univer-
sities in this country to the respectability and importance
of psychic research.

The English Society announces in the Journal which pub-
lishes the document that the Council of the Society has do-
nated $500 to the Hodgson Memorial Fund and I take this
occasion to say to any of Dr. Hodgson’s friends in this
country that we should be glad to receive and forward to
the proper authorities any sums which they may wish to
contribute to this fund. It will be so much additional help
to the work and to the recognition which Harvard Univer-
sity has given to the subject.
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INCIDENTS.

The Society assumes no responsibility for anything published under
this head and no indorsement is implied, except that it has been furnished
by an :lpparently trustworthy contributor whose name is given, unless
withheld by his own request.

The following incident is from a physician of good stand-
ing who was connected with one of our best Universities.
It must speak for itself. —Editor.

Philadelphia, July 31st, 1912.

Dear Dr. Hyslop:

The following facts in re the apparition of my aunt were
written down at the time. The aunt lived in Salem, N. J., six-
teen miles from father’s farm. Father passed away on March
24th, 1912, at about 2.30 P. M. He was suffering from an attack
of pneumonia and had been sick only since Thursday, March
20th, 1912. He ate a good meal at 1 P. M. and seemed to the
‘physician to be progressing satisfactorily. He chatted with those
present until 2.15 P. M., when he suddenly showed signs of dis-
tress and in a few minutes was dead. My aunt is in her 85th
year. They did not tell her of the death until the following
morning. One of her nieces then said to her, “ Uncle Morris is
very sick.” She replied directly: “ That is very strange. Brother
Morris stood by the bed here last evening and he seemed so
well.” An acquaintance then entering, she turned and asked,
“Is he dead? ” no remarks having been made by those present.

I am quite sorry that the report has been delayed so long, but
professional work of a very taxing and important character has
delayed me.

Ve:(':y sincerely,
. W. GOODWIN, M. D.

On inquiry for a first hand account and corroboration of
the incident narrated, Dr. Goodwin explains that it is im-
possible to get the direct account and assigns reasons which
must suffice to justify omission of further inquiry. They are
too personal to mention.

JAMES H. HYSLOP.
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Mrs. Julia B. Clarke died on January 7th, 1912. On
January 20th her daughter, Miss Helen J. Clarke, put on
record the following narrative of her experience at the time
of the death of her mother. It is certified by the nurse, so
far as she can be a witness to any part of the incident. Mrs.
Clarke and her daughter were witnesses to a remarkable set
of poltergeist phenomena the detailed report of which we
hope to publish in the Proceedings. Miss Clarke has reported
to me a number of psychic experiences which will find due
place in our records at the proper time. The circumstances
were such that it was not possible to make a record of the
present experience before finding the coincidence, and in
fact it is not free from the liability to suspicion from the
influence of the situation and chance coincidence. But it is
not important that it should be regarded as evidential. It
is one of those experiences which in large enough numbers
would confirm better instances or indicate the extent to
which such phenomena may occur consistently and in fact
expectedly in connection with more evidential ones.—Editor.

San Jose, Jan. 20th, 1912.

Dear Dr. Hyslop:

The morning of December 31st my mother, eighty-five years
old, in absolutely perfect health, mentally and physically, fell on
the cement floor of our basement, having in her two hands at the
time a heavy box of fruit jars. She held them safely, but came
heavily to the floor. She “ picked herself up” from this posi-
tion and walked up a long flight of stairs to our flat above, re-
fusing the assistance of our porter who was at the time working
near by. Half an hour later I came in from outside and found
her to all appearances perfectly well and active. Upon being
told of this accident, I insisted upon her undtessing and going to
bed, while I telephoned to our physician to come at once. After
he had examined her carefully he said: “ Mrs. Clarke, you have
broken no bones, but you have given yourself a terrible strain,
every nerve and muscle in your body, now you keep perfectly
quiet for a few days and let some one wait on you. He gave her
medicine to take regularly every hour or half-hour. This was
Saturday. The Doctor came twice a day and on Monday said,
“You must have a trained nurse.” Tuesday there were two
trained nurses and I assure you they were fine. Day and night
we watched her, sometimes with hope, more often with despair.
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Pneumonia set in, internal injuries and “a tremendous leakage
of the heart”. You can imagine the anxiety. Any moment she
might die; any moment she might recover. Everything profes-
sional skill could do was done. Everything was against us, her
extreme age and this fearful heart. During the eight days she
was perfectly conscious all of the time, her mind absolutely clear
and her wonderful cheerfulness and keen wit never for one mo-
ment deserted her. She had little or no pain, tho at times rest-
less and tired, and gradually she grew very weak, but never dull.
It was not necessary at any time to administer opiates.

Saturday night about half-past eight Dr. Kapp called. “ Here
you are again”, she said, her voice clear and cheerful as ever.
“Yes”, he replied, “I came like a thief in the night.” As he
continued his examinations, “ You don’t get much ”, she returned
as quickly as was her habit to banter in such terms.

At twelve o’clock that night she was unconscious for the first
time and remained so until ten Sunday morning when she ceased
to breathe.

I am writing this to you, painful as it is, because of her
great desire to convince others of the return of spirit, as she often
said: “ It is no belief, but knowledge.” So if by repeating to you
what occurred any light can be brought to exact science I shall
have carried out her supreme wish.

I had never seen any one as critically ill as she was. I had
never seen but one person die in my life. That was a darling
baby boy who quietly went to sleep.

I had the entire care of my home and the responsibility of the
thousand and one things to be done for nurses, Doctor, bells,
telephone, etc. I had no time for thinking. Every moment was
to act. That Saturday night I could not sleep. I was in and
out of the sick room all night. The nurse, a magnificent woman,
would send me to my room: “ You will need all your strength
after a while, go and sleep.” But I could not. Mother was very,
very restless. I had never seen any one die: it was dreadful, pain-
ful, and I must have shown it, tho I said not a word. As I said,
I was in and out. Once as I started from my room to go into
my mother’s room, adjoining, but not opening into it, I saw my
mother distinctly in a brown dress she had recently worn. It
is a shade of brown with that shade of yellow which in a strong
light is intensified. The dress was perfectly plain in outline and
color, also her white curls, and distinctly the narrow white ruffles
about the neck. I did not notice her face, but it was as tho she
were in the glow of a strong light, and the figure moved in a
straight line diagonally across my room above my head. For
some reason this made no impression on my mind. I did not
think of it until later. My room was dark, being separated from
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the dining-room where an electric light was burning. I came
out into this room, looked at the clock on the mantel, and it was
quarter of twelve. Then I went into the sick room which opens
from the kitchen. The nurse was there anxiously watching every
breath. Mother was very restless. The nurse kept saying: “ Go
into your room.” Then I kept going and coming. I was in the
sick room at half-past two. I was very anxious. The nurse put
her arms around me and said: “ Miss Clarke, don’t feel so badly:
your mother has not been in that body since twelve o’clock.”
It was then that, for the first time, my intelligence seemed to
awaken to what had passed through my room at quarter of
twelve, and I shall always feel that it was then that the life passed
out.
* % %k % *%x % %k %k 3k ¥ *x %k k %k X *x *x %

[Omitted portions of the letter.]
Sincerely yours,
HELEN J. CLARKE.

I obtained the following corroboration from the nurse
who is mentioned in this account.

San Jose, Calif., Feb. 7th, 1912.
Dear Sir:

Your letter received. In answer to your query I would say
that the statement Miss Clarke made to you is true.

At 11.45 P. M. the little mother seemed to have passed out
and only a mass of matter remained, but thinking it best for Miss
Clarke, I resolved to say nothing until her breathing had ceased
entirely. But at 2.30 A. M. the next morning Miss Clarke came
into the room sobbing and I endeavored to quiet her and told
her that I thought life had passed away at 11.45 P. M. She then
made the statement to me that she saw her mother-walk from
one corner of Miss Clarke’s room to the other, dressed in brown
exactly at 1145 A. M. [P. M.]

I remain,
MISS S. BLAKE.

The critic will probably observe that life was not extinct
at the time of the vision and perhaps insist that this would
be evidence of hallucination due to anxiety on the part of
Miss Clarke, and not more than a chance coincidence under
the circumstances. This view has its rights. But the chief
interest of the phenomenon is its coincidence with other cases
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in which vitality and consciousness are not contemporaneous
in their departure from the body. If the claim of some stu-
dents of this subject be true, namely, that consciousness and
vital functions are phenomena of different subjects or forms
of energy, they would not necessarily cease manifestation
simultaneously. If such a theory should ever be sustained
this incident would coincide with it.
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“SCIENCE AND A FUTURE LIFE.”
By James H. Hyslop.

When newspapers like the New York Evening Post begin
to sneer at a cause which has had thirty years’ attention by
the best intellects of the world and as many years of silence
on the part of such papers, you may be sure that some prog-
ress has been made. Papers and periodicals edited by men
of common sense long since yielded to the importance of
psychic research, but the intellectual snobs are always-the
last to see the truth, and they see it too late then to be leaders
in its clarification and dissemination. Were it not for intel-
lectual snobbery, the asthetics of the educated, that class
might rule the world better than it does. Here it is that all
aristocracies fail. Nature is democratic and will remain so
as long as taste goes before truth. The pursuit of the beau-
tiful is correct enough provided you have sought the ethical
and the true first. Otherwise it had better not be sought at
all, save as an advance on swinishness, and often then it is
only this swinishness refined. In this country the intellect-
uals were not the people who started the work of psychic
research, and for that reason the class must needs sneer at it,
forgetting altogether the democratic nature of all advances
in knowledge and conscience.

This is introductory to some remarks on the New York
Ewvening Post in which the editor had to “ take a fall ” out of
psychic research, when it was not at all necessary even to al-
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lude to it. The article was entitled “The Scientific Atmosphere”
and was apropos of a paper by Mr. Balfour at the unveiling
of a statue to Loord Bacon last July. The temper of the edi-
torial is that of Mr. Balfour’s paper and more or less identi-
fies “ science "’ with method and attitude of mind rather than
actual achievement. Then comes the following statement:

“We have heard a good deal in recent years of the ‘ bank-
ruptcy ’ of science. It is only a ‘message of despair’, we are
told, that star-eyed science wafts back to those who are craving
answers to the deepest problems of the human soul, of life
and death. There is some truth in the complaint. Science is
modest, but men of science sometimes are guilty of overweening
vanity. They have occasionally gone upon the assumption that
nothing lies deeper than the probe of chemic test, that instru-
ments of scientific precision will enable us to say exactly what
man is and what God is. But that is only to raise hopes cer-
tain to be frustrated. The attempt in our own day to ‘prove’
immortality scientifically, is but an instance of what will happen
when science forgets to be truly scientific. It gives science a
black eye at the same time that it upsets the equilibrium of many
weak brains. Science, too, must stick to its last. But within
its necessary limits, it is continually attacking and solving prob-
lems that lie close to the well-being of humanity. Nor can any
one truthfully assert that its ardor and hopefulness have been
quenched. Scientific ideals were never so high in the hearts of
students as they are to-day, nor did the great tasks still before

scientific investigation ever more powerfully appeal to more.

devoted workers for the good of their kind. Only consider, for
example, the zeal with which skilled inquirers in all countries
are giving the most laborious research to the cause and cure of
cancer. Never were there more indefatigable and, withal, more
enthusiastic investigators. Give us time, they say, and we will
grapple with and overcome this terrible disease. It is not only
the desire to benefit humanity that keeps them unflagging in
endeavor. They are buoyed up also by their profound conviction
that the scientific man is bound to win. %‘h’e very air they
breathe is filled with hope that science has yet wonderful im-
provements to make in the lot of man, and that true scientific
method is certain to go on, conquering and to conquer.” :

Soon after this date, three days, the same paper discussed
editorially Metchnikoff’s ambition to prolong human life in-
definitely or forever, and its only objection was that most of
us would not like to face such a prospect of old age, forget-
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ting that, if Metchnikoff succeeded, there would be no old
age!

Now for the examination of the above writer’s position
and the narrowness of view which it takes, and not only its
narrowness, but its purely materialistic interpretation of life.
It was not at all necessary in the discussion of scientific
method to make any allusion to psychic research or endeav-
ors to “ prove” immortality. There are other intellectual
efforts that are precisely like it in method that either get the
name of science and no criticism from editors of this type, or
have their value, and superior value whether under the agis
of science or not, and all this quite in accordance thh the
editor’s own statement of principles.

The importance of taking up this subject is simply to
clarify the “ scientific atmosphere ” about which such writers
speak and quickly run into contradictions when they do not
stop to reflect, but simply seize the first topic that occupies
public attention and yet is not, in their eyes, @sthetically and
socially respectable. The editor seems to have wholly for-
gotten what he had regarded as “ science” when agreeing
with Mr. Balfour, and then fell back on the very conception
of science which limits it to certain kinds of endeavor. We
shall see this in the sequel.

The issue precipitated by the editor is whether “ science ”
has anything to do with establishing the immortality of the
soul or a future life, as psychic researchers prefer to state it,
to avoid the quibbles of those who use the term * immortal-
ity” in a sense not the original one. The evidence of this
position is his admission that there is some justice in the
complaint that “ science” does not solve the great problem
of life and death. Then his putting quotation marks around
the word prove and his sneer at the effect of the attempt to

“prove” it on “weak brains” show what conception he
takes of the ptoblem He does not say in so many words
that “ science ” cannot “ prove” immortality, but no sane
man can put any other interpretation on his language and
position.

Now does the author see the consequences of his position?
If you cannot “prove” immortality or a future life. what
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is the situation? When there is a chance to *prove”
anything there is some ground for a belief, and this
statement does not depend upon any hard and fast defini-
tion of the term “ proof ”. In its widest meaning “ proof ”
is any evidence that tells for an assertion, no matter
how weak, when there is no counterbalancing negative evi-
dence to diminish or destroy its force. “ Proof " is thus any
evidence that determines priority of mental allegiance to a
proposition against competing influences. It may be of the
weakest and inductive kind. It does not require to be de-
monstrative. It may be the slightest degree of probability
where there is nothing to counterbalance this. On the other
. hand, the narrower import of the term is that rigid demon-
stration which makes the assertion an absolute certainty, a
belief which no man can escape accepting, or an ocular or
sense perception of facts that any man can be forced to accept
or go to the insane asylum. Anywhere between the two ex-
tremes of preferential probability and rigid certainty there is
the wide field of varying probabilities. Within the two fields
of certainty there is that of the man who can understand facts
well enough to accept a certainty which is not sensory and
that of the man who must have sensory demonstration. Now
it is the last and only the last that “ science ”, possibly, cannot
prove when it comes to immortality or a future life, and I say
possibly advisedly: for I do not think this editor or any one
else knows enough to shut out the possibilities in even this
difficult problem. The Greek would have sneered like this
editor at trolley cars, the telegraph or the telephone, and
especially at wireless telegraphy, tho he knew the properties
of amber. I do not believe this editor has the omniscience
that is necessary to lay down or insinuate such sweeping neg-
ative judgments. He has taken refuge behind a statement
that many scientific people have taken and assert without
examining their premises. They take a view of “ science”
which makes their statement a truism and then never abide
by that view of “ science ”” when they do their own work, and
the public accepts the view while assuming that ““ science ” is
the ultimate criterion of truth. Its attitude is thus wholly
negative toward the question which this very editor admits is
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important when he concedes that the complaint against the
weakness of science is justified.

There is another way to state the same general doctrine.
When we say anything cannot be “ proved ” we may mean
anything that can be included in a negative judgment of this
kind. A thing that cannot be “ proved ” may be either some-
thing that can be believed on inductive or other evidence, no
matter how slight, or something that is false or has no ra-
tional ground for belief whatever. This latter alternative
implies that immortality, if not “ provable ”, is not anything
which I can believe as a rational man. Or it may imply that
it is false, simply because the false is one of the things that
cannot be “ proved " to be true.

Now it is just this closing of the question which many
people resent. They want it at least open where the facts
show that it is open. When you say it cannot be “ proved ”,
without specially defining your “ proof ”, they wish to ques-
tion such assured dogmatism in negative judgments and to
insist on more humility and confession of ignorance where it
is known that this ignorance actually exists. If inability to
“ prove ” is taken thus it is tantamount to denial of the right
to believe, and the author’s squinting toward faith or some
other basis for belief is a piece of irrationality.

On the other hand, if it can be believed without “ proof ”,
there must either be some evidence, perhaps inductive, offer-
ing a measure of possibility or probability, or men may be-
lieve without evidence. If men may rationally believe with-
out evidence of any kind, we are in a world where it is im-
possible to get rational order of any kind. The man who be-
lieves without evidence of any kind is fit only for the insane
asylum. He may not be able always, or ever, to state his
reasons intelligently, but reasons and evidence he must have
or be assigned to a sanatorium. But if he has any facts or
evidence at all that suggest a possibility or probability, his
belief has “ proof ” of some kind, whether it be rigid or elas-
tic. It will then only remain to know what conception of
“ science” he takes to determine whether “science” can
prove immortality or not.

Now when it comes to this question whether “ science ”
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can “prove” immortality or not, taking the editor’s own
statements, I can imitate the valor of those ancient knights
who offered to joust with their opponents and to give them
the advantage of sun and wind,—to appropriate a statement
of Macaulay somewhere. If this critic had defined or re-
garded “science” as an “exact” method of demonstration
such as applies to many of the fields of physical science, with
their instruments of precision, there would be no need to
raise a question in the case. We should only want to know
from him what other method of certitude or belief he main-
tained. But he is careful to admit that “ science ” is an atti-
tude of mind or method, and that widens it enough to in-
clude every form of observation and classification of facts,
whether “ exact ” and mathematical results are obtainable or
not. He must then say whether he intends to set up any
other criterion of truth than “ science” or to abide by the
standard and meaning of the term as he defines it. In either
case he is lost, unless he frankly says there is no ground for a
belief in the matter. The religious man claims “ faith” as
his basis and the author, if he rejects “ science ” in its rigid
and “ exact ” meaning, and yet admits that there is a problem
to be solved—and he does admit it—must provide a means
for determining conviction upon it. On the other hand, if
“science ” is an attitude of mind and a method. there is no
reason to sneer at efforts to “prove” a future life. The
trouble at this point is, that most editors know just enough
to put words together, after the style of popular sclentlﬁc
men, but not enough to be logical.

I do not care what conception of “science” be taken in
this matter. The primary question is whether there is any
way to marshal facts to make any belief whatever rational,
and it makes no difference whether you call ‘it “ science ”,
philosophy, theology, religion, faith, or by any other name.
It is whether we have a standard of belief or not, no matter
what the degree of certitude may be. If you insist on that
conception of “ science ” which many physicists irisist on who
do all their work by instruments of measurement, then you
can say that there are other methods of getting the truth.
certain and probable truth alike, than “ exact science ”. and




“ Science and a Future Life.” %9

those methods would be more important than any physical
science, if the social and ethical relations of men have more
importance than mere physics. That view cannot be es-
caped, unless you mean to say that the most important truths
for mankind are limited to measuring the earth and the
stars. If there be any method of certitude other than in-
struments of experiment and the exact sciences, then you
cannot say that a future life cannot be “ proved ”. That
statement is consistent only with the limited view of “sci-
ence ” which the physicist sometimes takes, and it may even
be debated whether this consistency is a fact, when we con-
sider how many “impossibilities ” to one age have become
actual facts to the next. '
But it is the fact that the term ‘“science” has come to
mean thé primary standard of truth, as against the theolog-
ical and philosophical methods of prior ages, that makes it so
serious for what the critic admits are the important problems
of the world to be without its support. If “science” were
not actually regarded as the primary criterion of beliefs, as it
was not so regarded in the middle ages, the public mind
might be influenced by other points of view. But this is not
the case. The public mind has adopted that primacy of what
is called “ science ” and this turns it in the direction of the
men who claim to be “ scientists ", when this public wants to
know what it can believe and what is not worth while both-
ering its mind about. This is only to say that the abandon-
ment of theological standards, which, whether they ever con-
tained an element of “ science ” or not, certainly antagonized
what was called “ science ”, left the remaining alternative as
Hobson’s choice for the criterion of rational beliefs, especially
as “science ”’, or what was called so, “ proved ” its conten-
tions against the claims of theology, for example, in Coper-
nican astronomy, the rotundity of the earth, gravitation, evo-
lution, etc. In this new movement, the term *science”
stood, not for “ exact ” and mathematical methods alone, but
for the observation and classification of facts of experience.
The broader meaning of that term was the prevalent one and
only narrow minds endeavored to limit it to certain physical
methods involving only physical phenomena and unfailing
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prevision. The general public, or perhaps better, the gen-
erally intelligent mind, seized on the mental attitude which
this editor under review concedes is the true criterion of
what ““ science ” is, and placed it foremost in the determina-
tion of beliefs. That method includes the observation of even
apparently capricious and unfixed phenomena, and all resid-
ual facts in nature or mind, so that “ science ”’ came to mean
any process of collective observation of facts, whether in
mind or matter, as against the apriori speculation of the mid-
dle ages, or the hasty generalizations of that period from su-
perficial facts, whichever way you prefer to put it. In this
conception of the problem or method, “science ” is simply
critical observation as against uncritical ways. In that view
of it there is no reason why we cannot get “ proof” of a
future life, if the facts which, at least superficially, indicate it
are what they appear to be. You simply cannot play fast
and loose with the conception of “ science ", now using it in
its narrow and rigidly physical sense as ““exact” experi-
mental methods with physical instruments, to bolster up the
judgment that you cannot “ prove” a future life, and now
using it in the wider sense, which includes the possibility of
this ““ proof ”, and yet abiding by the agnostic verdict.

The editor says “science, too, must stick to its last.”
Now what is its last? Is it merely a certain mental attitude
toward any facts? Or is it physical phenomena alone, that
can be measured and give “exact” results? If it be the
former, why sneer at psychic research? If it be the latter,
why call it merely an attitude of mind and a method? Be-
tween these two horns of the dilemma you cannot escape.
Evidently the author had forgotten that he had taken the
wider view of “science” in the first part of his article, and
now he falls back on the narrower without offering any solu-
tion of what he regards as the most important problems. He
may say that it was not his business to offer any solution or
even to define “science”. Very well, then, you must not
sneer at efforts that embody the very conception of “sci-
ence ” which you admit. You can do that sneering only on
the basis of the later implied definition that you had conceded
was not true.
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Those of us who talk about “ science and a future life ”
do so on the generally accepted conception of “ science” as -
an attitude of mind toward all problems of truth. We look
at “science ”’ as the expression for the interrogation of ex-
perience rather than the acceptance of dogma and tradition.
We are taking the broad view of the subject and do not care
whether you have certitude or probability in view. It is the
observation and verification of facts in actual experience
which we emphasize as the best criterion of all beliefs, against
accepting the say-so of the past as final. If that be *sci-
ence” well: if it be not science, we would simply throw
“science ” to the dogs, if it undertook to pronounce judg-
ment on problems which it had deliberately excluded from its
domain and yet had to admit that they were legitimate prob-

lems. What we are trying to do is to apply human experi-
~ ence to a problem which has been left to irresponsible specu-
lation or to irresponsible emotion. The editor’s point of
view simply leaves a just complaint unsettled, and then sneers
at the effort to settle it, an effort that has all the credentials
that any mental or ethical endeavor has, by whatever name
you choose to call the mental attitude or method of solving
the problem.

It is in the latter part of the critic’s editorial that he ex-
poses his real view, one that shows a perfectly undigested
conception of the relation of things, a hotch-potch of con-
flicting attitudes of mind. After expressing an attitude of
mind which despairs of light on what he admits to be the
great problems, he turns to physical science for the help of
humanity and specifies the cure of cancer as an illustration of
its great tasks. Here is the place for a little scepticism which
he and his like may not be prepared to meet. If a man de-
nies a future life and if he denies the possibility of obtaining
evidence for it, on the assumption that such a thing might ex-
ist, and if he denies that there is any serious problem there for
any method of belief or knowledge, there can be no reply to
his contention except by proving the facts. But this author
admits the reality and importance of the problem and in lieu
of any effort to solve it, adopts the attitude of the rank ma-
terialist regarding it and turns to the cure of physical ills as
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the only resource of “science”. The materialist may well
say that the only thing for us to do is to cure disease and
prolong life. He has no hope of any form of existence with-
out a body and may well sneer at efforts to ascertain whether
this negative belief is so well founded as he thinks. But the
man who admits the black outlook; who admits that it is not
desirable, that the complaint against “ science ” for not help-
ing us here is just, ought to see that cure of the body may not
be the primary and most important thing for human tasks.

At this point I am prepared to be bold and to challenge
the assumptions of this editor and all “scientists ” whatso-
ever who place the primary stress on the preservation of
human life. All this passion for curing cancer and other ter-
rible diseases is based upon the assumption, largely, that there
is no other life to be had and we must prolong this one. Even
this editor thinks, as we saw above, that Metchnikoff’s ambi-
tion would only give us undesirable old age, and he might see
that possibly the cure of cancér is little better.

I am far from saying or thinking that we should not cure
disease. I concede its importance, but I do not admit that it
is half so important as something else. You cannot give it
primary importance except upon a materialistic theory. If
a man actually have a soul and personality that survives
death, that will be more important than preserving his phys-
ical welfare alone. This physical welfare can have import-
ance only as it is causally and ethically related to the trans-
physical, and you must subordinate the treatment of disease
to this higher end. There can be no dispute of this position
theoretically. It is only a question whether survival be pos-
sible or probable to determine the actual attitude which we
must take at this point.

Now let us put this bluntly and in accordance with the
facts. Most disease is due to incorrect living, no matter
whether that incorrect living be due to ignorance or vice.
Now to prevent disease without preventing ignorance and
vice is not moral at all, is not doing humanity any correct
benefit whatever. This position cannot be disputed by any
sane man. When you come to look at the actual results of
physical science,dominated by purelyphysical ideals and ends,
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especially in the field of medicine, it has tended to make men
ignore ignorance and vice and to pin their faith to medicine.
At the inception of Christianity religious and medical work
were combined. They are still so in much missionary labor.
But in the course of time the care of the soul .was handed
over to the priest or clergy without decent salaries, and the
cure of the body left to the physician with all he could make
out of the patient’s desperate desire to live at any cost. You
may talk all you please about the nobility of the medical pro-
fession and its eagerness to heal diseases. There are two
points that qualify this judgment. First, their largest efforts
are to fit themselves for the situation in which men will pay
the biggest fees. Second, they do not interest themselves so
much in moralizing men as in giving medicine. They are
more interested financially in keeping men ignorant and
vicious than in making them ethical. They can get more
money out of vice by enabling men.to escape its consequences
than in curing the vice which causes the disease. The whole
medical profession is saturated with the ideal of curing men
of disease, not of saving their souls, of preventing the conse-
quences of sin, rather than preventing the sin. If the sin
were checked there would be no use for physicians, except in
accidents. ' '

I am not indicting the profession. I know well enough
that various circumstances develop as much nobility there
as elsewhere, and it is not always the priest or clergyman
that is unselfishly devoted to saving souls. For all that I
know or care the medical profession may be better in this
respect than the clergy. But this does not conflict with the
description of a situation which makes the economic side of
the profession the dominant one, especially for those who
can succeed best in relieving the wealthy from the conse-
quences of their vices and accidents. If you want to see
what the practical situation is, look at the cases which the
physician cannot cure and simply sends off to the free hos-
pital or insane asylum to be left to the tender mercies of the
politician. It may be that nothing else can be done and that
the physician must not be blamed for the situation. But the
patients that have plenty of money do not go to the alms-
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house or asylum for lack of treatment. There are too many
cases in which the unfortunate are drained of their little
means and then left to die in the asylum without such care as
money will give. There are plenty of cases where this is not
true, but there are enough of that kind to make one think of
Heine’s savage lines:

“ Hat man viel, so wird man bald
Noch viel mehr dazu bekommen.
Aber wer nur wenig hat
Dem wird auch das Wenige genommen.

“ Aber wenn du gar nichts hat
Ach, so lasse dich begraben.
Denn ein recht zum Leben, Lump,
Haben nur die etwas haben.”

The whole drift of the medical profession in this material-
istic age is toward that situation, and it cannot be helped
without a reorganization of its methods and aims. The
clergy, with its salary, is in a better position, but then few
believe in a soul and its salvation and are not disposed to pay
for it, and the clergyman who would help men ethically is
left to do his work on starving wages, while the man who
will cure the body gets all the best fees. 'Not that he is
not subject to the struggle for existence and competition as
well as others, but the community is so saturated with ma-
terialistic ideals that it will, where it can, pay better wages
for escape from the consequences of sin than it will pay for
an escape from the sin. It wants immunity, not morality.
The physician is not there to save its soul, but to cure can-
cers!

Now if we could make men moral perhaps we should not
have cancers to cure. We might dispense with doctors alto-
gether and rely upon the wise man to tell us when we were
deviating from the law of nature. Doctors are necessary
either as teachers of morality or as means of evading its im-
peratives. If we spent a small proportion of the money on
finding out what duty was and following it that we spend to
escape the penalties involved in neglecting it, we might have
less disease. But we are more afraid of cancers than we are of
the moral law, We are all of us too much like the patient who
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got the gout from high living and then damned his physician
because the latter could not keep him in good enough condi-
tion to drink all the champagne he wanted. On a theory of
materialism the patient is right, and, unless you can get bet-
ter evidence than this editor implies is accessible for the ex-
istence of something better than a materialistic point of view,
men will take the risks of the gouty patient. They will take
the pleasures they are sure of or prefer, rather than make the
sacrifices on the possibility of consequences worse than the
gout. It is consequences always that men wish to escape,
and the worse they are the more likely they are to regulate
conduct to escape them, even if this conduct is to pay ex-
orbitant fees to the doctors. But if we cannot show that na-
ture places the stress of value on mental states beyond sense
we cannot expect mankind to accept any other standard than
that of “ nature ”’ as they see it.

All that we, who are trying to “ scientifically prove” a
future life, aim at is a fulcrum by which the moralist may lift
the ideals of men beyond a sense view of conduct. The
achievements of physical science in increasing human com-
forts and multiplying the possibilities of supporting popula-
tion do not benefit men morally in the least. They may in-
crease the interest in art and enjoyment, but not the art of
righteousness. It is another influence that does the latter,
even when we remain on the materialistic level. But any-
thing like assurance about a non-sensory or supersensible life
for consciousness must inevitably awaken interest in the
meaning of it all and the laws by which the best can be ob-
tained from such a condition. Besides the moralist will have
a fulecrum for enforcing the recognition of ideals which can
now have only an instinctive or imitative appreciation. It is
the rational life that is always the highest, and a rational life
with reference to the possibilities of a transcendental exist-
ence for consciousness cannot exist without some assurance
that such a life is a fact or probable. The existence of a soul
will be another agency in the hands of biology, physiology,
psychology and ethics to revolutionize the point of view for
understanding the phenomena of mind, and no sane man can
question this fact. He can only ask that we prove the exist-
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ence of it. But he must not sneer when we try it. He is com-
mitted to the importance of the problem and must at least
suspend judgment and extend approval to the attempt.

The Stoics did not like the ugly face of nature, but they
had fortitude. Life was hard and painful, but man could be
a hero. He was to show himself above flinching and have no
fear of death. The Epicureans, too, regarded the fear of
death as the greatest evil in the world and tried to establish
their materialistic view with the hope of overcoming that
fear. They denied immortality and counselled the same pa-
tience and resignation as the Stoic. The laws of nature were
fixed and inexorable and there was no use to fight against
them or to desire what they did not grant. But the Epicu-
reans did not reckon well with their host. The Stoics might
well teach fortitude and heroism. ~ They believed in the im-
mortality of the soul. But the Epicureans denied this and
urged the same heroism without offering the ground that
might make it rational. We all know how the nations that
believe most confidently in a hereafter make the best soldiers.
They lose nothing with their lives. The materialist loses
everything. He must fight for the prolongation of his life
here as he has no other. He increases the fear of death under
the pretext of removing it. He has no panacea for the fear
of death or the love of a sensuous life, to say nothing of a
point of view for helping the weak in the struggle for a phys-
ical existence or for the respectability which the more suc-
cessful place higher than soul culture.

Now the cure of cancer and of disease generally is not so
important as the cure of vice and sin. But the world, espe-
cially the world of medicine, lays less stress on this than on
disease. It endeavors to avoid causes and to remove effects
without considering causes as it should. Or if it heeds causes
these do not go beyond the material agencies immediately
connected with the effects it seeks to remove. It systemat-
ically ignores mental causes, spiritual causes, which should
first be reckoned with in its processes. Of course, if there
be no spiritual it is quite justified in its methods. But what
if the spiritual be a fact? Why sneer at the possibility when
some one comes along and investigates facts in the same
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mental attitude and by the same method which you praise so
in Francis Bacon and regard as of the essence of “ science "?
Why not seriously reckon with the possibility and set about a
similar inquiry or help those who are engaged in it. Sneer-
ing is easy and cheap, and it is respectable in the Clubs and
salons. Those who wear low necked dresses and swallow-
tailed coats have no better standard of intelligence than
laughing about * ghosts” or paying for entertainments by
amateur conjurers with the blissful illusion that they are im-
itating the phenomena on which some of us are serious. That
class is joined to its idols: let it alone. It rests with a differ-
ent type of people to moralize the world.

In the Metchnikoff editorial the same paper three days
later, possibly the same writer, speaking of the proclivities of
men in the face of such offers as the great chemist proposes,
says: “ In small things, as in great, men will rarely sacrifice
the self-indulgence of the moment for their own personal
good. The pleasure lover’s maxim of a short life and a
merry one has, in more philosophic times, become the under-
lying motive of modern existence. We lay stress now on the
intensity of life rather than on its duration.” As statement
of fact this may be true. It is not necessary to question it in
that view of the writer’s intention. But does he intend to
approve of this modern view as affording a safe criterion of
the path to the greatest good? What the psychic researcher
is trying to do is to get the duration, and the intensity will
not wear the soul out, as it does in the modern age. The
product of length and breadth will afford a larger result than
that of shorter time and intensity. The reason men do not
take account of the future in conduct is that théy are not sure
of it, and again to be merely sure of another life offers little
rational incentive to its important end, unless we know as as-
suredly what the causal relation between this and the next
life is. Medizeval Christianity tried to furnish this in its
doctrine of heaven and hell, but constructed them so artifi-
cially and offered such poor evidence for them that little or
no credence could be paid to them in scientific times. But
if, in supplying the fact of a future life, we can manage to
show what the ethical nexus is between this and the next we
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may have some leverage on human passions, much better
than the gout or apoplexy.

I am quite willing to meet the writer’s sneer and doubt
about “proving” survival by the flat statement that it is
proved and proved by better evidence than supports the doc-
trine of evolution, only this editor is too ignorant and too re-
spectable to know it. We are far beyond any concessions of
respect or consideration for such men. They know enough to
skim the surface of things and to report the consensus of the
world’s opinions, but they have no time to study and to think
or to weigh the mass of facts bearing upon problems like ours.
They write dogmatically on a very scant amount of personal
information. Hence there is a deference paid to their writ-
ing which is out of all proportion to their opportunities for
real knowledge. Where their influence is concerned some
attention may be paid to their writing, but there is no other
reason for intelligent people fearing or respecting their judg-
ments. Their doubts might be respectfully treated did they
not sneer. We can understand honest doubts: we had them
ourselves at one time. But after twenty-five years of such
work as that of Sir William Crookes, Sir Oliver Lodge, Pro-
fessor W. F. Barrett, Mr. Frederic W. H. Myers, Dr. Richard
Hodgson, and Professor William James, it is no time for
sneers or ridicule. It is time to think of the opportunities to
remove the complaint against science which the editor thinks
justified.

The importance of the ethical as distinct from the med-
ical and physiological aspect of the problem, especially as the
primary or only point of view, is indicated in the article on
the theories of Metchnikoff where the writer, speaking of be-
ginning to prepare for old age by taking bacillac, says:
“The author of Proverbs had long ago hit upon numerous
ways of postponing the ravages of arterio-sclerosis. The
pursuit of wisdom will do it. Fear of the Lord will do it.
Submission to reproof will do it. The practice of mercy will
doit. This is not putting it in biological terms; but the high-
est biology to-day recognizes the existence of the spiritual
factor.”

This has the right ring about it. Here the spiritual factor
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is admitted, tho it is not the metaphysical “ spiritual ” factor
which is the condition of making the term “ spiritual ” valu-
able at all. However that may be, it is the ethical factor
that is assumed here, and that can never be made perfectly
effective until we can make clear and assured the conse-
quences of ignoring it. There will, perhaps even then, be
persons who will follow the pleasure of the moment and not
take consequences into account, but there will also, as now,
be many who will know what to reckon with and will adjust
life and conduct to meet the situation. Wherever there is an
ideal or a will to accept the law of nature as a correct guide
it will be only a question of what that law is to secure easy
obedience. But in default of knowing what it is, no sense of
obligation can be expected. It is knowledge we want, and
not mere blind faith.
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-EXPERIMENTS CONTINUED.
By James H. Hyslop.
IX, My Wife and Father-in-law.
1. Introduction.

The incidents purporting to come from my wife and my
father-in-law are exposed to the same criticism as those of
my father, except that much less had been said publicly about
them in any printed work of the Society. I had referred, in
“Science and a Future Life” to my wife and to both my wife
and my father-in-law in Volume IV of the Proceedings and
also in Volume I. But there was not much said or reported
of them there. Nothing that was said has been repeated
here, and the importance of the incidents will depend wholly
upon the security which I have given the case of Mrs. Chen-
oweth by proper experiments, and upon the nature of the
incidents. As I have dismissed the theory of fraud from
the case, I need not say more on that score. Besides I need
not press their evidential value beyond demanding that the
sceptic do his own investigating, if he chooses to question
the importance of these incidents. I simply affirm that they
are evidential for me, knowing as I do the circumstances un-
der which they were obtained and will only assure the sceptic
first that I have tested the case with absolute strangers and
by types of facts that could not be normally explained. What
I further assert here is that the nature of many of the facts is
such that no amount of fraud could secure them except at an
expense many hundred times the fees given, and since the
psychic could do the work with entire strangers it were use-
less to waste funds when the facts could be obtained without
expense.

However, I make these remarks, not because of any
doubts about the value of the facts, but merely to show that
I recognize the critic’s position and will only ask for fair con-
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sideration of the facts and the circumstances under which
they were given. Many of them cost me difficult inquiries
to verify them, and communication with persons at a dis-
tance hardly even known by some of the near relatives.
Some of them were known only to myself and names could
not possibly be obtained from any one else. Consequently I
consider them sufficiently protected to justify the challenge
for investigation where my own judgment cannot be ac-
cepted. I do not require to give them any other importance.

2. Incidents.

My wife seemed to be only an intermediary until late in
the series of experiments occupying this Report. There was
no pretense for a long time to any attempt at proving her
own identity, and when it did come it was in connection with
her own father. At the first sitting that I held with Mrs.
Smead for reaching Professor James, she seems to have ap-
peared in connettion with an effort to have something said
with reference to my brother Robert, an effort that was
rather abortive. Nothing more came than enough to reveal
her intermediation and the possible presence of my brother.
This was on September 12th, 1910.

The next allusion to her was on October 28th’ by Mrs.
Chenoweth and in a perfectly incongruous relation. Refer-
ence was made to a Gussie connected with my younger days,
whom I found to be still living, and of whom my wife never
heard, and I was asked if my lady knew her. I parried the
query until I could find who was meant. Suddenly the in-
cidents related to this Gussie ceased and the following came,
not evidence of personal identity, but of the supernormal, and
of which I have no assurance even that it was done by her.
Only it was associated with an allusion to her a minute before,
and the statement that “ your wife told it.”

“ Oh dear! What a rainbow! You got a lovely rainbow this
summer. You called out your * * . Your wife told it.
You were looking at it and the hills and called the children to
look at it. It was very brilliant and looked like circles around
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Saturn. Perhaps the reference is to that * * circles like a
rainbow.” : :

. I spent the summer in the mountains of New Hampshire.
Mrs. Chenoweth knew this, but she knew nothing of the fact
that a remarkable rainbow had been witnessed by all of us
and had beén the subject of remark by us at the time. I
called the attention of my children to it, as it was so unusual.
Owing to the relation between the sun and the falling drops I
got the effect, for the first time in my life, of eccentric circles
in the rainbow, so that the comparison here ventured is a
good one.

The next reference to her-was on November 19th. It
was in the subliminal recovery from the trance. The follow-
ing came.

“ Do you smell pinks? '(No.) They are in your-wife’s hands.
She liked carnations. Did you know it?

(I don’t recall.) :

She did. She didn’t make much fuss over anything.”

I do not remember anything about her taste for carna-
tions, tho it is quite probable. She was not at all fussy about
her likes-and dislikes and this would prevent my discovering
in many cases what her special taste was. Mrs. Chenoweth
could not possibly know the facts.

No further notice of her occurred until January 23rd,
1911. On this date she was referred to as having accom-
panied a communicator to the Burton experiments. There
had been evidence of her presence there, not known to Mrs.
Chenoweth, but no trace of a friend with her, at the sittings
in mind, tho at earlier ones there was a trace confirmed by
allusion through Mrs. Chenoweth both to the fact and the
name of the person who so accompanied her.

In the subliminal approach of the trance on April Tth,
1911, she was referred to, but without evidential accompani-
ments.

On May 4th, in the normal state, the following came very
clearly indicating on any theory who was meant.
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“ Do you know any one called Mame?

(Yes, see if you can tell who it is?) )

It is a spirit you know, I think, because I hear it directly from
the spirit. Some one says: ‘ Where is Mame?’ The spirit seems
some one you knew. I see slender white nimble fingers like as
if they ran up and down on the paper, as if playing the piano
[imitating this movement with her own fingers.] She is not
nervous, but they are slender. Does that have anything to do
with her?

" (Yes.) Was she a piano player? (Yes.) Was she Ger-
man? (No.) '

I hear some little German sentence like Ich leiben * *
[schuct?] Is that German? (Yes.) Ich leiben * *
[schlucht?] That is not right. The words that follow sound
like ‘schnucht’ or ‘schnuckle’. That is the nearest I can get
to it.

(Get it if you can.)

I see a little ‘u’ with two dots over it in the middle of the
word. It follows ich leiben [pause.] schnuckle. I think it is
asong. * * * * . What does leiben mean, love or life? 1
mustn’t. I get to thinking. Do you know?

(‘Leiben’ is not quite right, but I know what is intended.)

All right. I am glad. But I get no more. Don’t you know
whether it is a message or a part of a song? I heard it after I
saw these fingers that play.

I see one thing more. I can’t see the face of the woman, but
I see a slender body as from the waist line to the neck, a plain
little waist and rather slender. There is a sudden movement as
if tired and wanted exercise and was tired of one position and she
stood up and moved about. I'm going.” .

My wife was called Mame in her own family always. She
was an excellent player on the piano. She knew the German
language well. Mrs. Chenoweth does not know it at all, only
a few words of it. What was trying to get through I am not
certain. It was a long time before I was able to ascertain
the meaning of this reference to “ Ich leiben”. I had sup-
posed that “schucht ” and other confused efforts at a Ger-
man word were distorted attempts at Schubert and that “ Ich
leiben ” was an attempt to mention some one, of his songs,
knowing that Mrs. Hyslop was very fond of his songs. But

"many months later my daughter was playing something on
the piano that seemed familiar to me and I asked her what it
was. The song was “Ich liebe Dich,” by Grieg. My wife
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was very fond of this piece and of Grieg. But the descrip-
tion of the slender woman and hands does not fit my wife.
It would fit one of her intimate acquaintances in Germany.
But I do not know whether this person is dead or not.

On May 6th my wife was apparently helping another
to communicate and the communications were suddenly
switched to herself. It was the following that came and pos-
sibly was an attempt to make clearer the message which I
have just explained.

“Do you know any one by the name of Miller or Muller?
(Not now.) Some:such name as that and now I see a D. I
think it is the name of a place. Was your wife in a place be-
ginning witha D?

(I do not recall, but where did she meet this Addie?) [An
Addie had been mentioned a little before.]

It is a school I think and there are many others about. Do
you know anything about Dresden? (Yes.) Was your wife
there? (Yes.) I think this girl is from there as I see scenes
and incidents that suggest the place now that I have the name.
It all came so gradually that I did not know where I was. There
is much that is connected with that life which is at home she
tells me. Do you know about that?

(What home?) _

Your home. (Yes.) Have you photographs? (Yes.) It
seems as if the children never tire of those photographs and talk
about the place and of what happened and dream of going there
sometime. There is a reason for it in a way. Now what does
Stiittgart mean to you.

(It means nothing to me, but it probably means much to
Mary.) '

I gave it as it came. She says her time is coming soon and
she wants to get a word or two in, in anticipation of her trial.”

I know little of my wife’s particular friends in Germany,
but there was one by the name of Meyer, not Miller or Mul-
ler, whom she knew in Leipsic. I do not know whether
Dresden was connected with that friendship or not, but it is
quite possible that they visited Dresden together. There is
no way to settle that question, as I have no means now of
finding out. My wife spent a considerable time of her vaca-
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tions twice in Dresden. If the school mentioned be the Con-
servatory of Music in Leipsic it is very pertinent in this con-
nection, as my wife was there for five years and she roomed
with this Meyer family when she first went to the Conserva-
tory.

She got a lot of pictures, or cartoons, not photographs,
called “ Die Bosen Buben ”” and they were the delight of her
children. They never tired of looking at them. We had
photographs of Dresden, but the children either knew little
about them or were not especially interested in them.” \Vhat
Stiittgart has to do with the situation I do not know. My
wife probably visited the place and I do not know where she
got the pictures mentioned. If they were made in Stiittgart
this fact would explain the reference to it.

On May 12th, in connection with my father, there came
the following which identified my father-in-law.

“There is with your father to-day another man who stands
in the same relation to your children as he does, and he is very
eager to say a few things and your father seems eager to help
him. Have you a father-in-law over here? (Yes.) He is very
kind and courteous and rather quiet but firm in his opinions.
That much you probably know. (Yes.) Do you know any-
thing about an earlier home of his? He seems to have had two
homes. I mean an earlier one that was somewhat removed from
the place where he passed away. Do you know about that?

(Just the fact of it is all I know.)

In that earlier home there was more freedom than in the later
one. I mean a freedom as of one on his native heath. Do you
know what I mean?

(Yes, go on.)

The latter part of the life the changes which had come some-
how made him often think of the other life which he left when
he was comparatively a young man, but it was business interests
which brought him away I think. Am I right?

(So far as I know, but I shall inquire.)

He seems to be striving to recall some incidents. Do you
know anything about some silver. It looks like family silver
as if it had been a long time in the possession of the family.
Do you know about it.

(That will have to be more definite.)

Let me see if I can describe it. It looks like a tall piece of
silver like a pitcher or something of that sort and it is quaint



96 Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

and unusual and seems to be in your home now. Did Mary have
some silver that was passed along from the family?

(I think so, but shall have to look. I do not recall anything
like a pitcher.)

I may be wrong as to its use, but it is rather tall and may be
a coffee or tea pot or something of that sort and here I see some
flat pieces as if they were marked with the original names. They
are not used often, but are among Mary’s things, spoons they
look like. ‘

This old gentleman is rather fussy about what he wears. He
is not so particular about the style or the care, but they must
be what he likes and he uses about the same kind of goods and
style for a long time as I see him here. I see his waistcoat very
much wrinkled like one worn by a man who sat a great deal and
did not sit up straight. He is very fussy about collars. They
must be just his kind and while he has notions he is not notional.
Do you know what I mean? (Yes.) Did he have a good deal
of trouble with his feet before he went away?”

There followed further reference to the trouble with his
feet and his sitting with a cane between his knees and poking
about with it, which seems to have been true, but not spe-
cially characteristic or any life habit. The widow did not
know of it, but a niece did.

My father-in-law was a very kind and courteous man.
He had an earlier home than the one in which I knew him
and what is said about that is exactly true, and too personal
to be explained. It was when he was a young man, and busi-
ness brought him away from it.

My wife had a silver tea set which came from her mother.
The tea pot is a tall one and looks very much like a pitcher.
I had wholly forgotten this affair at the time of the sitting,
as the set was put away after my wife’s death in 1900. She
also had a lot of silver spoons marked with the original
names. They were not used much in her life time, tho often
on the table, as we had purposely obtained others for the
wear and tear of daily use.

My father-in-law’s habits and tastes about dress are very
accurately stated. The distinctions in the use of terms are
so correct as to make one wonder how any such information
could possibly be extracted from him, especially in the form
in which it comes. He sat a great deal and his waistcoat
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was much wrinkled. He was not fussy about his collars, but
he was fussy about his coat collars. This I learned from his
widow. I did not know it. I also learned from her the de-
tails about his attitude toward his clothes in general, I know-
ing it only toward the style.

He had considerable trouble with his feet before passing.
1did not know that this was considerable, only that there was
some trouble. It was also stated that he had trouble with his
eyes, but there is no confirmation of this incident.

There followed a long communication, with a number of
important incidents which I must summarize. The first was
to “a woman leaning over him as if she were in the same
group, not Mary, but Mary’s people,” and immediately there
came :—

“1 suddenly see a bed and this man in it and I see the leg
and foot swollen and very red, not just a lame leg, but some in-
flammation and pain in it and some attention has to be given to it.

[I here thought of my grandfather on my mother’s side who
died from trouble in the leg and his home was in the country
and without conveniences.]

This does not seem to be in a country place. If it is, it is
where there are all the modern conveniences and everything
done for the comfort of this man.”

The nurse had been as one of the family for several
years and it was her habit to attend to his wants all the time.
She had to rub his inflamed feet and legs a great deal. It
was in the city with all modern conveniences, and not in the
country. The reader should notice how the mind reading
occurs and is disregarded, I having to learn some of these
facts from his wife while I knew those of my grandfather
well.

Immediately following this message was an allusion to
an “ Uncle or Grandfather in Mary’s family ” and of course
it was implied by the association that he might be the person
intended. This was not correct. She had an Uncle by mar-
riage who died from cancer not many years previously and
the name of his son, William J., who had married my wife’s
niece, was given. A capital H. was also given that is not
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recognizable. I was then asked if my wife died before her
father and I replied in the affirmative. Then came a long
message, beginning with a reference to “ a slight illness and
then a rather unexpected death ”’, which might have applied
more clearly to his sister a few years before, but in general
terms fitted himself, and it was definitely referred to him.
The confusion was admitted and then came the following:

“ Was there a nurse for the father of Mary? (Yes.) 1 se€
this nurse trying to ease some pain and working about and ex-
pecting the death, but before this occurred there was a hope of
better conditions. I don’t know just what it is, but I think per-
haps the old gentleman himself did not expect or know he was
dying. Was he unconscious at last?

(I believe so.)

That may explain all this which I call unexpected, for when
one dies in a comatose state, if I have the right word, there is
sometimes a great surprise when the consciousness is regained in
the spirit life and that is probably what is making trouble for us.

I see some one left who had charge of some things and the
settlement of the estate.

(Yes, who is that?)

Wait and I will see. I see a man and he is talking with you"
about something. Was there anything you were concerned in,
in connection with that?

(Tell me all about it.) i

It seems like certain rights or inheritances or something like -
that and I see papers and plans and some conditions which, in
a way, affect you and yours. There was some time to elapse
before the final settlement, but looks as if something was done
now all right and to his satisfaction. Do you know anything
about this?”

I replied in the affirmative and some further statements
were made with reference to this executor, some not accurate
and one true, namely, that he was still alive.

The account of the death is quite accurate. The nurse
had to give constant attention to easing his pain and the man
lived in persistent hope that he would get better and only
awakened to the fact of coming death a few days before the
passage, tho he had been ill two months. He died in a coma-
tose condition.
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It was very pertinent to refer to his property in this con-
nection, as there was much haste to settle certain matters in
that respect the last few days, matters which he had post-
poned. All such affairs were carefully viséd or prepared by
this executor to whom he refers and it was something in
connection with this nurse that made the association to the
“ inheritances ” so natural. He had long before fixed the
papers that related to my children, and some time was to
elapse before they came into their rights. He was perplexed
at times about the proper disposal of his property, but he was
perfectly satisfied at the end with what he had done.

The next message begins with a statement that will show
what I mean about the naturalness of the association men-
tioned, tho I shall not be able to explain details, and which
shows that some one else is also concerned with the mes-
sages.

“ He is not alone in his plans. There is another influence at
work and that is not always for the best for you or yours, but
you must have taken an independent stand and that brought
matters to a head. Do you know about that?

(Explain definitely.)

It seems as if there had to be some plans and agreements
between you in some way and after awhile you were very plain
and outspoken and then things went better. It was that which
pleased the old gentleman, for he was surprised and troubled at
the outcome after his death. You I think know about that.

(Explain more fully.) [I had in mind a communication
through Mrs. Smead which was very pertinent in this connec-
tion.

I]will do the best I can. It was a plan to be carried out which
was understood, but not passed on legally I think or something
of that sort: for the old gentleman expected to have certain
things done which looked at one time as if they would not be
done, but were eventually settled. Is this anywhere near the
situation?

(Yes, but it is not what I had in mind. 1 thought of a certain
thing he told me after his death.)

I cannot seem to get much more from him, but let me tell
you one thing I know. I see a long mantelpiece and a large
mirror over it and some ornaments like a clock and a few choice
[things] in that room, and a body waiting for burial service.”

A rather large history is crowded into this short passage.
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tho it may seem long to the reader. I cannot make public
the facts which show the point to the remark about “ another
influence at work and that is not always for the best for you
and yours ”, and the independent stand referred to me also
points to facts I cannot tell: for they are too personal. The
allusion to his surprise and trouble after his death brought
to my mind the communication through Mrs. Smead to have
his will changed in behalf of my work, which he had done all
he could to prevent and discourage. But I am not sure that
he had this in mind at all, tho it might well have been so be-
cause the next statement is perfectly related to it. I never
asked him for help, but he knew what I was seeking in the
way of endowment. The “ plan to be carried out and. not
passed on legally ”, etc., represents a complicated story and
is true. It was known only to me and his executor. He had
much difficulty in getting it settled, fearing at one time that
it would not be. The details are too personal to narrate.

There was a long mantelpiece in the sitting room where
the body lay waiting for the burial service. But there was
no mirror over it. The mirror was over a small table and on
the table was an ornament in clay much like a clock. There
was a clock and a few plain ornaments on the mantelpiece.

In the subliminal recovery there came the following, ap-
parently from my wife, and certainly connected with her.

“ Did you ever go to the beach, Dr. Hyslop? (Yes.) I see
a great stretch of water like the ocean and a beach, and did you go
there with your wife? (Yes.) Because I seem to see you with
her. She loves the ocean and loves water. I see these little
white sail boats just before the motor boats came. It is grand
and beautiful.

(Where was this?) [Thinking of Atlantic City.]

It don’t seem to be here around Boston. It seems a different
coast, a different place, unfamiliar to me. Such a quiet beautiful
place. There is quite a lot of rocks around. I see rocks at low
tide stretching into the water, but it is a good beach just the
same. But I see a dark place like sea-weed and a higher place
looking off. You climb up and look off for pleasure.

(Where was that?) [Thinking of a beach in England.]

The beach? (Yes.) I don’t know. I can’t tell you now.
I will try and tell you to-morrow. Do you know anything be-




Ezxperiments Continued. 101

ginning with B.? ~ (Yes.) ‘It seerns that is it. Isn’t it a funny
name. (Yes, tell it.) Is there a Z in it. (No.) Wait till to-
morrow.” ' ’ o

'There was no effort to give it the next day. But my wife
and I had been together at two beaches, one Atlantic City,
only for a fewdays, and there were no rocks there or outlook
of any kind. We spent a summer at a beach on the shore of
Connecticut and there was a certain place there of which she
was very fond where there was a little cove into which the
water came between the rocks, and into which small quanti-
ties of sea-weed often came. We used to climb upon the
rocks to watch the waves. At low tide there were some
rocks exposed that were covered at high tide. My wife was
very fond of the water, in both senses, and preferred the
beach to the mountains.

B is not the proper initial of this beach, tho it is the initial
of the last part of it. However she had visited a beach in
England beginning with that initial, but I was not with her.
This was long before we were married. I do not know that
Z has anything to do with it, unless as the initial of the name
of her music teacher in Leipsic, whence she went to the beach
in England. This is probably too far fetched, however, to
urge as more than a possible apology for confusion.

On April 13th my father-in-law returned with another
communicator and began with the following:

“'The old gentleman of yesterday’s sitting went away feeling
a little better, but not as if he had done as well as your own
father. We told him he had not the same experience and there
was not the same intimate relation between him and you, nor the
same bond of physical and material sympathy. All these things
count.

He is here to-day with another lady. I say another in distinc-
tion to Mary who was helping him yesterday. Do you know
if he had a wife in the spirit when he went away? (Yes.) This
is his wife who is here to-day and she is most beautiful and has
a wonderful spiritual element about her. You do not seem to
know so much about her as she does about you: for she has
watched you from this side and there is a tenderness in her heart
for all you have been through with the little ones in your care and
for all the good and beautiful life which was yours with Mary.
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You will understand this interpolation I know. (Yes.) It
was impossible to leave it out even in the midst of other evidence.

I see a shawl. It is thrown around this lady and was once
hers, and had some specific value and was left. It is still in the
family and I do not know just who has it, but I think another
lady who was close connected with Mary. She is the wife of
someone who has more or less to do with the affairs. Has Mary
a brother or brother-in-law? ”

I asked for a little more specific information and reference
was made to the wife of this person, saying she had the shawl,
and then I was asked if the “ father-in-law did not live with a
younger man and woman who would stand in that relation
to him.” It was then said, on my admission of the fact, that
this was why the shawl was there and that it was of no special
value, but was said to have belonged to my wife’s mother.

My father-in-law’s first wife was dead, and my wife had a
half-brother, no brother-in-law, who was married and for a
time the two stayed with their father. I know nothing about
the shawl mentioned, but learned that my wife’s mother had
several, but this half-brother’s wife did not get them and no
one remembers anything about the facts save as told. My
father-in-law’s sister had a lace shawl of some value which
was left to my children and we have it now. There was an-
other important shawl in the family of which my father-in-
law knew well, but that has not been passed on as yet. The
message is not clear, and is without evidential significance,
but interesting for its confusion and error.

Allusion was then made to a brooch said to have belonged
to another lady now in the spirit world and it was said to be
a “ gold brooch, old-fashioned and of repoussé work”. My
wife’s Aunt had a number of brooches, but this particular
one cannot be identified. Then came the following:

“Do you know an Aunt that Mary was exceedingly fond
of w::o took the place of her mother in a degree, after her mother’s
death?

(Yes, tell about her and give name.)

I will do what I can. There is such a love existing between
the three as if the Aunt were the mother’s sister. Is that true?
(Yes.) And there is much sadness when this one passes away.
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You know about that also. (Yes.) Who is the M in the con-
nection. Do you know?

(Yes, go ahead.)

And again do you know anyone who begins with H? It
sounds like Hattie or Harriet. Do you know that one?

(I am not sure.)

To return to the M. I think that is the beginning of the
Aunt’s name, for there is a title before the M.

(What title?)

Like Aunt. You must wait just a moment for I have two M’s
and another letter here altogether. Mary and Ma [pause.] r
[pause.] y. Are there two Marys? (Yes.) One is the Aunt
Mary. Or is that the mother. (The Aunt.) All right. When
you did not say ‘Yes’ I thought I must have made a mistake.
But I see your method. You want to be sure of what I say.

(Exactly.)

This Harriet was often called Hat, for I hear the name very
clearly. These three women are very happy together and it is a
day of joy for them to come with the father and try their hand
‘at the work. Do you know a J in connection with them. I see
lt‘h;le le;ter and then I see John. Who is Uncle Joe? Do you

ow

(Yes, Uncle Joe was mentioned the other day, not a connec-
tion of them.)

Yes, I somehow feel that I must get at something else.”

My wife’s Aunt Mary was her mother, practically, after
her own mother’s death. My wife was very fond of her. I
never knew her or saw her and only know from my wife’s
statements about her what the facts were. The Harriet or
Hattie was the wife of a cousin of my father-in-law and she
died many years ago. I never saw or heard of her except
through this source and from a relative in confirmation of
this message.

It was remarkable to see the dxﬁiculty in getting the name
of the Aunt Mary. There has never been any trouble with
my wife’s name since it was first gotten, and in this situation
you would have expected it to come easily. But it gives the
usual difficulty with proper names, tho Hattie does not! The
reader can see behind the scenes in the psychological process
where the two M’s are mentioned, and the difficulty comes
with the name of the Aunt and not with that of my wife, both
the same! The initial of my wife’s mother did not come.
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When J was written I read it “ 1" without correction, think-
ing that it was the initial of my wife’s mother. But the com-
pletion of the name John so soon showed that it was J. This
is the name of the man who died with a cancer and was a
relative of the three persons mentioned.

I interrupted the communications for the notes thus
made. They continued without break as follows, and appar-
ently from my wife: _

“Do you know anything about an old square piano, one of the
long family kind which was in the old home?

(Whose home?) Mary’s. (Yes.) It was one she used to
practise on and I see both the Aunt and the other laugh as that is
referred to. .

(Yes, tell something about another plano )

Just a minute. I must finish this. First there was a cover
to it. I mean a cloth with a little fancy edge to it and I see it.
as I see Mary sitting there. The other one you refer to is, I
think, in another house and is much more beautiful and better
toned. It seems to be of same particular kind which Mary liked.
It is one in your own home which I refer to. Yours and Mary's
home.

(Yes, go on. )

And it was a great pleasure when that one came. She was
enthusiastic over music and when that piano came I see her touch
it as tenderly as if it were a baby and the tears come in her eyes
for very joy, and there is a turning as if you were in the happiness
also. - Do you know about this?

b (‘;Yeg, and take up the idea suggested by the comparison with
a ba

I don’t know as I quite get it, but I will try. It is some sort
of an occasion. Perhaps I may get more of your thought than
hers, but I want to get hers. .I see a bed and I am up-stairs and
come down. Was this piano given after a sickness.

(No.) Better let it drop now, for I am not steady in the
subject. (Whatwas ....) [Question unfinished.]

You mean it was a baby grand.  (Right.) Just as soon as I
got away from the baby suggestion of sickness and all that sort
of thing which I thought you meant I got her laugh and then
the words, “ Baby Grand.”

In my wife’s old home was an old and long square plano
on which she practised as a child. She did not like the piano
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and that was probably the reason a new one was gotten after
our marriage. The old one had a cloth cover, with lace
edges, which was probably mentioned to distinguish it from
the cover of her own which was rubber. The new one
was bought a few weeks after our marriage and was a very
fine toned one. Indeed this was the characteristic of it which
pleased her so much, and when it came, she being passion-
ately fond of music, “ enthusiastic ”, as indicated, her joy
knew no bounds. Tears often came to her eyes as she would
play it and she handled it so “ tenderly ” that I was scarcely
allowed to lay hands on it. I was no musician. It was a
“Baby Grand ”, a Steinway. She would have no other kind.
This is probably what was meant by the reference to * a par-
ticular kind.” ' _

The first answer to ' my question has a curious coincidence
i it, as well as a curious relation to the control’s fear of mind
reading. The reader will see that I was far from thinking of
a birth, as is apparently the meaning of the allusion to sick-
ness. But we lived on the fifth floor of an apartment house,
probably what was meant by “ up-stairs ”’, and after the birth
of the first two children, I took them to the piano, when about
two weeks old, to test them for sound reflexes, and had to
walk, not down-stairs as apparently implied, but down a hall
to reach the piano. If there is any relic of these incidents,
however, in the facts I am inclined to think that there is also
a relic of the memories of her mind when examining the
piano at Steinway’s, where she went up-stairs. But I can-
not be sure of either of these. v

Without interruption, except for the omission of a failure
to answer my question about the person who went with her
to get the piano, the communications continued.

“ Do you know anything about a picture of a child. It looks
almost like a fancy picture, a rather large painting with a tree
and a child for the ground and a very old style of work but a good
picture. I return to the old piano and the room where that was,
and I see this picture, as if it had-always been there. I mean it
1s a part of the furnishing of that room. Do you remember it.

(No, but I can find out.)

You have none like it.
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(I may have and shall look it up. I am so busy with this
work that I remember little else.)

The sad story of the one idea man. (Yes.) It is pitiful but
true, but remember that your halo is growing and that may
reconcile you to your loss. Did Mary like Shakespeare?

(I am not certain.) ”

- The old home of her father was sold soon after his death
and all the furnishings of the house were removed. But in
the parlor, opposite that old square piano, was an oil painting
of Charlotte Corday, looking through her prison bars. She
and this prison bar occupied the foreground and were the im-
portant features of the picture. She looked a young girl.
Possibly the reference to a tree was an association of
another oil painting just over the piano which was a land-
scape scene, but without any child in it. . At the sitting I
did not suspect that the Corday picture might be meant, and
so thought of another painting of herself as a child, but it was
without any tree or landscape scenery in it.

My wife never betrayed the slightest evidence of interest
in Shakespeare. I doubt if she ever read a play of his. But
she had a finely illustrated edition of Longfellow of whom
she seemed to be fond.

There followed this communication one purporting to
come from my father-in-law about the children’s visits to
him. It contained nothing evidential, and some quite ap-
parent touches of customary ideas of such visits. After this
reference was made to a boy cousin younger than my boy,
and then a reference to a Fred connected with my wife.
There was no boy cousin of that age. He is older than my
boy and has been away. As stated also his growth has been
mostly since my wife’s passing. The Fred is the name of an
old friend whose sister was a special friend of my wife. Then
came an account of my stay in the Adirondacks to recover
my health, with the alleged presence and help of my wife
after her death. No evidential value can be attached to it,
as this stay is a well known fact, tho it is quite possible that
the reference to the incident is supernormal. Immediately
following this incident came a most important message.
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“I see on her finger a ring. She wore few jewels, but this
ring seems to have been worn for years and years. I think it
was one which belonged to some one else. It is very plain and
simple and may have belonged to her mother. It is more like
that than anything else. Do you know anything like that?

(I think I do. I remember the ring and shall refresh my
memory.) ’

She showed it to me as if it might be significant, and now
she shows me a very warm long garment which was to wear out-
side. Did she ever play or sing? It is play, I think, in public.

(I am not sure, but will find out.)

public or concert. I see this heavy warm garment, as if it is
a loose and comfortable article, and one she wore a great deal.
It reminded me of a warm wrap to wear outside some lighter
weight clothes. Do you know about a long garment of this sort
with fur on it?

(That’s right.)

She always thought so much of that garment and it is still
in existence. It almost seems as if there had been talk or plan
to use it for someone, and each time that plan had been dis-
carded. Is it not a garment which can be used sometime by
the girls? (Yes.) That is the reason it has been kept and not
made over or used. You understand.”

Besides her engagement and wedding rings, my wife had
one other plain ring which came to her, I think, from her
mother. She did not care for jewelry of any kind except as
a necessity. :

She had a fur-lined cloak which she obtained in Germany
when she was at the Conservatory and used it constantly
there when attending the public concerts. She appeared
once in a public concert in Germany. The cloak has been
kept and put away for one of the children. I do not know
of any discussion about its use, but it is more than probable,
as the same question was gone over as to a short sealskin
sack and debated, when it was otherwise disposed of.

On May 18th reference was made in connection with my
wife to an Arthur and a woman in the West, but they are not
recognizable. Then came the message:

“With Mary I see a woman who has a small box or writing
desk in her hand. It is a portable one and seems to have belonged
to Mary when she was younger, but it is a fancy arrangement. I
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mean it is not plain wood, seems of some light color with flowers
or figures on it. Do you know anything about that? It was,
I think, a gift and was much prized.”

I remember a small wooden writing desk to hold in the
lap, which belonged to my wife. It had ornamental figures
or flowers cut in it. I do not know what has become of it.
It may have been put away, but I do not know. Nor do I
know whether it was a gift, but this is probable from the fact
that she neither needed it nor used it after our marriage.

There followed this incident a long message about two
dresses, one a light grey with “ fancy trimming of lace ” on it,
and a black silk, both of which she had, but there was con-
fusion in the statements about what she was buried in, and
no one now recalls the facts. Then came the following:

“1 see a wide piazza with a few steps from it and then a broad
step and a turn toward the street and two or three more steps
down. This piazza is on a light colored house and in a smaller
town where the most of the houses are of wood like suburban
houses.

(What was this one?)

This is of some harder material, for I see some gray stone
at the bottom, as if a heavy foundation were there for a heavy
building, and I see a lady come down those steps and walk up the
street and away. There is a very large building with many
windows like a factory or public building of some kind which I
see as I walk with this lady up the street. I seem to look across
somewhere and see this building.”

This was followed by a reference to a railway bridge and
a river and the statement that this was a “ place where Mary
used to be”. I asked for more definite description of the
house, but nothing came definitely enough to justify quota-
tion in full.

The family had a suburban home in a small place where
nearly all the houses were frame or wood. Theirs was stone.
It was not what I should call light colored, but a dark gray
bordering on black. It had a wide piazza on it and was on a
terrace, which seems to be implied by the reference to steps
to the street, which there were. But other incidents are not
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very accurate. There was a large factory near, but not vis-
ible from the place, and a railway passed near and over a
river by a bridge. At this point I wanted to start some as-
sociations, and put a question with the following results:

“(I wish she would tell when 1 was there and all about as-
sociated incidents.)

[Pause.] I am only waiting for the picture. There comes
in connection with it a picture of a foreign land and a large
building where many people come and go all the time and the
building is near a large arch. This is a set of public buildings in
a square or section where study and work is going on and it is
so high and lofty. Yes it looks like a foreign University. Did
you ever go to a University abroad?

(Yes.) Did you ever go to H.? It looks like H. (Heidel-
berg?) I do not know. Were you ever at Heidelberg?

Is it not very high. The most prominent building with a sort
of square tower on it.

(I do not know. Let that pass I only mentioned it to bring
out associations.)

Well to return, I see this place which is a home in America
had something to do in point of time with a trip to a University
abroad. I connect the two as if there were an association be-
tween the two.

(Yes.)

Just a moment. I am trying to see some other thing. Do
you know any one by the name of Eliza? (Yes.) Who was alive
at the time? (Yes.) I wonder why that name was dropped in.
It may have an indirect association. I do not know. I see an-
other thing across the water which is strange. It looks like a
combination of rocks and as if they were formed into a fountain
or something of that sort. The rocks are all damp as if water
was around them. This is near the buidings which I first saw.
Do you know about that?

(No, I do not.) ”

I met my wife when I was at the University of Leipsic
and when she was at the Conservatory. When she returned
I met her at the docks and a few days afterward visited her
at this suburban home. It was pertinent to refer to the Uni-
versity in this connection, tho Heidelberg was wrong, and
apparently the description might. in some respects, fit Leip-
sic university and Augustus Platz: for the Aula was a higher
building than some others. I do not remember a fountain
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in the square, but it is possible. However the description is
not very accurate and is not identifying. Moreover the
whole incident is not assuredly indicative of what I wanted,
and only the reference to a university suggests a hint of the
right associations."

After some attempt and failure to name the beach referred
to earlier, she mentioned her watch and a long chain, saying
she had had two watches, and that one “is not large nor yet
exceedingly small, but is a good size” and that it is being
kept for the children. This is perfectly correct. It is a
watch much larger than the usual lady’s watch and smaller
than a boy’s watch. It was an excellent one. The second
watch was said to belong to her younger days, but cannot be
verified. It was said that the first was a gift. This is true,
and some other incidents mentioned about its purchase can-
not be verified. The statement that it is not in use is cor-
rect.

On May 25th, in the subliminal approach of the trance,
allusion was made to a man that the children called *“ Pa”
and a few things said that would at least partly fit my father-
in-law; he was not called “Pa” by the children I knew,
and the characteristics were not definite enough, but in a mo-
ment the following came.

“1 connect him with your wife. I am not very far over yet,
but I feel a connection with her. You understand, I only feel it.
I don’t know. It might be her father. It may not be your wife
at all, but it is father and daughter. Does it mean anything to

ou?
d (Not clearly.)

Shall I tell you what I see? (Yes.) I see the man sitting at
a table near the window and a lot of papers and books around him
and in a home, but he makes out accounts and bills and things
like that. He seems to take care of expenses and all that sort
of work on himself and look after things and it is just like a girl
comes in and calls him Pa. He looks up and answers and goes
on with his work. It was not just before he passed away, but
earlier in life.

(Describe that table.)

It is rounding, nothing at all like this one you sit at, either
oval or round. A lot of things are on it in connection with his
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work. I see an inkstand as if things were written with it. They
are like bills. Some are looked over and some are made out.
The table has legs of the ordinary size and not very large but
with a little curve to them. It is rather pretty and old fashioned
and could be used for other things. It is not strictly a desk
but a table. ' :

When I look out I look into a sort of yard or closed in place,
not country but out into a little yard like a city yard. I think it
is the back of the house.

I see something else in the room. Shall I tell you? (Yes.)
Back of the man is an old bureau or drawer or drawers of some
kind, like an old-fashioned secretary, you know. He takes things
out of it. Do you know what these are? (Yes.) I can’t tell
whether they are written on. It is darker in that corner. These
things are taken out by a light. It is a funny room and funny
things are there. Do you know about a lamp that had glass
prisms hanging down from it?

(No, but I can find out.)

It is like that. I think I have to go on farther.”

The trance then came on and the automatic writing began
without reference to anything further from the communi-
cator.

Next to the window near the street my father-in-law had
an old fashioned combination of a desk and a table. "It stood
on short legs about a foot from the floor and they were
curved. The top of the desk resembled a roller desk, but this
appearance was given by two doors which opened and a leaf
came down to make it a table. The doors had pigeon holes
in them in the inside. There, before his illness, my father-
in-law sat a great deal at his work. He had retired from
business many years before and became a trustee or treas-
urer for various institutions and individuals. This kept him
at making out or examining bills very often. A few years
before his death he retired from much of this work.

With the allusion to the yard the scene shifts to the back
of the house, tho there is no hint of this in the communica-
tions. After he took ill he moved up-stairs into a back room
near the bathroom and there he looked into a closed yard be-
hind the house. It was in the city. In the corner of that
room was an old fashioned secretary resembling a bureau
and it could be used for that. A leaf could be pulled out and
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work done there and during his invalidism he did some of his
remaining work at that table.

The lamp with prisms was not in that room, but there was
a large heavy chandelier with a large number of beautiful
prisms hanging from it in the parlor. This room was always
kept dark. None of his work was done there as implied. I
think there has been confusion in the transition from the
earlier picture.

This terminated my wife’s appearance at the Chenoweth
sittings. There was nothing evidential at the Smead sittings
that followed immediately. She was mentioned as present
and allusion was made to her in connection with the com-
munications about my brother Robert, but nothing important
enough to make quotation necessary.

. The reader will have to adjudge the value of the inci-
dents. I have said little in the course of the summary about
Mrs. Chenoweth’s ignorance of the facts, but this I have not
found it necessary to remark, except in instances where I
conceived that the nature of the fact exposed it to suspicion.
Most of the incidents it was practically impossible for any
one in Mrs. Chenoweth’s position to ascertain if she had tried,
except through myself, and few others knew any of the facts.
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AN IMPORTANT EPISODE.
By James H. Hyslop.

I wish to state and discuss an important incident in the
experiments of last year. It came in no connection that
would suggest its origin or meaning and for many months
remained an inexplicable anomaly. I had a certain commu-
nicator whom I had known well in life, and I knew only one
friend of his who could verify incidents in his life besides my-
self, and I did not know where that person was. I wished to
know, but could not expect naturally to find out through the
psychic. It must be remembered that I had asked the com-
municator to influence his daughter-in-law, after he had given
her name, to write to me as I did not know where she was.
In the course of the automatic writing purporting to be di-
rected by this deceased friend, the following statements came.

I am making and have been making an effort to tell you of
something. Do you know a place where there is an iron chair
which is kept out of doors all the time? It is something I have
in my mind and is apparently in a garden or cemetery and is
somewhere in the past, and I recall a house of wood and a stable
and rides and a small dark horse. The stable is at the left of
the house and directly in front; that is, both buildings are facing
the road and it is so pleasant and pretty around the place and
from' there I go over country roads and pass over a small bridge
and come to this place where the iron chair is.

- (I do not know it and you would have to give some name,
probably the name of the....) [Writing began.]

Mary knows it and it is a cemetery where we were both
familiar with the surroundings and the bridge is over a railroad
and not a river. Remember that?

(Not yet, but if you can tell where the cemetery is or the
name of the cemetery, I can look it up.)

* * * * [Possibly attempt to write ‘ Mt. Tom’, but not
detected at the time.] No name to the cemetery but the town
was familiar. * * [‘To’ and scrawls, erased.] Masschs....
Massachusetts.

(Yes, I know Massachusetts.)
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You know Wachusett. You know Wachusett do you not?

(No, I do not. I have only heard of it.)

What is the mountain we used to look at from Northampton.
Mt. To... [I refused to read the ‘To’ tho I knew what it
meant.] I cannot recall it but .....

(You have all the letters but the last one.)

You know it do you not?

(Yes, perfectly ) .

... a man’s name. (Yes.) To... Mt. Bob, no Tom.
X purposely refused to read the word ‘ Bob’.] Tom.

(That’s good.)

Bob and Tom do not sound much alike, but they suggest
each other to me. Mt. Tom I remember well enough now and
the country roads and that little village cemetery with the-red
leaves of autumn falling over the hillside and the iron chair in
the grave lot as if waiting for the dead to arise, and the house
where the stable and the house were as I described. Rides were
not frequent, but once in a while a native let a horse for a price.
Those were happy days were they not. Busy and filled with
care, but the future held hopes and prospects. * * I thought
I had a name youknew. B ... B... Brooks.

(What Brooks?)

J o h n. [Pencil fell.]

[Subliminal.]

What river is that?
(Can you tell?)

I don’t know. Itis a kind a ... There is nothing to make
it familiar to me. I feel like .... There is a Connecticut River.

(Yes.)

Do you know the Connecticut River?

(Yes.)

Do you know any place where there are so many white
birches beside it?

(Yes, lots of places.)

That particular river I mean. I see so many white birches.
They are beautiful.

(It may be. I have forgotten.)

Well, are there Episcopalian people connected with you?

(Not especially. I know some.)

I don't. The name is like a minister walking along looking
at that water.

(Do you know who it is?)

| N;:), you ask me too many questions. What if I asked you

a lot’

(I would answer the best I could and dared.)

Yes, well I am inside a building, a great big building. a lot
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of open halls and stairway like a school or public building,
windows everywhere. It looks like an old building built a long
time and with a name like Hall, as if called some Hall. Yetitisa
school and rooms all around and it seems to be named from some
minister. I can’t make out what it is. Any way it seems to
make .....

(‘ Seems to make’.)

Do you know anything about Smith? (Yes.) Do you know
any one named Smith? (Yes.) Is there such a thing as Smith
Hall?

(No, not Smith Hall. Smith something else.)

Well, I see a big building and hear Smith, Smith Hall or
Smith School, something like that. Have you got a friend that
was ever in college, Smith Hall with you? .

(Yes, do you know his name?) ’

No, I don’t know his name, but I know he is a good man. I
mean he is in spirit land. I don’t mean alive.

(I understand.)

Well, had he anything to do with dramatics?

(I don’t know.)

Did he ever have.

(I don’t know what friend it is.)

Oh, you have a lot of them. (Yes.) I thought you had only
one here. Goodbye. Pause. H .... Horace.

Now when we know the facts this long series of messages
become very interesting. It is clear that Smith College,
Northampton, Massachusetts, is meant by the incidents.
Mt. Tom is a mountain near the place. The Connecticut
River passes by it. I did not believe that the communicator
whose name was Horace had ever been there, but I did not
know. I knew that he had never in his life alluded to the
place in his conversations with me. Hence I knew no reason
for his mentioning the place in this manner. It had no bear-
ing on his identity with me. All I could do was to find out
who could be connected with the grave lot and iron chair. 1
applied to a friend to know if there was anything in the cem-
etery that answered to the description. On investigation he
answered in the negative, but I learned from another source
that there was a grave with an iron chair there and I then
again appealed to my friend and a second investigation on
his part discovered that a man by the name of Smith had
died in the year 1911 and was buried near an iron chair. In-
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quiry of the surviving widow showed that she had never
heard of such a person as my deceased friend purporting to
communicate. There then seemed no reason whatever for
the allusion to the grave and chair. I could not conjecture
any reason for the allusion on the part of my friend. Instead
of proving his identity it tended to create a doubt about it.

The statement, “ Mary knows it ” was quite intelligible
assuming that it referred to my wife who was, when living,
an intimate friend of this Horace, and knew all about Smith
College and the surroundings. But Mary was also the name
of the Horace’s daughter-in-law of whose whereabouts I
knew nothing and I could not ascertain any relevance of the
allusions to her. The consequence was that I had to give up
the passage as unintelligible.

Finally, by accident, as it were, I found the last letter
which this daughter-in-law had written me after my friend’s
death and in this way was able indirectly to get into com-
munication with her. I then learned that for two years and
at the time of these sittings she ‘was living in Northampton
not far from this cemetery and the river. This fact at once
opened up a clear possibility. In the communications New
Jersey was referred to, and it was from New Jersey that I
had last heard from this daughter-in-law, where her old home
had been, as I learned later. Hence it seémed probable to
me that the effort was to tell me where she was at the time,
as I was desirous of finding out her whereabouts. In the
course of the communications my wife had appeared to be an
aid or intermediary and to have intruded messages, so that
I might infer that she was trying to help him, and her recol-
lections came through rather than his statements. But the
grave and iron chair would not have a rational explanation

as coming from my wife, as any earthly recollection of hers:

for she had died long before and never knew anything when
living of the person buried there. That feature of the affair
has to remain unintelligible, except as post-terrene informa-
tion casually acquired. But the fact that the communicator’s
daughter-in-law had lived and was at the time living near by
suggested that, as New Jersey, her old home, had been men-
tioned, the communicator was trying to tell me where she
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was. The communicator, not being a good one, had to em-
ploy the roundabout process of having an assistant in his
work to recall enough to identify the place.

It is worth noting that the lady remarked to me in con-
versation that several times in the spring, about the time of
my experiments, she resolved to write to me, but feared I
was too busy to be bothered.

Let me summarize the points of interest. (1) I did not
know where Horace’s daughter-in-law was. (2) I asked the
alleged Horace to influence her to write to me. (3) Appar-
ent efforts were made to tell where she was, tho I did not
recognize this attempt at the time and yet suspected it poss-
ible. (4) All the incidents, except the fact that there was a
Smith College, were not known to the psychic. (5) New
Jersey was mentioned which I knew to be a former address
of the person I wanted, and this after the death of the sup-
posed communicator, tho he probably knew this before his
death. (8) A grave and incidents were mentioned which
were verified, but whose significance was not intelligible to
me. (7) I afterward found an old letter that enabled me to
reach the lady whose address was needed and found that she
was living near the place described in the sitting at the time
it was held. (8) The lady had several times thought of writ-
ing to me about that time, but refrained because she thought
1 would be too busy to be bothered.

The suggested explanation, I recognize, is a mere hypoth-
esis. But it has some confirmation in an incident in the work
with Mrs. Piper, recorded by Dr. Hodgson in his first Report.
A lady had a number of sittings with Mrs. Piper in which a
deceased friend whom she calls T. purported to communicate
and she asked that he dictate some letters to her through
Mrs. Piper when she was not present. The following is her
account of one of them.

I have received from T., dictated through Mrs. Piper to her
husband and sent me by post, seven letters at intervals from
November 29th, 1886, to January 22nd, 1889. Each contains
some intelligible matter, but each contains familiar allusions and
the old time opening and closing phrases, either of which is too
long and individual to have been merely chanced upon. The
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post office address of the first is worthy of mention. Mrs.
Piper had learned from me neither name nor residence, nor had
any other than my pet name, Nellie, been given at the sittings.
On November 16th, 1886, Dr. Phinuit [the trance personality
controlling] told me that T. was dictating a letter to me. “ How
will you address it?” I asked. “T. knows your address and will
give it to the medium.” November 29th, a friend, who had been
sitting with Mrs. Piper, brought me word that the promised
letter had been mailed to—

Miss Nellie Wilson,
Care David Wilson,
Reading, Mass.

By applying at the post office at Reading I was able to obtain
the letter. I alter the names, but these points may be noted :—

1. My surname is given correctly. :

2. I have a cousin, David Wilson, of whose relation and
friendship T. was well aware. His home, however, has always
been in New York.

3. Reading was my home during my childhood and youth,
but I removed from it thirteen years ago. I knew T. only sub-
sequent to that removal.

4. While living there I wrote my name with the diminutive.
Nellie, but since then have preferred to write my baptismal name,
Ella, or merely the initial E. T. was wont to use my initials
merely.

At my next sitting, November 30th, I inquired about this
mongrel address. “T. was not strong enough,” said Phinuit,
“ to direct where the letter should be sent, but he thought your
cousin David would attend to your getting it. Your other
friends have helped on the rest of the address.” “ But they
would not tell you to send to Reading.” “ Yes, they would,
they did. It was Mary told us that.” “ Nonsense,” said I,
thinking of a sister of that name. ‘““Not Mary in the body.
Mary in the spirit.” “ But I have no such friend.” “ Yes, you
have. It was Mary L——— Mary E Mary E. Parker told
us that.” T then recalled a little playmate of that name, a next
door neighbor, who moved away from Reading when I was ten
years old, and of whose death I learned a few years later. I had
scarcely thought of her for twenty years.”

Now here is a case in which the address given in the letter
was wrong. Miss Wilson did not live at Reading nor did her
cousin David Wilson. But the name of the cousin was cor-
rect, the sitter lived in Reading at one time, and the commu-
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nicator may have known it. But the merest accident of men-
tioning the name of Mary Parker cleared up the confusion.
A roundabout process was employed and the memory of Mary
Parker is the result communicated. Even this clue would
not have been found but for the inquiry of the sitter. The
influence was there, but not the evidence of it.

Now in my own instance there is no statement that any
one had helped the communicator, but my wife had shown
evidence of frequently helping the communicator and some
of her memories were intruded in the midst of the commu-
nicator’s. Besides most of the incidents were memories of
hers and not of the communicator’s. Hence most of the
anomaly can be explained by the probable presence of my
wife to aid in what seemed to be an effort to tell where the
communicator’s daughter-in-law was.

The important feature of the episode is the lxght that it
throws, with the one quoted from Dr. Hodgson’s Report, on
the complications of the process in" communicating and the
fragmentary nature of what often comes. It may also indi-
cate that the central thought of the communicator may often
fail while either his marginal associations or the thoughts of
others are caught by the transmitting machinery and sent,
while the intended message remains unsent. At least such
cases serve as a touchstone for solving similar perplexities
in many a situation.
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EDITORIAL.

EXPENSES OF THE WORK.

We have constantly called attention to the need of endow-
ment for the proper and successful prosecution of the work
and we think this can be made clear by a summary of the ex-
penses for the year. The Treasurer’s Reports made quar-
terly can be drawn upon for material and their meaning may
be summarized here. Membership fees for the year were
$4,282. Sundry receipts, mostly sales of publications, $245.
Interest on endowment, $567. The total receipts were
$5,094. The printing and distribution of the publications to
the members were $5,251, or $156 more than all receipts, or
$724 more than membership fees. Rent, investigations, sal-
ary of stenographer, insurance on publications and plates
and sundry other expenses were $2,187, not including the
salary of the assistant, Mr. Greaves, in the office, whose
services were paid for by a friend of the work and which
could not have been done at all without this aid. The total
expenses were thus $7,488. This is $3,1566 more than the
receipts from membership fees or $2,864 more than all re-
ceipts. The unusually large size of the last Proceedings in-
creased this amount unavoidably, but probably not more than
$800, so that we lacked sufficient funds from membership
fees to carry on the work as we have been doing.

We have no funds in the treasury this year for investiga-
tions, except the donations of those who subscribed an inde-
pendent investigation fund. Unless membership. fees in-
crease adequately or an endowment comes in during this year
the work will have to be greatly curtailed or stopped. It is
our purpose not to allow any deficit to occur in the treasury.
We have but $2,255 and the incoming membership fees for
this year to defray expenses. There is nearly $1,000 back
membership fees due which members have not paid in spite
of frequent sending of bills to them. It is probable that this
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cannot be collected except through the courts and we prefer
not to resort to such a course.

The publications do not appeal to popular taste and can
never be made to do so as long as they endeavor to be scien-
tific. Our work necessarily appeals to those minds which are
extremely critical and careful of their conclusions. The facts
which the public wants either do not exist or require a hun-
dredfold as much money to discover as it thinks and it will
not pay for them, apparently, at its own price, while what it
wants is a thousandfold rarer than the real things that actu-
ally count and are useful in the solution of the problem. It
is evident, then, that there is no course before us but the con-
stant urging of the need for endowment, and members can
at least present the importance of the situation to those who
are able to found the Society’s work. It should be shown
to some men that here is an opportunity for the largest bene-
faction to mankind that was ever instituted. It needs only to
get them to see this fact to insure the endowment.

We are ready to establish a sanatorium for the investiga-
tion and application of various forms of mental healing, as it
has been called, and called this without any effort to seri-
ously investigate what it is or involves. All sorts of quack-
ery and subterfuge are respectable under this term and it is
high time for people who claim to be civilized to investigate
this subject. It is wholly independent of that part of our
work devoted to psychic research proper, tho it will have to
be articulated with this latter. The two fields offer the great-
est opportunities of the future in the way of both philanthropy
and scientific investigation.

The first step must be endowment that will secure the
publications and the expenses of the office. We can then
present other needs more effectively. An assistant in the
work of investigation is necessary to have an understudy to
succeed the present Secretary when he takes his turn in join-
ing the majority. He hopes by proper care of himself to
have many years before him yet, but no one can predict the
probabilities of the grim messenger and unless a properly
equipped successor can be trained for the work it will take
any casual person twenty years to correct his mistakes. The
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important thing at present, therefore, is not only to secure
the publications and office, but to have an endowment large
enough to bring an income from six to ten thousand dollars,
and this only to make the work possible, not to do all that it
is necessary to do. We hope members can do missionary
work among those who are able to meet the exigencies of
the situation.

OBITUARY.

Mr. Charles Nelson Jones, who was the President of the
Board of Trustees of the American Institute for Scientific
Research, of which the American Society for Psychical Re-
search is Section B, died suddenly from dilatation of the heart
on January 3d, 1913. He had formerly been Professor of
Mathematics in the University of Michigan, but for many
years prior to his death had been connected with the Equita-
ble Life Assurance Company. He was succeeded in the
Presidency of the Board of Trustees by Mr. W. C. Peyton, of
San Francisco, California.
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INCIDENTS.

The Society assumes no responsibility for anything published under
this head and no indorsement is implied, except that it has been furnished
by an a ently trustworthy contributor whose name is given, unless
vnthhekf g;'lm own request. .

The following incident is from the collection of Dr. Hodg-
son. Mrs. Howell does not give the date of her narrative,
but as I myself knew the parties and about the incident at the
time the reader may assume that the narrative was written
near the time that Mrs. Kilpatrick sent it to Dr. Hodgson.
This was in 1904.

The dangerous point in the incident is the objection which
might be based upon the hypothesis that the obituary column
might have been exposed to casual sight outside the wrapper.
The improbability of this is proportioned to improbability
that a newspaper would be wrapped in this way. But as we
do not know whether the paper was sent from the printer or
from some one interested in imparting the news to Mrs. How-
ell, we cannot measure the case with any degree of confidence.
It would certainly be a remarkable coincidence that such an
experience would attend the casual and unconscious observa-
tion of a death notice in a paper wrapped and that had not
been consciously examined, especially when we have so many
coincidental apparitions which can have no such explanation.
The fact that would suggest the probability is that the ap-
pearance of the apparition is so long delayed after death.—
Editor.

Mrs. Kilpatrick writes Jan. 17th as follows:
3140 W. 85 St., Jan. 17th [1904].
My Dear Dr. Hodgson:

¥ % Xk % x x % % X % X % %k x

I send you however the typewritten account of another case
which does seem to me worth while. If you care for it I will
secure such verification of the story as is now possible. Mrs.
Howell is a good witness, clear and consistent in her statements
and while her husband unfortunately is now dead there are
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relatives and old friends who heard the story at the time who
would vouch for its accuracy. If you would like to have me do
so I will collect such stories whenever I find them.
Very sincerely,
MARGARET H. KILPATRICK.

ACCOUNT OF AN APPARITION WHICH APPEARED
TO MARY SEYMOUR HOWELL IN 1871,

In the year 1865 I had a lover by the name of John A. Broad-
head. Owing to several circumstances I was obliged to give
him up although I was deeply attached to him. When he found
that he could not marry me he left the town of Mount Morris.
where I lived, but before he went he said to me, “ Mary I think
this separation will kill me but if I die and a spirit can come back
to earth I will come to you.”

I replied “ Oh, no, don’t, for that would frighten me dread-
fully.” “No it would not,” he answered, “ for I should come so
calmly that you would not be at all afraid ”.

In 1868 I married George R. Howell, a presbyterian minister
who knew all about my affection for John Broadhead. In April,
1871, I was visiting my old home with my husband and baby
boy. About one o’clock one Sunday afternoon (I think it was
April 12th.) I sat in the parlor of my father’s house, my baby in
my arms, on the long old fashioned sofa on which I had so often
sat with my old lover. My husband sat across the room with
his back to me, reading. The sofa was unusually long and I
sat at the end of it near a door opening into the hall.

Suddenly I felt a pressure against my knee and limb as
though some one had come very close to me and I looked up
expecting to see one of my brothers but to my great surprise I
saw my old lover, John Broadhead, standing there beside me.
felt greatly distressed for he lived in a distant city. I had not
seen him since 1865, and I thought it an unwarrantable intru-
sion that he should enter my father’s house thus unannounced.
It never occurred to me that he was not alive. I noticed every
detail of his dress and can even now distinctly remember the
black and white necktie which he wore. Before I had a chance
to speak he raised his right hand and said, speaking very slowly
and gently, “ Be very calm, Mary. I am what they call dead.
I died in the west three weeks ago to-day.” Then lifting his
left hand he pointed to a newspaper which lay at the other end
of the sofa about three feet away from me, and said “ You will
find my death in that paper.” Then without moving a muscle
he vamshed while I gazed at him.

I was not at all afraid, but felt completely overcome by the
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shock of suddenly learning that he was dead for much as I loved
my husband, I had never gotten over my old feeling for John
Broadhead ; and if it had not been for the baby in my arms I think
I should have fainted away. As it was, I could not speak or
call my husband, but I managed to hitch along the sofa till I
could reach the paper to which he had pointed. This turned
out to be a copy of the New York Times that had never been
taken out of the wrapper in which it had ‘come through the mails. *
I tore it open and there, among the death notices I found this
paragraph :—

“ Died in Burlington, Iowa, March 22nd, 1871, John A. Broad-
head of this city in the 34th year of his age.”

I cannot be perfectly sure that the paper was a New York
Times and I do not know its exact date but I am certain that
it was a New York paper and I think it was the Times. I do not
know how the paper came to be there at all as we did not take
the New York Times but there had been a convention of ministers
in the village and several of them had been stationed at my
father’s house. The paper may have been sent to one of them.

John Broadhead was a lawyer and a conservative Episco-
palian. He was not a spiritualist, nor was I.

I saw John Broadhead with my eyes as I would see any living
person but I did not hear what he said as I hear ordinary speech.
The words were perfectly distinct but I seemed to sense them
by what I can perhaps best describe as a sort of inner hearing.

MARY SEYMOUR HOWELL,
New York, 340 West 85th Street.

January 15, 1904.

The incident herein told was related to me by Mrs. Mary
Seymour Howell shortly after its occurrence and has been re-
peated, without variation in any of its details, many times since.

(Mrs.) LILLA A. WHITNEY,
Mount Morris, New York.

May 20, 1904.

I wrote to Prof. Hyslop on April 29th asking him to look
up the files of the New York Times for March 23, 1871, and if
necessary all the dates between March 22 and April 15, to
see if he could find the obituary notice of Mr. Broadhead. He
replies as follows:

519 West 149th Street, New York, May 2nd, 1904.
R. Hodgson:
My dear Dr. Hodgson:
In response to your request to ascertain whether an obituary
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notice had been given of a Mr. John A. Broadhead on March
23rd, 1871, I would reply that I went to the Astor Library and
found the files of that paper for dates indicated. In the issue
of the New York Times of April 5th, 1872 [1871] under the
obituary notices on page 5 I found the following :—

“ Died: Broadhead.—At Burlington, Iowa, on Tuesday March
22nd, 1871, John A. Broadhead, formerly of this city, in the 34th
year of his age.” :

I did not look in any other papers as I assumed that the one
sufficed, you having mentioned only the Times and indicating
that I should look in others in case it was not found there.

Very sincerely,
J. H. HYSLOP.

In an interesting point this case resembles that reldted by
Mrs. Chas. B. Johnson (the case sent to Prof. James by Miss
Palfrey) where the person whose apparition was apparently seen
said that she would come in such a way that the percipient would

not be afraid.
[R. HODGSONXN]

AN EXPERIMENT IN DOWSING.

New York, November 9th, 1912,

I had occasion to visit a gentleman whose daughter did
automatic writing, for an experiment with her. I learned
from him that, owing to scarcity of water in his well, he had
been doing some dowsing to find more water. He suggested
that I try it. I had tried it many times in my life, without
success. In my youth I had tried it and the rod turned occa-
sionally, as it did with a regular dowser whom I knew. But
I could never satisfy myself that unconscious muscular action
combined with gravity and the peculiar strain on the arms of
the rod were excluded from the cause. But this turning of
the rod was so rare that the failures loomed high in the esti-
mate of the cases. I had not tried it for years, when this
gentleman asked me to see what I could do.

He gave me a maple rod, forked as usual, not witch-hazel
or peach, and pointed out the ground over which I should go.
He carefully concealed from me where he had found water.
This, however, I did not learn until after my experiment, be-
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cause the directions he gave me led me to infer that he had
found water near a certain tree. I was firmly convinced that
he had given himself away and that my experiment would be
worthless. But I tried it. There was no evidence of water
about. The Merrimac River was about six hundred feet
away and his house and yard were on a bluff or slope about
thirty feet high. There were no hollows on the ground over
which I was to go and no one would suspect water in one
place more than another, and in fact with that proximity to
the river one might naturally suspect that he would not find
it anywhere, or that he would find it everywhere.

But with a certain tree and its locality firmly in mind as
the spot at which the rod had supposedly indicated the possi-
bility of finding water, this spot being about one hundred feet
from where I started, I went to work. I held the rod with
the point or apex directly in the upright position. I did not
expect it to turn at all, but also did expect that, if it did turn,
it would move forward from me, as it had always done with
the dowsers I had observed and as it had done in the few
cases in which I seemed to be successful. I assumed, too,
that my belief that the spot was near the tree would influence
my action, if influenced at all, as I approached the tree. But
to my astonishment the rod began to turn backward toward
me and actually pushed on my breast till I had to stretch my
hands out to let it pass, when I had gone to about thirty-five
feet from the tree. The gentleman then suggested that I try
it over again and hold the rod as he did, which was in a hori-
zontal position so that when it turned down it would pass
over ninety degrees of an arc. But I held the rod at an angle
of about forty-five degrees, expecting that gravity would pre-
vent it from going any other way than downward. To my
surprise it rose to the vertical position and then over against
my breast as before and at the same spot as before. I sup-
posed it a freak or muscular pressure on the arms of the rod
with the strain on them from the bending of them. I went
back and tried it again with the arms at forty-five degrees
from the perpendicular and resolved to hold the arms as
tightly as I could, to prevent their turning. But the rod
again rose to the vertical and over against my breast, tho I
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strove with all my might to prevent it, by squeezing my hands
on the rod as tightly as its size would permit. Nevertheless,
it rose against gravity and turned down toward the same spot
as before. The gentleman then told me. that this was the
place he had found the water, or rather where the rod had
indicated it would be found. I had been firmly convinced
that' it had been indicated at a spot thirty-five feet farther on.

It is not necessary to explain the facts. The primary
point is that neither expectation nor unconscious muscular
action are the most natural explanations. From the point of
view of expectation the rod should not have turned until I
was near the tree, but it turned where I had not even sur-
mised the spot, this having been concealed from me. As to
the second point, the most natural direction for the stick to
take, when it was held at an angle of forty-five degrees from
the perpendicular, was forward and downward. Gravity
would most naturally predetermine that direction and this
was aided by expectation, under the condition that any mo-
tion at all should occur. So we have action directly the op-
posite of expectation and what would be most natural where
gravity has any influence. All this is strengthened by my
determined effort to hold the rod and prevent its turning.
The effort to prevent it was based upon the supposition that
gravity and the peculiar strain on the bent arms of the rod
might naturally make it turn, tho this is a supposition that
may have been hastily made, because the same strain on
them exists, in any position, and would not be relieved by
their turning. Hence gravity is the one force that would have
its influence modified by the turning. We can talk about
strain only because there is a strain on the bent arms. but it
is another thing to suppose that it tends to turn the rod, and
I see no reason to assume that it does, tho I am equally ig-
norant regarding its not doing so. It would require experi-
ments in a laboratory to determine that question, and then it
would remain to explain the rod’s rising against gravity. In
the dowsing problem the facts much more suggest a teleolog-
ical than a mechanical situation.

The primary interest of the experiment is not whether we
were really successful in locating water. It is in the facts
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that we coincided in the locality involved and that the rod:
behaved peculiarly against expectation and gravity. The
gentleman was far behind me and did not precede me in move-
ment. He remained stationary thirty feet away and behind
me. Hence, no suggestion came from his position. It
would be of interest to ascertain whether water could be found
there, but that does not affect the problem in which we are
here concerned.
JAMES H. HYSLOP.

LAURA BRIDGMAN.

The following incident is found in the life of Laura
Bridgman (p. 253) which can probably be found in any li-
brary.

“Miss Paddock and Miss Wight [two teachers in the Perkins
Institute each of whom had Laura as a special pupil] were greatly
attached to each other, and spent much of their leisure time to-
gether. They often noticed as they sat talking of an afternoon,
with Laura near by knitting at her purses or her pretty lace
edging, that she would suddenly lay down her work and begin
talking [with her fingers] of the person or topic they had been
discussing. The two young women were so much impressed by
the frequency with which Laura took up the subject of their
conversation when no possible clue to it had been given to her
by word or act [Laura was totally deaf, dumb, and blind] that
both believed the girl often knew what they were talking about,
.... and the girls [teachers] often said to each other, what they
would have been abashed to say to older and wiser people, that
Laura always knew what they were thinking of, if their thoughts
were strongly concentrated upon an idea or a person.”

We know how sensitive Laura Bridgman became to
stimuli which ordinary persons would never appreciate. She
was hyperaesthesic in touch to a remarkable degree and poss-
ibly vibrations in the air may, at times, have affected her
tactual sensorium. Hence it would have been well to have
settled doubts about such phenomena as are here described
by more accurate accounts of the exact conditions under
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which the apparent telepathy occurred. We should have to
know how far off Laura sat on such occasions and whether
observers had ever remarked similar coincidences when she
sat near and when the mental conditions of concentration
and emotional interest described did not prevail.

But we are not specially concerned with the evidential
nature of this incident. It is quoted here to illustrate the
extraordinary stupidity of human nature when it comes up
against phenomena that should mean so much to anyone
with scientific sense of any sort. Apparently the two ladies
felt some fear of ridicule if the subject of mind reading were
mentioned, and there was a time when only a little less cruel
manner than the Inquisition treated such facts in a spirit as
cutting but not as destructive as fire. But with people who
had studied Laura Bridgman so long and who were familiar
with the apparent miracles of sense perception which she
manifested in the field of touch, it is astounding that such
persons did not seize the opportunity to study the phenomena
or to call attention to them, that others might. It was an
ideal case for such work and one which we cannot create for
the purpose. Any one with the slightest scientific acumen
ought to have seen the rarest of opportunities to study pos-
sibilities which were evidently suggested to Miss Paddock
and Miss Wight but whose significance never dawned upon
them. The illustration of human stupidity could hardly be
better. Dr. Howe, her protector, her discoverer in fact,
might have been less obsessed with the limitations of tactual
sensibility, if he was really aware of such phenomena as
apparently existed from this account, and if he had investi-
gated he might have discovered something far more wonder-
ful than extraordinary tactual sensibility. But some people
cannot see beyond their noses, and this myopia characterizes
all of us when we get our minds set on only one fixed idea.
Here, however, the opportunity was actually thrust at the
people who might have improved it to the great benefit of
science, but they remained as blind, deaf and dumb to it as
Laura Bridgman was to the physical world of sight and
hearing—Editor. '




Book Review. 131

BOOK REVIEW.

Del&minisnw, Libero Arbitrio, Rincamaziohe, (Determinism, Free
Will and Reincarnation.) By Doctor Innocenzo Calderone.
Publisher, G. Pendone Lauriel, Palermo, Italy.

In the early eighties, just before the death of Henry Ward
Beecher, there appeared in one of the New York comic papers
a caricature in which the great preacher was represented trying
to crawl across an insecure, narrow board spanning the deep
chasm between Theology and Science. The picture was prob-
ably inspired by one of his—for those days—broad and daring
sermons.

In “ Determinism, Free Will and Reincarnation” Doctor
Calderone gives the impression that this chasm will soon be se-
curely spanned, if not permanently filled. His broad and un-
prejudiced mind recognizes that the materialist as well as the
theologian has contributed his share in the long and earnest
search for truth, and that, through the law of evolution which
rules all things, spiritual as well as material, the now conflicting
theories will eventually fall into line and lead us to the same
conclusions.

With rare enthusiasm and conviction he carries the reader to
the idealist’s goal of immortality and liberty. His methods are
analytical and scientific, and yet at the same time he gives full
consideration to those higher religious aspirations which ‘cannot
be dissected and reduced to mathematical formula, but whose
existence cannot be denied by any human being. He warmly
advocates the theory of reincarnation, and offers it as an expla-
nation of all the psychic phenomena which are puzzling so many
investigators. His arguments in its favor are very able, and
might convince even those who do not contemplate with com-
placency a return to this vale of tears.

The universal objection to the theory of reincarnation is our
complete forgetfulness of previous existences. Doctor Cald-
erone’s answer is that God in his infinite mercy wishes to spare
us the pain and shame of remembering deeds committed in the
ruder and more brutal stages of our evolution.

His comparative analysis of determinism and free will is in-
teresting but not as convincing. Advocating the theory of free
will, he reduces it to a question of limit—the ever widening circle
of personal choice adapted to the requirements and degree of de-
velopment, and in the course of time, by the evolution of man’s
soul toward perfection, becoming free will.
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The fascinating question of communication with discarnate
spirits he does not touch, and probably includes with other ques-
tions requiring proof. His acceptance of the theory of reincar-
nation, however, would naturally exclude this subject from his
consideration.

The book is exceedingly interesting, and, apart from its scien-
tific value, has a charm, an emotional quality, that will appeal to
those who are broadly religious.

Four years ago Doctor Calderone inaugurated a review of ex-
perimental psychology which appears on the fifteenth of each
month and counts among its contributors some of the greatest

Italian thinkers.
LOUSE L. de MONTALVO.
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A STUDY OF SOME MEDIUMISTIC EXPERIMENTS.*
By Frank Hakius.

It is always interesting to study processes of reasoning
in the lay mind, especially regarding things which are rather
difficult of solution; in particular I refer to the belief (more
general than is commonly known or admitted) that there are
mediums, fortune tellers, or what not, who can tell what has
happened or is to happen. And the number of people who
believe in this as a fact and make use of these mediums to
govern their actions is considerably greater than scientific
or religious minds would willingly admit. The query now
arises, on what basis of fact do they accept these statements
and what is the mental jugglery to which they submit to be-
lieve they are “ told their names, business, etc., without say-
ing a word,” as the advertisements guarantee the psychic can
do? The advertising medium has been quick to adopt this
word, psychic, since its use by the Psychical Research So-
ciety.

I am more and more certain that the so-called religion of
Spiritualism is growing rapidly and that there are any number
of credulous people who go to these “seers”, “ psychics ”,
“ mediums ”, etc., and leave large amounts of money in their
hands to secure information. In the city in which I write,

* Mr. Frank Hakius reported on some similar experiments which were
published in a previous Jowrnal (Vol V, p. 269). The name is a
pseudonym.
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only a few weeks ago, a man claiming to be a Medium, Seer,
Psychic, etc., etc., in one week succeeded in stealing over one
thousand dollars from a half-dozen women, in sums ranging
from fifty to five hundred dollars, by directing them to seal
in envelopes sums of money which were to remain, some in
their own possession, others in his, for a few days to weeks.
This he claimed was necessary to insure the success of the
spell. This scheme to defraud is so common one would think
the crop would be soon exhausted, but this is not so. This
city can and does grow a good annual crop which is never
neglected by these traveling angels; true, the same trick in
every detail cannot be used, but to these literal-primitive-
brained-honest-themselves women a straight wire could
never suggest a bent one or vice versa. This last Collector
of the Crop came into town, flooded the town with his glow-
ing circular of “Adza the Psychic,” took three rooms in the
best office building in town, and in a week was off. Some
he allowed to seal their own money in thick, heavy envelopes,
and after a proper amount of hocus pocus, told them to
sleep on it and dream over it and think of nothing else but
when the desired legacy was to come. Some confided to
their friends, and were told to open the envelopes and there
find only blank paper. They opened, but found their money
still there; at least all the first setting did (to speak in a poul-
try manner). The Seer then told them, when they confided
their lack of faith, that they had indeed had a narrow escape,
both to life and legacy, as the gods had been known to kill
by a stroke those who cast doubt on Adza’s powers. This
was enough. ‘“Adza himself must keep the money,” and so
far he is true to his trust. The police, altho wading through
waves of his circulars, did nothing to drive him from town
until he had garnered the crop. Nor will they the next time,
nor the next.

That this mystery seems to have a basis of truth cannot
be gainsaid. At least we constantly find a residue which is
unexplainable in any terms we now understand as applied to
physical or mental processes. There is also no doubt that
skilful questioning would often help out the medium, but so
very often they do not grasp the opportunities we see so
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clearly extended to them. The occurrence of the three sit-
tings I append happened in this wise. Mrs. Hiller, the first
sitter, was visiting in the city of Tunmar, her home being 150
miles east. She happened to mention to me that she had
gotten into conversation with the chambermaid at her hotel
and that she had told her, Mrs. Hiller, that she had gone to
a medium who almost instantly told her her name, and with-
out asking any question at all! Mrs. Hiller asked my opin-
ion of it, and I told her I thought it impossible, and that sit-
ters often said they had been asked no questions, though in
reality they might have given information unasked. I had
often thought of having sitters go to a medium and have
stenographic reports made, to be published, as an interesting
study. As the medium above mentioned seemed to be the
kind I wanted for this experiment,—an old lady, not adver-
tising, resident here many years, not criminal or fraudulent
in the sense of taking large sums of money to have them at-
tract other sums,—I told Mrs. Hiller I should like her to go
for a sitting, then come back directly and dictate what trans-
pired to my stenographer, while the matter was still fresh
in her mind. The report below is a clear account of two
sittings Mrs. Hiller had.

Report of Two Sittings with Mrs. Fanny Roberson, Medium,
of Tunmar.

It was through a Mrs. Watson that I heard of this me-
dium. She had been there for a séance. Mrs. Watson told
me that her husband had deserted her a couple of months
before, and that she went to Mrs. Roberson, thinking the
latter might be able to tell her something about her husband.
Her verdict was, “ She is fine, she is great!” I said, “I sup-
pose she told you a great many things that were true?”
She answered, “ Yes, she even told me my name and my hus-
band’s.” I then asked Mrs. Watson if the medium had
asked her any questions; her answer was, “ No, she asked
me no questions at all.”

When I went for my sitting, however, I found that Mrs.
Roberson asked a great many questions. Yesterday was the
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first time I went to ask for a sitting. I was told to come in.
Mrs. Roberson proved to be a very untidy woman and was
uneducated, illiterate, and used a great many slang expres-
sions. As soon as I gained admittance, the medium asked
who sent me there. I replied, untruthfully, that I did not
know the lady’s name. (It was Mrs. Watson, as per above.)
Then she said, “ You know I aint no advertisin’ medium.”
Next speech of the medium, “ Sit down; are you married,
honey?” “ Yes,” said I. Then she began to count on her
fingers, saying, “ I get two, three,—then you are married be-
tween two and three years?” I replied, “Yes, and then
some.” And after three guesses or so, she got up to seven
years, which is the correct number.

The medium sat in a well lighted room, her hand up to
her face part of the time. She did not look at me, except
very rarely. Her next question:—*“ Has your father passed
out?” My reply was “No.” She then said, “ Some one
comes to me and says ‘ Pa.’ Thereisa ‘Pa’;whois‘Pa’?”
I told her then that my stepfather had passed out and she
said that that was what “ they ” meant; that the spirits al-
ways called themselves “Pa” whether they were father,
stepfather or grandfather. She said that he had passed out
recently, which is true; he died in September [this year].
She further stated that he had had the asthma and coughed.
(He did have an asthmatic condition and was very short of
breath.) But I did not reveal this to her. Then after hav-
ing spoken of the asthma, she asked if he had had kidney
trouble. I replied, “ Not that I know of.” (My stepfather
died of cirrhosis of the liver.) I requested the medium to
tell my father to give me some sign or proof that it was
really he talking. After this request there was quite a long
silence. Then, “ He wants to know if you remember any-
thing in particular about his hand.” And here the medium
held her left hand (his left hand was crippled) in a way sim-
ilar to the way my stepfather held his. I replied, “ Yes.”
(His hand was crippled from a burn which occurred years
ago, altho I did not tell Mrs. Roberson this fact.) Medium:
—*“ He wants to know if you remember the scar on his face.”
Here I said, “ There was no scar on his face; it was on his
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ear.” Then I told the medium to ask him if he could tell me
how old he was, when he “ passed out.” The answer came,
“ How would fifty strike you?” I said, “ It would not strike
me if that were not his age; can’t he tell me?” Then, with
three or four guesses, she managed to get up to three score
and ten. (He was really seventy-three; I told Mrs. Rober-
son that her guess was about right, as he was a little past
seventy.) She explained his having first replied fifty, in this
way,—that the reason for his having said that was because
he did not seem old and did not want to appear old, and was
just trying to have a little fun with me. Another thing the
“ spirit ” was supposed to have said, was “ Do you remember
how often I said I loved my family?” Also, “ You know I
don’t believe in wearing mourning.” (This was his belief.)
“ Do not call my burial place a grave, bécause ‘ grave ’ means
¢ grief’; but think of it as a garden where you can plant
flowers to remember me.” I asked if he knew whether all
the children were there at the time of his death and funeral.
The answer came immediately, “ One missing at the death-
bed, on account of a mistake or long distance.” (One son
was not at the bedside when he died, on account of being so
far away; but was at the funeral.)

Mrs. Roberson told me to ask any questions I wished. I
asked if Father would give me his name or Mother’s. She
got the name of “ Will ” at once. (I did not answer her, so
she let that drop and commenced trying for my mother’s
name.) She said, “ Was it Edna,—or Ellen,—or Elsie?” I
said “ No.” (Father’s former wife’s name was Edna, but I
did not tell her that.) Another silence;—then she said,
“The name of Emma comes to me; your father calls
‘Emma’”” Then I said, “ How about my father’s name?”
And she only got the name of Will. She said, “ Isn’t there
a Will?” And to help her a little bit, I said, “ His name was
Willis,”—which it was. ‘“ Well, that’s what I mean, honey,”
answered Mrs, Roberson.

Then the medium said, “ Your father smoked, because I
smell smoke.” (He did smoke.)

She asked if I was a divorced woman. Reply, “ No, I
am not.” ‘“Have you two children living or dead?” “ No,”
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said I. “ You don’t live here, do you?” My answer, “ No.”
I then asked her if she knew where I did live. She said,
“ East of here.” (Correct.) Another question,—*“Are not
you and your husband separated?” I replied, telling her he
was away most of the time, but that we saw each other every
few weeks. She then asked, “Is he not a traveling man?”
I said, “ No.” Mrs. Roberson next said, “I smell liquor;
does he drink?” “ No,” I replied. Then, “I smell chem-
icals; what does that mean?” I answered this, saying that
my husband was taking a course in a medical college. She
told me that she could smell “liquors and chemicals such as
they use in the operating room.” The medium also told me
that both my father and husband were large men. (This is
the case.) I was also told at this séance that my husband
would be very successful; but that he was at the present
time not well. (So far as I know, he is enjoying his usual
good health.) About this time the medium was getting very
nervous and told me that my father was so short of breath
he could not talk to me any more that time, but that I should
come again, as he loved to talk to me. That was all for this
sitting, which lasted about an hour.

* Xx Xk Xk X%

To-day I again went to interview this same woman. Be-
fore going in to her place, it is necessary to talk to her
through a speaking tube, to ascertain whether admittance
will be permitted. On asking for a sitting, she told me that
she had had so much to do the day before that she was very
nervous and had the headache. But I was quite persistent,
telling her I should like another sitting, as I was going away
soon. She finally acquiesced. She recognized me as hav-
ing been there the day before, when I went in. She did not
look well and said she could only give me about a half-hour.
(A regular sitting lasts about an hour.) She told me prac-
tically the same things about my father as the day before.

The medium asked me if my name was Myrtle; then got
the name of Jennie: then asked me if my name was not Nettie
or Nellie. I told her “ It is Nellie,”—which it is. She fur-
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ther informed me that my father did not seem so short of
breath to-day, and therefore she could understand him better.
He said, “ Emma was not very well last night.” (Being
away from there, I cannot tell about this as yet, but intend
to find out if my mother was really ill at the mentioned time.)

This medium claims that the “forces” come to her
through vapor. In trying to get facts through, she closes
her eyes and leans to one side, as tho listening to the afore-
said forces, repeatedly saying, “ Huh, huh? Talk up a little
plainer.” This she does very frequently during a sitting,
when trying to get results. Often she would ask questions
but I would not let on that I even heard and would ignore
the questions altogether. During both the readings I had
with her, Mrs. Roberson would be interrupted at the door,
but on returning to me, would take up the trend of thought
with the forces just where she had left off. In talking to my
father’s spirit she cried, and said that he was crying also,
“because he is so happy.”

A communication from my stepfather, different from any
told on the previous day, was as follows :—The medium said,
“Will wants to know if you remember that his favorite
flower was the red rose.” (He did favor red rosebuds above
all other flowers.)

The medium assured me that she was “ perfectly honest
about these things and never gave anything except what the
forces got through.” But it seemed to me that most of this
was guess-work. The séance lasted twenty-five minutes.
On leaving I asked Mrs. Roberson if she could tell me my
full name. She said she could not. I then asked her if she
was ever able to get full names. She replied that she had
been able to do this only three times, and said that one of
these names was “ Tom Watson.” (This is the name of the
husband of Mrs. Watson, who first told me about Mrs. Rob-
erson.)

November 16th, 1911.

(The above was dictated from memory, November 16th,
1911. One sitting had taken place on the 15th and the next
one on the 16th, the dictator dictating the above directly after
the sitting on the 16th.)
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Criticism and Explanation of Mrs. Hiller’'s Account of Her
Sittings.

It does not give the reader quite a fair idea to say Mrs.
Roberson asks a great many questions. True, she does lit-
erally, but they are really interrogative statements, and she
many times does not wait for the sitter’s answer, but keeps
talking on. I found that by ignoring her questions it made
no difference apparently, altho I have no doubt she would
gladly accept help from her sitter and depends on it. Her
guess as to the number of years of marriage, if stenograph-
ically reported, would be to guess until a silence, nod of head
or acknowledgment told her she had hit the correct number.
She then would say, “ Now let’s see how long he says you
been married,” just as tho she had said nothing of it before,
and then when she brought out, “ Why, he says you been
married seven years; is that right?” the sitter is duly im-
pressed and forgets to remember how it was led up to.
However, she makes a few statements clearly, abruptly and
correctly, that this system does not explain. I will call at-
tention to them later. In the next statement the medium
foolishly weakens her position by her explanation. She
often does this. The hand incident was good and hard to
explain. Mrs. Hiller, while not an experienced investigator
(this being her first sitting), is not easily stampeded, and
when she says she did not tell about the hand, even remotely,
I can quite believe her. Scar on face is only half a point;
altho if this is genuine, it is quite possible that it is a fault of
transmission of intelligence, and not an actual error, altho
we must so regard it in any critical examination. The grave
and mourning incident seem to be a regular thing in these
sittings, the spiritistic theory rejecting graves, etc. The in-
cident of the son’s absence at deathbed is very good and
scores heavily, although the Podmorean mind will say that
Mrs. Hiller, by asking the question, raised the question as to
some one being away. It would have been wiser to have
put this question in a very ambiguous manner, but it stands
as a plus answer anyway. The name of “ Will,” so promptly
given, when “ Willis” would have been correct, for a one-
shot answer is very good, and especially as she repeats her
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success by “ Edna,” which is correct. This is the best she
did with names in any of the sittings. The smoking incident,
while true, is too common to be of great weight. Still it
counts. The curious muddle she gets into about Mrs. Hiller
and her husband being divorced is interesting; physically
they are separated, but only because his business takes him
away. The liquors and chemicals might express an ignorant
mind’s appreciation of a chemical laboratory. As to the
large men,—this, as to the husband, would be a safe guess,
as Mrs. Hiller is rather smaller than the average.

This sitting gives®a rough total of twelve statements, of
which seven were correct, three incorrect and two partially
so. (I count the scar and divorce incidents as partially cor-
rect.)

Mrs. Hiller, the day after the first sitting, had another
sitting and dictated both. She was not impressed and con-
siders it all guessing. Yet there are one or two things dis-
tinctly hard to explain, and she recognizes the difficulty of
so doing by guessing.

The second sitting was poorer; the medium rapidly runs
over the previous sitting and then begins to guess at her
sitter’s name. The fourth time she strikes the correct name.
The rest of it is poor and weak, not carrying out the prom-
ise of the first sitting. She is honest about getting names
and confirms Mrs. Watson’s statement of getting the full
name spontaneously, but this, as she admits, is very rare,
having occurred only three times in her life. Mrs. Hiller
gives a good picture of the technic of Mrs. Roberson. My
only addition would be that she seems very religious.

In pursuance of my plan, I sent my stenographer and her
girl friend to have a sitting, the stenographer to take such
notes as she could surreptitiously. The account is from
shorthand notes taken freely but not verbatim, during the
sitting.

’

Report of Sitting with Mrs. Fanny Roberson, Tunmar, O.,
Nov. 18, 1911.

On reaching the residence of Mrs. Roberson, Miss Calder

and I saw go in before us two women, and judged the one to
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be Mrs. Roberson, as she unlocked the door, etc. We asked
if we might have a sitting and she said we might and bade us
enter. On entering, we all became involved in a discussion
of carpets, curtains, etc., etc., in which Mrs. Roberson was in-
terested, as she had been laying a new carpet, putting up
curtains, etc. We were most careful, during this conversa-
tion, not to disclose anything concerning ourselves which we
thought might have bearing on the reading, and addressed
each other by fictitious names, I calling my friend, who was
to have the reading, Helen, and she galling me Margaret.
Mrs. Roberson left us for awhile, to answer a call at the door,
but her friend remained and we continued talking to her
about generalities only; we made a point to call each other
by the above names, but did not make it too marked. Then
Mrs. Roberson’s friend said she would have to leave, and
went downstairs, where she must have jojned Mrs. Rober-
son, who was then at the door.

Mrs. Roberson rejoined us after a few minutes and asked
which of us wanted the sitting. We told her Miss Calder,
and the reading began. (The room was quite dark, the only
light being that shed by a dim light in the hall and the glare
of a gas stove, in front of which Mrs. Roberson sat. My
friend sat to the right of Mrs. Roberson, at a distance of
about six feet, and was not ir a good light. I sat in back of
them both, to the left of the room, in darkness, and was in a
position which enabled me to take down all that transpired
without being seen.) The medium put her head in her
hand, closed her eyes, sighed, and said, “Aint you worrying
about somethin’ or had a disappointment?” Miss Calder
said that maybe she had had a disappointment. Then Mrs.
Roberson said, “ You got a sister in the other world, aint
you?” “Yes.” answered Miss Calder. (This is correct.)
“And a grandfather?” further queried the medium. “ Yes,”
Miss Calder made reply. (Correct.) “ Well, your mes-
sages will be from them two,” we were informed.

Medium :—“Aint you had three beaux?” In answer to
this Miss Calder laughed but made no direct answer, altho
she tried to convey the meaning that this was not true.
However, the medium insisted that she must have had, being
a “beautiful girl,” etc. Miss Calder then confessed that this
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was true, and so it was. Mrs. Roberson then wished to know
if Miss Calder “ aint had two rings give her.” Miss Calder
said no, she had had only one; then Miss Calder was in-
formed that she would get another shortly, as there were two
rings in store for her. (Later thought revealed that she had
had two given her already,—one from her grandmother and
one from her mother. We did not find out whether this
was the kind of ring meant, tho.) Then the medium asked,
“Aint you had a quarrel with your present beau?” Miss
Calder said in reply, “ Can’t you tell?” This made the me-
dium most indignant and she said that if Miss Calder wanted
to have a reading she could give it to her, would read her
from her “ crown to toes,” but that she must do her part and
answer any questions put to her. She explained that she
wanted to prove to us that there was life hereafter and that
there could be communication between that world and this;
that she was nothing herself but an instrument whereby this
communicating could be carried on, and that she had to obey
certain rules, which the one having a reading would have to
observe as well. She contended that she would have to tell
us about things past, to convince us that she could foretell
the future as well. Miss Calder behaved very well there-
after. She answered, truthfully, that she had had a recent
quarrel, as stated. Then the medium wished to know
whether Miss Calder had not cried before him at the time of
quarrel. She answered in the affirmative, with truth. Then
the medium said, “ You do not get angry often; but, when
you do, you cry. Is that true?” “Yes.” (Correct.)
Medium:—“ You have received two presents from this
young man, have you not?” “Yes.” (Correct.) “ Did
you not take a pleasure trip with him lately?” asked Mrs.
Roberson. “ No,” answered Miss Calder, truthfully. “ Well,
then you will,” said the medium. ‘ You think there is no
one like this fellow,” continued Mrs. Roberson, “ but it will
only last about two months longer. Then you will become
so disgusted that it will be all off. And you won’t get mar-
ried for two years. You have learned a trade, have you
not?” “Yes,” answered Miss Calder. (She is a stenog-
rapher and bookkeeper.) “ That’s what I get,—that you
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have learned a trade. Just stick to it, girlie, for two years
more,” said the medium. ‘“ Have you lately changed posi-
tions?” asked Mrs. Roberson. “ No,” answered Miss Cal-
der, truthfully. “ Well, I see two changes in store for you,”
said Mrs. Roberson. “ Do you sew?” “A little,” answered
Miss Calder. (She sews very little, less than the average
girl.) “I see that you sew,” said Mrs. Roberson. “ Didn’t
some one round you hurt his finger?” Miss Calder could
not think of anything like this for some time, but finally
- recollected that the aforesaid “ present beau” had cut his
finger very badly a few weeks ago; the finger had bled for
an hour or so, and Miss Calder had tied it up.

“ Does any one drink round you?” “Yes,” Miss Calder
made answer. “Is it your father?” “ Yes,” said Miss
Calder, truthfully. “1I smell the liquor,” replied the me-
dium. “I get it that he aint a bad pop, and don’t drink
often, but when he does he’s cross to your mother; I hear
scolding.” “ That is right,” answered Miss Calder. (Her
father takes off about a week every three months, at which
time he drinks to excess and is terribly cross; he really only
drinks for three days about, but takes off the rest of that
week to rest up. Ordinarily, however, he is very amiable
and steady.) “ Your mother feels that your father ought
not spend his money so foolishly [correct], just like any
woman would feel,” said the medium.

“ Now this man you’re goin’ to marry will be much su-
perior to the one you're goin’ with now. He'll be educated,
and will do bookkeeping in an office. He will not be from
this town. Will wear steel colored clothes when you first
meet him and will be real stylish. He’ll have a gold tooth
in the front of his mouth, to one side. He’ll only have one
habit,—smoking. Will be a perfect man. Do you like dark
haired men better than light?” “ No,” answered Miss Cal-
der. ‘“That’s what I get,—that you don’t. Well, this man
will have light brown hair and blue eyes. Are you musical ?”
“A little,—I like music,” answered Miss Calder. “ Well,
your husband and children will be very musical. You will
be very happy. Your first husband will die after you have
been married 1, 2, 3, 4, etc., etc.,—17—1I can’t quite get that
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number, maybe 17 years. Then you will be a widow about
four years. The man you’ll marry first will wear a ring
(indicated which finger here) but I can’t tell what kind of
ring, ‘cause I can’t quite see that.”

“Has your mother six children?” “No,” answered
Miss Calder, truthfully. “ Well, were there ever six in your
family?” “ Yes,” truthfully answered Miss Calder. (There
were four children.) “ Have you three brothers?” “ No,”
answered Miss Calder. “Is there one?” “Yes.” (Cor-
rect.) “Isn’t one going to school?” “ Yes.” (Correct.)
“Well, you will have just as many children as your mother,
and the same kind, one boy and three girls. Two will die;
a boy and girl will live.”

“Isn’t some one sickly in your family?’” asked Mrs. Rob-
erson. ‘“No,” answered Miss Calder. “Isn’t your
brother?” “No.” (He is very strong and healthy.)
Then Miss Calder said, “ Well, my father has rheumatism
and it bothers him sometimes.” “See? That’'s what I
mean. And don’t he cough with that?” * No,” answered
Miss Calder, truthfully.

“Isn’t there a message from my grandmother? ” inquired
Miss Calder. A period of silence ensued. Then, “ She says
she’s so glad you have come to talk to her! Wasn’t she a
very little woman?” “ Yes,” truthfully replied Miss Calder.
“And didn’t she favor one grandchild a great deal?” “ Yes,”
came the truthful reply from Miss Calder, who was herself
the favored one. “ One was named after her, wasn’t she?”
“Yes,” answered Miss Calder. (She herself was her name-
sake.) “ Grandma says you mustn’t feel bad ’cause she
died; she says she’s very happy in the other world; that she
aint old like she was here in this place. She says she’s been
wanting so long to talk to you!” ‘Can’t she tell me her
name?” asked Miss Calder. “ Grandma,” began Mrs. Rob-
erson, “won’t you tell your little granddaughter your
name?” And now we heard all sorts of names; some cor-
responded to the names of relatives and a few did not; most
of them could be applied to the different members of a very
large range of relatives. Miss Calder stated, however, that
she did not know the relatives of her grandmother’s second



146  Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

husband. (She did not reveal, however, that her grand-
mother had a second husband, merely saying “ my grand-
mother’s husband,” thinking it might have some influence;
but no reference was made to this.) Mrs. Roberson kept in-
sisting that there was a Margaret, however much Miss Cal-
der said she knew of none. (We thought that perhaps Miss
Calder having called me by that name might have had some
bearing on this.) Then, among other names, Mrs. Rober-
son said “ Florence,” but Miss Calder said she knew of no
one by that name, having in mind relatives only. My name
is Florence, but she did not think of that, and I did not wish
to disclose the fact. “ Didn’t your grandmother have trouble
with her head?” “No,” answered Miss Calder. (The

grandmother did have a little mental trouble, most people

thought, as she was very peculiar, but Miss Calder did. not
interpret the medium’s question as referring to that kind of
trouble, so gave the negative answer.) “Well, I get that
she had a paralytic stroke. Is that right?” “Yes,” an-
swered Miss Calder. (Some years ago she had had a par-
alytic stroke.) “And didn’t she have trouble with her
eyes?” “Yes, that is, with one eye,” answered Miss Calder.
(The eyelid drooped, Miss Calder informs me.) “Well, I
get now that your grandmother died of something affecting
the chest, stomach and heart, is that right?” asked the me-
dium. ““No,” answered Miss Calder. (But this may have
been an incorrect answer, as can be seen later.) “I get that
there was choking and suffering; is that right?” “Yes,”
answered Miss Calder, truthfully. “ Grandma says she just
slept away after the suffering; and that now she’s all right,”
announced the medium. “ She sends you the message that
you should be a good girl and save your money, because
there may come a time when you will need it more than
now.”

Mrs. Roberson again tried to get the grandmother’s
name, but without success, so said she would let her rest
awhile, that Grandma would reveal her name when she got
ready. She gave the names of several more relatives and
gave several names which Miss Calder could not place.
Then Mrs. Roberson asked, “ Did any one in your family die
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of an accidental cause?” “Yes,” answered Miss Calder,
thinking of a second cousin whose head had been chopped
off by accident.

Then Mrs. Roberson tried for the name of “ Grandma ”
again but was not successful. She quite insisted that there
was a Margaret, but Miss Calder again denied this. Then
the medium queried, *“ Melissa?” “ No,” came Miss Cal-
der’s answer. (Just before pronouncing this name, the me-
dium had asked if it wasn’t an old-fashioned name, and was
answered in the affirmative.) Then Mrs. Roberson asked,
“Is it a common name?” “ Yes,” answered Miss Calder.
But even with this help it seemed impossible for Mrs. Rob-
erson to get the right name, so she decided to let that subject
rest for awhile, saying, “ Grandma aint ready to give you her
name just yet but she’ll tell you after awhile, bless the poor
dear.”

Now Miss Calder wished to know something concerning
her grandmother’s peculiar death, so asked more bluntly
than she had really intended to, “Ask her why she left us.”
I was much surprised to see Mrs. Roberson betray her as-
tonishment at this question; she sat bolt upright and plainly
showed surprise in her voice as she repeated, “Ask her why
she left you!” “Yes,” answered Miss Calder, “ she took
her life.” At this the medium said, “ Well, the poor thing,
you see she was ashamed to talk about that before me.” A
short silence ensued. Then, from the medium, “ Did she cut
herself?” “ No,” answered Miss Calder. “ Well, she in-
tended to do it that way at first,” replied Mrs. Roberson.
“Now I get that it was a mistake,” essayed the medium.
“ No, it was not a mistake,” replied Miss Calder. “ Wasn’t
she takin’ medicine? ”’ asked the medium. “ No,” came Miss
Calder’s answer. “ Well, Grandma says it was a mistake to
kill herself, but that you should not worry, as she’s happy
now and everything’s all right. That’s what I meant by ‘mis-
take.” I get it now that she used an acid; aint that right?”
“Yes,” Miss Calder responded. ‘“And she used a lot of it too,
—three ounces,” further stated Mrs. Roberson. (Do not
know as to this at present.) “ She had three burns on her
lips from the acid, didn’t she,” asked the medium. “ Yes,”
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Miss Calder made response. (And Miss Calder says this
was true.) “See? Now how did I know that? Don’t that
show we can communicate with the spirits? ”” said Mrs. Rob-
erson, evidently much elated. “And her hands, that is, her
finger tips, were burned too,” stated she further. “ Yes,”
replied Miss Calder, and she informs me that this was true
as well. “And didn’t you find the bottle some distance from
your Grandma?” ‘ Yes,” came the reply, in truth. “ But
it was in the same room,” said the medium. * Correct,”
said Miss Calder, truthfully. “ Well, the acid burned the
poor thing so she just threw it from her real hard,” further
said the medium. (Miss Calder says the bottle was found
in a far corner of the room.) “And didn’t you find some-
thin’ tore around her?” “Yes,” responded Miss Calder.
(She says her gown was torn round the neck and chest.)
“At what time did she do this,” asked Miss Calder. “ Well,
when you found her she was still warm,” said Mrs. Rober-
son, “and it happened about four o’clock.” (Miss Calder
had indicated, before the medium gave the time, that the
body had been warm on finding it. The time given was not
correct, as the victim had been downstairs at 6.30, then went
back upstairs and was found shortly after 7.30, dead, and the
body was still warm, as stated.) “ Where did she get the
. drug,” Miss Calder wished to know. “A little boy was sent
by her for it,” came the answer. (Miss Calder says this is
not correct, as they traced it up and found she had gotten it
herself, and that her own name was in the book in the drug
store where she had procured it, in her own handwriting.)
“You see I asked you before if somebody in your family
didn’t die an accidental death,” said the medium, evidently
trying to defend herself for not having told about this inci-
dent before. “I didn’t consider this accidental,” said Miss
Calder. “Well, that’s what it is,” said Mrs. Roberson.
“And I said it concerned the chest, stomach and heart, and
that’s right too, ’cause she choked and the acid affected all
those parts,” the medium further vindicated her former
statements. “ Your grandma left some property, didn’t
she?” ‘“Yes,” came the answer. (Correct.) “ And didn’t
she have some bedding and furniture in her room that be-
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longed to her?” asked Mrs. Roberson. “ Yes,” said Miss
Calder.

“Ask her why she left us; my father blames my mother;
what does she say about that,” inquired Miss Calder.
“Well, she lived with you, didn’t she?” asked the medium.
“Yes,” replied Miss Calder. “And your father was her
youngest son, wasn’t he?” “Yes.” (He was her only son.)
“Didn’t she live with you quite awhile?” “ Yes,” came
Miss Calder’s answer. ‘I get one, two,—almost two years,”
said Mrs. Roberson, and Miss Calder said that was correct,
which is true. “ Well, Grandma says that she blamed your
mother a good deal too, but she sees now that it was her
own fault, and that she would never have taken her life if
her mind had not been affected. Her husband died some
years ago, didn’t he?” “ Yes,” said Miss Calder, with truth.
“Grandma says that ever since her husband died her mind
has been affected and she knows she was funny and hard to
get along with and must have been awful trying on your
mother, and she feels awful sorry she caused her so much
worry, but she thanks her now and blesses her every night.
She lost property, didn’t she?” “ Yes,” said Miss Calder.
(Correct.) “And didn’t she have a fire and then lose prop-
erty?”  “Yes,” said Miss Calder. (Also correct.) “ Well,
she says losing her husband, her property, and then your
father drinking too all made her feel bad and she didn’t feel
as if she had any home, so thought she’d better end it all.”
She often wanted to kill herself before but didn’t have cour-
age when the time came.” (Miss Calder says this is correct,
—that she often would complain about not having a home,
being a mother-in-law and in the way, and that she would
kill herself some day.) “She says she’s sorry for your
mother and that she knows your mother worries about her
death often, but she wishes she would come and talk to her
so she could make her know she didn’t blame her. She
thanks and blesses her and puts her arms round your mother
every night.”

“Ask her if there is anything she wanted to tell us before
she died,” requested Miss Calder. “ She wore a ring, a round
gold ring, didn’t she?” *“Yes,” said Miss Calder. “ She
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didn’t wear this to the grave, did she?” “No,” said Miss
Calder, truthfully. *“ That’s right; she says she don’t believe
in taking those things to the grave. And didn’t she have a
watch?” “Yes,” said Miss Calder. (Correct.) “Well,
she wants one of you to have the ring and one of you the
watch. And then didn’t she have a pin, a large, round pin?”
“No, I don’t know of any,” said Miss Calder. (Correct.)
“ Then didn’t your Grandma wear a black dress to the grave,
and didn’t you have it made over for her?” asked the me-
dium. ‘“Yes,” said Miss Calder, with truth. “And didn’t
she wear some kind of shawl about her?” *“ No,” replied
Miss Calder, truthfully, so far as she knows. (The grand-
mother was buried from the home of Miss Calder, so she is in
a position to know about these things.)

Again the medium tried to get the name of Grandma, and
tried and tried and tried for it a great many times without
success. Mrs. Roberson became very impatient finally, the
hour allotted for the sitting lacked only five minutes of being
reached, but she kept on trying. Finally she said “ Fannie,”
in sort of a listless way, as she had been saying the last few
attempts, and as tho she did not really expect that to be cor-
rect. But this was the correct name, as Miss Calder then
told her. On learning this was right, Mrs. Roberson said.
“ Well now aint that cute, girls? You see she was just goin’
to put us off as long as she could. Grandma says she knew

-you’d stay till you got her name and she wanted to put it off
as long as she could, so you'd stay longer, ’cause she loves to
talk to you and wants you to come often. And tell your
mother to come too, it’ll make her feel better if she can talk
to dear old Grandma.”

This was the end of our sitting, which had lasted a few
‘minutes past an hour. -

(The above was written from shorthand notes, taken at
time of sitting.)

I might say that Miss Harris’s, the stenographer’s, only ac-
quaintance with this work has been in writing several re-
ports of tests of mediums for me, and Miss Calder has no ac-
quaintance with it. Miss Calder makes a poor sitter, as her
interest is so intense that it leads her into making unwise
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statements. This will be noted in many instances; notably
in asking why the grandmother left them. And there are
several other little suggestions of which the medium could
have taken advantage; it really seems these mediums are not
bright enough to use the weaknesses of their clients to the
extent to which we accuse them. However, there may be an
unconscious assimilation of these leading questions, and any-
one who intends to investigate should be careful to seem to
be talking freely, yet guard against giving any informa-
tion. It is a great mistake to refuse to talk to the medium,
as this raises an antagonism which is useless; and Dr. Hys-
lop’s excellent method of saying, “ Capital”, “ Good ”, or
“First rate ”, is probably the best answer yet known. It is
useless to go to these sittings and say nothing. The only
thing to do is to take an intelligent interest and yet not say
anything which can be used as weakening the results. Miss
Harris informs me that Miss Calder was very much im-
pressed with the result of her sitting.

Miss Harris has obligingly put the correct answers to the
statements, that the reader can instantly know the truth of
the medium’s guesses. The statements concerning the.rings
and the beau might easily be guesses about any likely young
girl. But time has shown that the two months’ limit to the
friendship of the present beau is not correct. It was really
four months, but the trouble was on the way more than two
months previous. The description of the father was very
striking and true. The new beau’s description is real old-
fashioned Gipsy fortune telling, and at the end shows one of
her adjustable questions; i. e., “ Do you like dark haired
men,” etc., etc. “ No,” replies Miss Calder. ‘ Well, that’s
what I get, that you don’t,” answers the medium. But if
Miss Calder had said yes, it would have fitted that way too.
She uses this manner of questioning considerably and always
wins! For instance, about being sickly; she asks about the
brother and fails. Her knowledge of a drinking father, if
she had reflected, should have led her to lay it to him, altho
it's doubtful whether he has rheumatism or some slight pain-
ful illness. At least, nothing of importance, unless to use it
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as an excuse for not working, but she adopts the possibility
as a successful statement.

Miss Calder now makes her big mistake, from one point
of the investigator’s view; namely, to ask regarding her
grandmother, “ Why she left us,” and then telling that she
took her life. Some investigators claim a gain by asking one
such question, to start the flow, and then checking the qual-
ity and accuracy by a careful stenographic report. It would
have been an interesting experiment to have asked Miss
Calder a week later to give her experience in her own words
and see if she would remember that she made the above
statements.

From here on the medium simply wallows in guesses,
saying it was a mistake, taking medicine, etc., etc. This
report is well worth studying by intending investigators, as
it shows how one question can open up a channel. After
gettmg this fine start and by the acid route the rest is plain;
i. e.,, she burned her lips and her fingers, the bottle was
thrown away (same room, however), she tore her dress.
She told that the body was found still warm, but missed this
guess, and also the time of the deed. Here is also evidence
of great honesty or stupidity on the part of the medium, as
the question, “ Why did she leave us? ” would be interpreted
by almost any one as suggesting suicide, but she cannot or
does not see this point, and says she gets it was a mistake.
Miss Calder further reveals that the father blames the mother
for the grandmother’s suicide, and so again opens up a vista
which the medium is not slow to grasp. Here she gets a
good start and uses skilfully, from the skeptic’s point, the
suggestion made of suicide, family quarrels, drinking, etc.,
etc. It would be quite the commonest thing to have happen,
that the old lady’s husband was dead, if she was living with
her son, unhappily, and that she should have some little
property and a wedding ring.

This sitting all through supports the suspicion that one
only has to get a sitter started and he will supply one with
suggestions. The only remarkable thing is how often the
poor medium fails to profit by the carelessness of the sitter
to the extent possible. The record of Mrs. Roberson’s hits
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and misses could be greatly improved by careful use of the
statements given her. Here too drifts in one of the Piper
incidents, getting a name or information as the consciousness
of the medium gropes through the mists of the trance condi-
tion. Only Mrs. Roberson does not go into any sort of trance.
But she finally, after much guessing, gets “ Fannie,” which
is correct. It is not getting the name that counts, but that
the way it comes out suggests similar experiences with Mrs.
Piper. To my mind she spoils the incident by her foolish
explanation of why Grandma did not give her name sooner.
I have known so many good things discounted by explana-
tion that we must admit explanations do not elucidate posi-
tive statements. Miss Calder was quite impressed with her
sitting and does not dream of the aid she gave the medium.
This, I believe, would be the common fate of most wonderful
sittings, if the sitters could compare what they think occurred
with what actually did occur. The sitter unaccustomed to
the work, the deadly adjustable question, the impressiveness,
the high lights of truths, obscure the trail followed by the
medium through the valleys and swamps. And this report,
had it stopped with the first of Mrs. Hiller’s sittings, would
have given the medium a greater value than I think she de-
serves. It would be most valuable to have Miss Calder’s
mother and father go, to have my wife go; and as the sittings
piled up, I am confident that comparisons would show a
deadly level of repetition which would be illuminating as to
the supernormal value of the commercial mediums that infest
the cities. I do not say they are fraudulent; I do not say they
imagine it all; but it is perfectly safe to say it is a wicked
waste of money and energy to attempt to prove supernormal
communication with such ignorant, untrained mediums, in
isolated sittings with untrained observers.

Miss Calder’s was the most prolific sitting of any of the
four reported. Fifty-three positive statements were made to
Miss Calder, thirty-eight of which were correct, eleven in-
correct, and four partially so. I will now append my own
sitting with Mrs. Roberson, and at the close of this account I
append a criticism. Last of all the synopsis of the total state-
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ments made to the three sitters, with the number correct
and incorrect, will be given.

Report of a Sitting with Mrs. Fanny Roberson, Medium, by
Frank Hakius, November 22, 1911.

I first heard of this medium through Mrs. Hiller, and her
report of two sittings is given above. I then sent two young
ladies, one of whom, Miss Calder. had a sitting, the report
of which is attached to this. I then decided to go myself,
and on Tuesday, November 21st, at a quarter of eight, in the
evening, went to her house. She asked through the speak-
ing tube who was there and I told her “ Mr. Brown.” In a
short time she let me in and I told her I wanted a sitting.
She began at five minutes of eight and gave a long talk on
various spiritualistic matters and the necessity of patience.
I tried to steer her toward beginning the sitting and asked
her what sort of medium she was. She did not know
whether she was clairvoyant or not, and said she simply acted
as a telephone between the spirits and sitter. When asked if
she went into a trance she said no, she didn’t think she did,
but did not know how she did get it.

She then made the statement, questioningly, that “ Your
parents are on the other side,” to which I replied they were.
She then said that my mother was communicating with me
and tried to tell how many children there were in the family,
—my brothers and sisters. She got badly mixed on this and
altho she tried a dozen different numbers, she was unable to
get it straightened out. She said that three had weak eyes
and three had good eyes. This is fairly correct, altho I am
the only one who can be said to have particularly weak eyes.
She further stated that there was a birthmark or deformity
in our family. This is not correct and she later changed it
to saying that it was my father’s brother’s child, whose name
was either Charles, Francis, Will or John, and the deformity
consisted in a stiffness of the knee. (Not recognized.) Then
a man came, with blue eyes. who had died two and one-half
years ago. He fell off the cars or was hurt on cars and his
head was affected. (This could not be recognized.) The
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medium then said my father had been sick two years before
he died. (This is only generally speaking, as he was not par-
ticularly ill until a short time before his death.) I wish to
state here that all her statements are interrogations, and if
one does not acknowledge the truth of them she quickly
takes the opposite side and twists her words to suit the case
if possible. She said further that my father had died before
my mother (correct); that one in our family was very mus-
ical (not true); that there were two religions in the family
(true). She then asked if I was married and I answered in
the affirmative. She said that I had been quite a bachelor
and thought I never would get married but had thought
enough of one girl possibly to marry her before I met my
wife. This is not very direct and is possibly true of a great
many people. She then said she got the names Mary, Eliz-

- abeth, Catherine, Anna, and that they were round me. It is

true, as I acknowledged, that I knew people by these names.
We have a very large circle of relatives and these names may
be found amongst them, but I also find that she asked Miss
Calder the same question and gave the same names, so this,
like smelling drink, insanity, etc., may be subjects she brings
up for all sitters. It will be noted, as the sitting develops,
that she says the same things to the sitters. She also got the
names Fritz or Fred and Jacob, stating that my mother said
they were my great grandfathers’ names. (Not correct.)
She then asked if there had been trouble in settling the estate.
My answer was that there was a trifle, but the estate I had
in mind was all settled, altho she said this one was not settled
vet, was abroad, and would come from my father’s people.
I think there is no doubt that this is not true, as there is no
money in question on his side of the family. She said she
saw my wife in my office, helping me a great deal, and asked
if this was true. I said she did not, and she quickly changed
it, saying she saw a large woman with fair hair, a good busi-
ness woman and very honest, and said she was more large
than small. This does not apply to the woman who is in my
office, i. e., as to size. She then said that I sold goods,—
silk,—and variously guessed that it might be umbrellas, gen-
tlemen’s furnishings, paper, furniture or a tailor.
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But anyway, she said, there were four things or four con-
ditions of things that I sold. (This is not correct in any par-
ticular.) She then got the influence of an intoxicated man
who was fleshy, bushy, dark haired, broad, and that he was
in my business with me, travelled for me, and had two gold
teeth and drank considerably. (Not correct.) She then
said also that I had another employee, who was dishonest,
pale, high cheek-bone, gray eyes, with a lisp, and that he was
stealing money. (Not true.) Then she got the name of
George and two Franks and said something would soon
break in my office, and thought it would be a steam pipe.
Also got name of a man who had been in two accidents,—
one with a horse and one with a gun. (Not known.) She
then said she saw an institution and first thought it was an
insane asylum, but on questioning the spirit, said my two
sisters would both die from operations, the youngest one -
would die first, from an operation in the abdomen, the oldest
~one would die of cancer of the breast. She saw someone in
an army uniform, who was unidentified. She asked me if I
loved children and I said I did. She then said my wife had
a weakness in the side and small of back, which is not true.
Then she said I was going on a business trip and would be
very successful. (Have no such trip in mind at present.)

The hour was nearly up and she asked me if there was
any one that I particularly wanted to hear from. 1 told her
yes there was. She said, “ Did they pass out within the last
two years?” Ireplied that they had. She asked, “A lady?
I said, “ No.” She then said, in a triumphant tone, “ Why
yes, I see it is a gentleman!” This was not particularly
bright, considering it was the only alternative. She de-
scribed him as younger than myself, said he had a cough and
kidney trouble, that he went out very suddenly with a hem-
orrhage and that they had shipped the body a long distance.
This is not true, generally speaking, of the person I had in
mind. He was older than myself, died of diabetes, rather
suddenly but not from hemorrhage, and the body was not
shipped.

My father purported then to communicate, saying that I
had been brought up on a farm (which is not entirely true. as
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we lived in a small village), that I had attended two schools,
one a business school, which latter was correct. And he also
said that every one ought to learn a trade to fall back on in
case their profession or business failed them. (While he
used to make this exact statement, it is not an uncommon one
for a business man to make.) He also said that business
had been bad for eighteen months and would be bad for a
year more, that he could see I would leave Tunmar in a year,
and would make two changes before finally settling down.

My mother then purported to communicate and said that
my one fault was smoking,—(this was a statement she fre-
quently made),—and said she was glad I was not a slave to
it. She also said I was not a Christian, which was a state-
ment she made during my life.

The medium then asked me if I had not recently taken a
trip. My reply was that I was constantly taking trips. She
said, “ Well, you have taken a long trip.” I said this was
right. (Returned from Europe in August.) “ Well, your
mother tells you you’re going to take one still longer.”

She then said, * Your wife’s father was a merchant, was
he not?” I said “ No,” and she replied, “ O, I see; it’s your
father,” and this was correct. She also said my father had
retired before his death, which was in a measure correct.
She then said I had two investments, one good and one bad;
but that the bad one was to be left alone, as it would improve
in time. She said she got the influence that a ring had been
lost in the water. (Nothing known of this.) My mother
then said that I had one brother-in-law whom I liked and one
I did not like. (True.) She also said that I had contem-
plated or was in business with a relative. (Not true.)

She then said that somebody wished to communicate with
me,—that he was taller than I, stoop-shouldered but broad,
wore glasses, had a wide face, hair thinner and grayer than
mine, large nose, chunky hands,—the hands being especially
noticeable in this respect,—that he was very pleasant and one
could not make him angry; that he usually wore a smooth
face but had a mustache when he died, the mustache being
smaller and lighter than mine; that he had a scar on his face
and lighter hair. She said the exact expression he used was
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“so mighty little lighter.” The medium continued, saying
that he had fainted once and that his kidneys and throat were
affected; that he died of apoplexy at night, and was about to
take a journey; that he cleared his voice often in speaking;
was a German, and was very fond of horses and women, and
that at his death there were two ladies with him, his wife and
another woman.

In some respects this is a fair description of a friend of
mine who recently died, and the statement, “ so mighty little
lighter ” was characteristic of him. He had a smaller mus-
tache, which was grayer, died of diabetes and had a catarrh
which caused him to clear his throat frequently. I do not
think horses and women were particular attractions to him.
If she had let the statement go, that there were two women
with him when he died, it would have been a very good point;
but she further elaborated that one was his mistress and one
his wife. If applicable to my friend, it would be his niece
and wife. The medium also said that he had had a watch and
chain given him as an honor. (Not true.) In trying to get
his name, she gave the.following:—James, Albert, Max,
David, Daniel, Frank, John, Will, Albert, Sam, Nick, and the
initials, C. M., none of which were correct. She then gave a
long talk about his advice to me regarding investments, which
was not at all characteristic of the man. She also said she
got disturbances in the head and that there were two insane
in his family. (Not true, to my knowledge.) Also said that
he wanted me to wear cork-soled shoes and recommended a
particular bank in this city. She then said that she could
smell liquor or medicine. This was only partially true, as
while he would smell of medicine he would not smell of
liquor. But she seems to make this statement in every in-
stance. She said there had been a sickness two years ago of
his mother. When I said this could not be true, that his
mother was dead, her answer was “ Why of course, it is his
mother-in-law!” When I said that I thought that was in-
correct, her answer was “ Well, that’s what he says,” which
phrase she uses a great deal. My friend also told her that
they had seen me in a spiritual room in another lady’s house
and also in church in another city, which was not true. This
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medium makes frequent use of words of which she does not
fully understand the meaning and gives a most peculiar
“Mrs. Partington” effect to her conversation. She then
stated that her address had been given to me by a lady, which
was correct. She then got the knowledge that someone
had been poisoned near me and suddenly said, “ Walter,
Walter,—is the name of your {friend,” which is not true.
She then said that she got the name Julia and Harry and
then there was silence a few moments and she said, “ O, why
his name is Louis,” which was correct. She then said he
had laughed many times and had been trying to tease me by
refusing to give me his correct name. She said that he
and I had frequently smoked together, which was true, and
that we had gone on a long trip together, to the East, which
was true. She said he left this city in August, 1910, and said
he died in October, 1910; the first was correct, but the last
not, as he did not die until a year later. She then tried to
describe his wife and said that she was taller than either he,
my wife or myself. When I seemed to doubt this, she made
so many changes as to who was the tallest, that she was cer-
tain to be correct in some of her answers. She then spoke
of the wives and said that one was dark and one light but got
colors wrong. She said correctly that my wife was the
heavier in weight and that he thought she was the better
dressed woman, but the statement that he could never see
any faults in his own wife is far from the truth. She then
said that one of the reasons he liked my wife was that she
was better stock and not of such common stock as his own
wife; this really would express his own sentiments. But it
is not true when he said his wife had a high temper, as she
is anything but high-tempered. She also said that his wife
got considerable insurance and property on his death, which
is not true. She got some small insurance but the property
was hers before she was married. She then said she would
get my name and tried the following,—Edward, Philip, then
she said “ Your name has a J in it,”—Adam, Ross, Pete,
Henry, Francis. I have asked her if she often got names
and she said “ Very frequently,” which was not what she told
Mrs. Hiller. She then gave the name George, which she
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thought certainly was the name, speaking it in much the way
as she had pronounced Louis, in getting my friend’s name.
Martin, Herman, Arthur, William, Willard, Wilhelm, Wil-
bert, were then tried, and finally she said she was unable to
get the name and asked me what my name was. When I
told her she said “ Why I told you that name sometime ago,”
but I showed her, by reference to the notes, that she had
spoken the name “ Walter ” with reference to the name of
my friend. Then she said, “ Well, I guess I got mixed, be-
cause when I saw him he came up and said that name twice,
evidently meaning you, and I thought he was trying to tell
me his name.” This séance had lasted two hours and fifteen
minutes and she tried to give it a very business-like trend in
advising me as to my business affairs, in which she was miles
away from the true facts. She said she was frequently fooled
by spirits who would give wrong names and refuse to reveal
to her the right name until they had kept her guessing a
long while.

This closed the séance and the account as given above is
taken from five sheets of notes written at the time, and the
account practically contains everything she said, except the
talks on patience and heavenly conditions and the love spirits
had for their friends.

In my sitting, forty-eight positive statements were made,
of which twelve were correct, thirty-one incorrect, and five
partially so. Besides the synopsis of hits and misses, not
much need be added to this report. When I wrote it from
my notes, which were freely taken, as Mrs. Roberson said she
had no objection, I commented on its accuracy. When I
think of this sitting my mind instantly reverts to the descrip-
tion of my friend who had fat fingers and cleared his throat
a great deal. The dramatic play of this incident was excel-
lent. She acted it capitally, placing her hand with a stiff
gesture before her mouth while she gave a hacking cough,
exactly simulating the general effect as he used to do. Yet
on the whole her misses in the only incident in which she
scored at all were so many and so important that a re-reading
of it shows how one can easily distort the perspective by re-
membering so vivid a dramatic incident as the cough plus the
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action, and allow the memory to blur the many fatally inac-
curate statements made with all positiveness. One cannot
but wonder if this is not the case in the wonderful tales that
are told of experiences from memories extending over many
years. An incident that is acted has somewhat the reminis-
cent value of an odor. It immediately takes high rank be-
cause, as with an odor, it cannot be distinguished by the spe-
cial sense as any different from the original. Our brain plays
queer pranks with relative values, and the person who wishes
to ‘“ research ” would better rely on written accounts.

There was not in her description of my family, business,
or life, anything exact enough to suggest that she was on a
true scent. The incident second in value was when she said
my friend had said, “ Walter, Walter,” and she thought he
was trying to give his name, and really was giving mine. I
gave her a correct mark for this, altho he never in his life
called me by this name. The incident third in value was
when she saw two women with him. He had a niece who
lived with him, and if seen by an on-looker, it might easily be
inferred that she occupied a nearer and more important rela-
tion than this, because of the active part she took in his af-
fairs. It was a bad error to interpret this as she did. I
think she did this on her own responsibility entirely, not
claiming to have authority from her guides for it.

I have been much interested and instructed in preparmg
these three séances, all within a few days of each other, with
the same medium, and each rather more than ordinarily
checked up by notes at the time, and then the whole written
out within a day of the occurrences. - I am quite sure either
of the sittings would gain in apparent evidential value by re-
telling and lapse of time. Miss Calder’s report, written
twelve months after the sitting, and without ever having read
the notes on her sitting, proves quite interesting.

Mrs. Hiller evidently does not think much of her sitting,
altho there are some capital hits in it that are difficult of ex-
planation by chance guessing, with the facts as we have them.
The statements are complex and complete, bold and terse,
and are true,—not fished after or mutilated by hesitation.
My own sitting, I think, was the poorest of the three. I
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think I am a poor sitter. I never get anything good. I tried
to fairly help the medium, and got a tremendous outpouring,
but failed to recognize much as belonging to me. This is
my usual experience, in the few isolated sittings I have had.
One thing we must admit, if we accept a human survival
after bodily death, is that these crude old machines are in
line as truly as Mesdames Piper, Smead or Chenoweth, and
it may be a few actual vibrations do get through or we might
say are caught by these wandering coherers of the unknown
science, just as the boy outside the ball park knows that a
home run has been made, from the incoherent mass of con-
fusion, and can report it to his chums, altho he can only sur-
mise who released the energy and directed it. The manina
better position can supply detail, but the boy’s main state-
ment is a fact. Certainly there must be all grades of instru-
ments as in everything mortal, and one of the best proofs of
their belief in the thing as they get it is, so few seem to be
alert enough to look up or prepare a brief for their client.
Dr. Hyslop showed this beautifully in his recent Journal
article (Journal Am. S. P. R, Vol. V, pp. 241-257), detailing
a report of a Brooklyn medium’s sitting, which was an abso-
lute failure, altho she knew for weeks who her sitter was to
be! The credulous will say, “ She played for a failure,” but
I doubt this. They are lethargic creatures, plastic, receptive
and negative, and so thoroughly believe in the truth of what
they get from “ somewhere,” that ‘they make no effort to
seek for facts which they could use as communications from
their guides. I do not fail to except a few who are the rare
exceptions. I also believe that a person who had given this
some attention and practice could fake a séance with the av-
erage sitter which would show a larger percentage of hits
than they do, but the quality of the hits would be poorer.
In other words, they would give quantity rather than quality.
There would be none of those arrows which pierce the gold,
as one or two did in Mrs. Hiller's first sitting, but the general
average would be higher.



A Study of Some Mediumistic Experiments. 163

Synopsis.

Sittings | Statements | Correct | Incorrect |Partially
Hiller ........... 12 7 3 ., 2
Calder ........... 53 38 11 4
Hakius ....... ves 48 12 31 5
Totals ....... cene 113 57 45 11
Percentage of each| 50% | 40% 10%

Statement of Impression the Sitting with Mrs. Roberson Had
Upon Miss Calder, as Dictated by Miss Calder, Jan. 17,
1913.*

The sitting as a whole did not impress me very deeply.
Certain parts of it seemed to affect me more than others, and
I absorbed them more readily, but none of it impressed me
very much, and it did not seem very interesting, except some
few parts. The thing which especially impressed me was
where she spoke of my mother’s cousin being hurt and said
his head troubled him so. He was killed in a saw-mill, his
head having been chopped off, and her description of this I
thought very good.

Then, too, she mentioned a good many Christian names

* The record of Miss Calder has a special interest, particularly when
taken in connection with the statements of Miss Harris. It is not often
that we get evidence that mere respectabhility influences one’s statements
about facts of this kind. The lady seems to have been quite enthusiastic
about the experiences at the time they occurred and retained her belief
in their significance in private conversation, but when asked to give her
own personal account assumes the scientific role and minimizes them.
She has very well imitated the academic style of discussing such phe-
nomena. It is true that her account was written out a year after the
sitting, but in the stenographic record she had all the facts before her,
and we may assume that the first enthusiastic impressions, especially the
emotional interests, had subsided. But this does not explain the differ-
ence of attitude between her private and her public statement about the
facts. It is an instance in which we have illustrated the fact that state-
ments against the supernormal may be influenced as much by respecta-
bility as statements for it may be influenced by prejudices of another
sort. In this case the incredulity seems to have been simulated. I
wonder if some of our academic men may not be playing the same game.
The facts, of course, are not impressive and would not move a scientific
man to any conviction for the supernormal, but even as feats at guessing
they should have escaped the method of treatment they received. This
is not a criticism of the treatment, but a comment on the revelation of
the unconscious motives and prejudices that appear whenever a new
truth has to face public scrutiny—Editor.
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of relatives; but there is a large circle of relatives and this
may have been less wonderful than it at first seemed. This
would have impressed me more deeply, had she given the
name of thy grandmother, who had died shortly before the
sitting. This incident (my grandmother’s death), I had
counted upon as making quite a prominent part of my sitting.
My paternal grandmother had taken her life a few months
prior to this reading, and I expected this woman to mention
something of this sort; but she said nothing whatever until I
asked her the leading question, “ Why did my grandmother
leave us?” Before this I was very much interested and
thought that perhaps Mrs. Roberson had some knowledge of
the psychical, but when she failed entirely to touch upon this
one point I lost all belief in her power.

A point which I considered quite amusing was when I

refused to answer some question, saying instead, “ That is
why I came to you. Don’t you know?” She flew into quite
a rage. :
Another thing which she mentioned, and which really was
true, was that I should have a great misunderstanding with a
young man. What she said was true, but perhaps the ex-
periences she related were only general, and such as might
occur to almost any young person; and I may have been too
willing to apply all she said to my particular case. I am
writing this synopsis of my impressions more than a year
later, and have in this time found the prophecy to be wrong
in part at least. She said we would “ never make up,”
whereas we have, but perhaps not fully, so that her saying
may have been correct anyway, dependent upon what she
means by the term, “ make up.”

There was a great deal said at the reading which I cannot
remember, and a great deal of the time was spent by her
funny little grunts, beckoning the spirits to come, etc.

I was told I took a great deal after my father; this may
not be important, but it is true.

She also made a very true remark concerning our home
and family relations and conditions. She said my father
would outgrow the habit of drink, and this has come to pass.

The medium spent a great deal of time in acting out the
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part, evidently to impress us with the mystery of the other
world. She said the spirits spoke so faintly she could hardly
hear them; she said grandmother was so weak, etc., etc., and
would bend her ear away over, low to the floor, etc., to en-
able her to hear the message from the other side.

But what seemed so queer to me about this medium (as
well as others I have met), is that she was so decidedly hu-
man. She seemed like a very ordinary woman, and was in-
terested in worldly affairs.

At first I was impressed, I must confess, with a few of the
remarks, but the more I thought about it, the more I realized
that they were very general remarks and might apply to al-
most any one. . :
FANNIE CALDER, per F. H.

Statement of Impression the Expression of Miss Calder
Made Upon Miss Harris.

It was quite a surprise to me to hear Miss Calder’s view
of what effect her sitting with Miss Roberson had upon her,
as related in her statement of the impression left by this me-
dium’s statements and actions. The whole affair, I believe,
is much clearer in my mind than in Miss Calder’s, as I was
cautioned to be very careful in all my observations, take
shorthand notes, etc., etc. The notes were freely taken and
copied, so that I became quite familiar with what passed. At
different times I would open a discussion on the subject with
Miss Calder, to see what her views were.

The evening of the séance, perhaps less than one-half hour
after it had closed, we met Miss Calder’s mother down town,
and I was quite surprised at the excited and credulous man-
ner in which Miss Calder discussed and related all that had
been said at the medium’s home. She seemed to have im-
plicit faith in all that had been said, and especially dwelt on
all that pertained to her grandmother’s death, assuring her
mother that there was no reason for further worry on this
score, as her grandmother had said she was at peace, and did
not blame Mrs. Calder in the least for the conditions which
made her weary of life.
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Several times after this, I would lead up to this subject,
and Miss Calder would often quote something very inaccu-
rately as having been said at the sitting. And she is more
accurate ordinarily than most people, I have found, so that
this rather surprised me; and as time has gone on, her views
have become still more inaccurate, altho she gets the main
drift quite well, but the details are invariably wrong, accord-
ing to my notes.

At no time, however, have I ever thought that she would
make a statement such as she has to-day written, regarding
her impressions. As a rule Miss Calder is willing to believe
almost anything a palmist or medium tells her, especially if it

"coincides with what she likes to believe. I have discovered
this since the meeting discussed herein. I am convinced,
from all I have heard and observed concerning this sitting,
that Miss Calder really was very deeply and unusually im-
pressed by the medium’s statements, especially in the begin-
ning, and think that the very number of statements which
she quotes as being true, and the very little she ever recalls
as being incorrect, proves this to a certain extent. She never
has said that anything which was told her at that time was
absolutely untrue; i. e., those parts which she remembers of
the meeting. (A few she pronounced untrue at the time of
sitting.) All she seems to remember of the sitting she pro-
nounces true, in her talks with me on the subject. (I never
try to bias her judgment on any of the incidents she dis-
cusses about the matter.) But the main objection which she
seems to have against the whole affair, so far as I can see, is
that the medium seemed so ordinary (being interested in the
laying of carpets, her daughter’s pleasures, etc., etc., which
she freely discussed with us before the reading began.) And
she did not like the medium’s manner in getting a message,
as she made so many foolish remarks, etc., and there was so
much “ horse play,” in Miss Calder’s own words.

FLORENCE HARRIS.
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EDITORIAL.

DR. IVOR TUCKETT, SIR RAY LANKESTER, AND
SIR BRYAN DONKIN ON TELEPATHY.

Bedrock, an English Quarterly Review, has started a con-
troversy between Dr. Ivor Tuckett, Sir Ray Lankester and
Sir Bryan Donkin, on the one side, and Sir Oliver Lodge and
other members of the Society for Psychical Research on the
other, about Telepathy. The three first named are all rabid
opponents of it, denying in toto that there is any scientific evi-
dence whatever for it. This is chiefly interesting for the
present writer for the reason that many of the members of
the English Society have been pressing this process as an ex-
planation of very complicated mediumistic phenomena, as-
suming that telepathy has been proved, while the outside
Philistines wholly deny that there is any such thing as telep-
athy at all. This offers a very interesting situation for that
public which has gone about swallowing miracles about telep-
athy while the sturdy scientists ridicule the existence of such
a thing. The present writer having no prejudices in favor
of telepathy can look on rather calmly while the Kilkenny
cats devour each other. It is certainly high time to reduce
that much abused term to a definite meaning, to subject it to
the definition and analysis that all other scientific conceptions
receive.

It is noticeable that all three of these sceptical writers do
not give any definition of what they understand is meant by
the term “telepathy ”. It is not even clear that they as-
sume the earlier conception of Mr. Myers and the Society.
This definition was “the communication of impressions of
any kind from one mind to another, independently of the
recognized channels of sense.” This definition has usually
prevailed since, tho later the process was distinguished from
telesthesia which is the more technical term for perception at
a distance where perhaps no other than the percipient mind
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is involved, and I should be willing to accept the definition
here given of telepathy provided we understand by it noth-
ing more than a description of the facts and provided that we
do not interpret it either as implying any known process of
communication or as an explanation of any process. On ac-
count of the difficulties attending the definition and the as-
sumptions often made with the term, I have for a long time
been defining telepathy as a mere name for facts and not im-
plying any known or conjecturable process whatever for ef-
fecting it. Hence to me telepathy is a name for mental co-
incidences not due to chance or guessing and not due to
normal sense perception. Whether it occurs as a fact
is not concerned in the conception of it. We only define
what it would be if it were a fact. The main point about
this is that the definition assumes nothing about the
directness or indirectness of the process involved. It has
always been assumed that the telepathy was a direct process
between living minds. That, however, is the problem. The
existence of the facts establishing the coincidences not due to
chance or guessing and not due to normal sense perception
does not determine the latter hypothesis, which has to be in-
vestigated separately. The reason for assuming that it was
between the living was the desire not to introduce causes
whose existence had still to be proved, while the known pos-
sible causes were the living. Besides it was an ad hominem
concession to the sceptic who had to be converted to a super-
normal which had no spiritistic appearance before he would
listen to still more remarkable things. But this was a device
for conversion, not a necessity for science. In the course of
time the ad hominem concession to the sceptic became an as-
sumed fact, which upholders of telepathy had no right to
make. It is perhaps because of this that the whole contro-
versy has recently arisen.

Now Dr. Tuckett, Sir Ray Lankester and Sir Bryan Don-
kin do not tell us what they understand telepathy to be, and
until they do so, controversy is useless. What is it they are
opposing? We cannot accept or deny their position until
we know this all important thing. Now if “telepathy ” be
taken only as a name for the facts of mental coincidences not
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due to chance, etc., I must say that there is abundant evidence
of such coincidences not due to chance or to normal sense
perception. But whether there is evidence of anything more
is another matter. If telepathy is to include the idea that the
communication is and must be assumed to be between living
minds, I should quite agree with these sceptics that there is
not any scientific evidence whatever for such a process.
There are plentiful facts proving the coincidences not due to
chance, etc., but not one showing that the process is a direct
one or that it is between and only between living minds. I
fully agree with scepticism on that point, and I am glad to see
a controversy, that should have taken place long ago, right
within the ranks of the Society. There has been too much
confusion of the problem of conversion with the problem of
explanation. We concede things for the sake of argument
with the sceptic that may not be true at all, but which appeal
to his prejudices, but we should not assume that this settles
any scientific problem.

Dr. Tuckett and his colleagues may be as faulty as their
opponents in this matter. There is no indication in their dis-
cussion of what they are talking about. All that readers of
a careful and critical type can discover is a general and vio-
lent antagonism against something, no one knows what.
They remind you of the Irishman who was always “ agin the
government ”’, tho he did not know what the government
stood for. They will have to define more accurately and
analyze the problem before their diatribes will be worth
much. With one conception of telepathy, they are opposing
a truism; and with the other, they are defending one. To
the present writer the controversy is welcome as putting
people by the ears who ought to have been clear long ago.
It will be a healthy situation when we can distinguish clearly
between facts which have evidence for their existence, and
hypotheses about their nature and occurrence which have no
evidence whatever for themselves. We may then hope to
make progress in the discussion of the issue.
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EXPERIMENTS CONTINUED.
By James H. Hyslop.
X. Various Relatives.
1. Introduction.

The incidents in this part of the record are excellent
and are proof against any ordinary access by normal
methods. This is particularly true of my Aunt Julia. She
had died in the far West many years ago and had not been
seen by me since 1863. I knew nothing about her except
her name and general character. Her life had been spent in
the far West and in a very obscure way. Only two daugh-
ters and a son survive her and they lived far apart. I did not
know myself where one daughter and the son lived, and would
not have known where the other daughter lived but for her
care of an aunt during several years. Some of the incidents
were not known by this daughter and had to be verified by
inquiry elsewhere.

The incidents, too, connected with Aunt Cora are good
where they are true and verifiable. She too died in the far
West eight or ten years ago. I knew-little of her life and it
was inaccessible by any ordinary methods. The facts con-
nected with her can be set down as very good tests, as the
physical evidence of their truth in some cases disappeared at
least sixty years ago, and also all the persons but two who
might remember them. Consequently the incidents may be
counted as most excellent ones.

My cousin Robert McClellan was mentioned in my first
Piper Report, so that his name might have been obtained
there. The fact is, however, that his name was not men-
tioned, except the Robert, and he was identified by the inci-
dents told about him, and these were new ones, some of them
not known by any living person except his widow. His mes-
sages had much confusion in them and only a part of them
are excellent.
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2. Incidents.

In the course of the experiments several relatives tried to
make their presence and personal identity manifest. In no
case did they apparently try to get their full names through,
but only their Christian names. One apparently.did not.try
this much, tho the incidents and the mistake regarding his
own wife still living with enough of her surname to make
clear who was meant indicated with whom I had to reckon.
My father was said by the controls to be responsible for their
presence and he often appeared to be assisting them. But
the groups of facts, whether directly or indirectly sent by the
persons whose identity is involved are such that they deserve
consideration by themselves and shall receive it. .All are
through Mrs. Chenoweth.

1. Aunt Cora.

On November 26th, 1910, in the normal, and before the
subliminal approach to the trance manifested itself, Mrs.
Chenoweth got the names Cora, May, Hattie and Rob. The
name Hattie is not recognizable in this connection, but the
other three are. Cora is the name of my Aunt and Aunt by
marriage of the Rob mentioned and Grand Aunt of the May,
supposing that the persons are those I take them to be. '

On April 20th, 1911, this Aunt apparently communicated
the following incidents:

“ Do you know a woman or girl who had black hair which
she wore high on her head, a slender form, a small face with
dark eyes and rather dark skin and vivacious manners. I think
her name is [pause.] Wait a minute, I lost it. I had it a mo-
ment ago. [Pause.] C [pause.] ora. She is eager to come here.
Do you know her?

(Possibly, go on.)

She is with your own people and has been gone some time:
that is, she was out of your life for some time and has been here
for some time. (Yes.) I see her walking in a swift way through
a small village or little town and toward a country road and she
moves toward a little burying place and stops as if that were
where her body was laid away. Do you know anything about
this?
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(No, I do not, but I can inquire.)

All right. She must follow her own will in this and I will
record her pictures and you can do the rest. This little burying
place is rather high and unprotected by trees. It is 80 sunny
and almost bare; and then I leave with her and out of the
gate and follow alon? a country road to a house where she used
to ‘go. It is a small old fashioned house of light color, more
yellow than white, and she walks in as if familiar with the place
and surroundings. Then she goes to a more settled place where
she lived and worked and I see many children about her. Did
she teach school?”

This is followed by a lengthy account of her teaching,
playing with the children, singing and teaching singing and
calisthenics.

In her early life this Aunt, who had a small face, very
dark hair and eyes, lived in a small village and the cemetery
or burying ground which she here describes lies outside that
village and on a country road. It is on high ground, the
water shed for two streams, but is not on a hill. When I
knew it—and that was when she lived in that locality—it was
perfectly bare of trees, not a tree in it. It was not, however,
the place where she was buried. Her father and mother
were buried there.

She never taught school, I learn from her surviving
brother and sister. She was a deaf mute and attended school
as a small girl for some years where she learned what was
then the deaf mute language, namely, signs with her hands,
and she was an expert at it. Probably it was this in the
mental picture that gave the idea of calisthenics. The inci-
dent rather favors the hypothesis that she was not herself
communicating this fact as it would not so naturally be a
a visual picture for her.

Then came a reference to her baptism, but inquiry showed
that there was no special reason for mentioning it. This
was followed by the question: “ Who is the Sadie she
knew?” and a reference to “a‘small Bible with a gilt cross
on the outside ”, which cannot be verified. The implication
that she was an Episcopalian as given in a reference to “ Epis-
copalian business ” is not correct. I was then asked if Sadie
was not closely related to me and I replied in the affirmative,
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with a sister and a cousin in mind. Presently, without hint
from me, the psychic said that Sadie was a closer relative
than Cora to me and remarked that it was my sister. Sarah
was the name of my twin sister. Then I was asked if “ Cora
had a sister Sadie too.” Again I replied in the affirmative
and the remark immediately made that “ Cora and Sadie
seemed like cousins or a relationship similar to that to you.”
They were not. They were both Aunts, but their niece
Sadie, not mentioned here, was my cousin.

Reference was then made to a book with pictures in it
and the statement made that there was one of herself there
which looks little like her now. This was correct, as I
learned, tho comparison with her present appearance cannot
be made. The details about an organ and a prayer meeting
in a certain house described in some detail cannot be verified,
except that she never played.the organ. The statement
made that she died away from home was not correct, but it
was true of her nephew. Then came the following with its
confusion.

“Do you know a man connected with her whose name was
J? (Yes.)) John. (No.) The J is right but I cannot get the
rest. It sounds like James or Jacob or some such.”

James is the name of her brother, still living, and who
lived in the same place with her. Then reference was made
to a small child with her, a boy, first appearing as a small
baby and then a boy, ‘ near the family ” and the statement:
“ She knew about the child and its coming.” She was never
married, but her brother lost a small child, a fact which I
never knew but which she knew. This was followed by an
allusion to a woman with a sunbonnet who was said to be
her mother. Her mother died long ago and most probably
wore a sunbonnet in her day. The George mentioned in this
connection I could not identify. Then Ohio was mentioned.
This was her early home, the latter part of her life having
been spent on the Pacific coast. She was said to have stud-
ied a foreign language and German was named. This is not
correct. She was described as “crocheting some white
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fancy stuff , the fact being that she did this a great deal, as
she could not go into social life on account of her deaf-
mutism. I knew nothing about this fact.

There then came a long and detailed incident purporting
to represent circumstances connected with her death. These
are implied rather than stated, as it is their place in the nar-
rative that gave this impression to the control or the psychic.
Reference was made to a sleigh, a town, a fence, the letter M
as connected with someone associated with her, plans for a
new house, sudden death, the coffin carried in a sleigh in the
winter and funeral service at another place than where she
died. Not an item of this applies to her and it has not been
ascertained whom it would fit. The name Claire given in
connection with the incident has no ascertained meaning.

Following these incidents, beech trees were said to grow
about the place in which she lived, and also walnut trees,
adding that the boys and girls used to go nutting. This was
correct, save that beech trees were not plentiful in that lo-
cality. I knew nothing of the nutting, tho I could have
guessed it. A detailed account of a mill on a farm, not used
for a long time, associated with the nutting tramps, a mill
pond connected with low flat rocks, a man killed near it and
found out-of-doors near the woods and a tree struck with
lightning are all unrecognizable by any surviving relative and
unrecognized in such a way that it is extremely improbable
that they represent any incidents in the family life or know-
ledge.

Then came the following incident which shows that other
families were concerned in some of these incidents and per-
haps in all that are not verifiable in the connection implied
or asserted:

* A negro is a common sight now, but was not then in that
place. But there was one whom everybody knew who worked
in fields and about farms. Do you know him?

(That depends on more specnﬁc information.)

An old man who was a sort of -character to the natives. He

was black enough to have no doubt of his origin but was free
then.”
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As the time was up the incident ended there, but in a
moment capital D was written and I was asked if it was im-
portant, and I simply remarked that it might be if the rest of
the name were given. The name Davis was spelled out and
then the statement made: ‘It sounds like Davis or David ”.
In the subliminal recovery I was asked if I had any Uncle
David and whether he had a red barn, and the name Ella
came in the query: ‘“ Do you know an Ella?” This Uncle
David was said to be alive.

An Uncle of mine and brother-m-law of this Aunt Cora,
and who appears definitely in later communications, had an
old negro who worked on his farm in the early days. This
was forty-five or fifty years ago. The man was quite a char-
acter in the community and was as black as a coal. I can
barely remember him, but would not have done that had not
a surviving brother of this Aunt Cora mentioned the fact
and given his name.

David, not Davis, was the name of an Uncle of mine and
brother-in-law of Aunt Cora in whose family Aunt Cora
spent her whole life. He is still living. Ella is the name of
a deceased Aunt, the wife of the living brother of Aunt Cora.
She is more definitely identified elsewhere (p. 196).

The reference to the negro is interesting for the reason
that Aunt Cora would not be the person most likely to men-
tion him, as the man was more closely associated with my
deceased Uncle mentioned later.

2. Aunt Julia.

In the New York sittings in 1907 and 1908 Uncle Joe, the
deceased husband of this Aunt, was mentioned and fairly
well identified by incidents. He was mentioned in this series
and his relation to me indicated. His wife Julia died many
years ago in the West, whither the family moved in 1863, as
I had to ascertain from a daughter. Absolutely all that I
knew of her was her name Julia, that she was a refined and
ladylike woman, and that she was dead. I never saw her
after I was nine years of age.
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On May 6th, 1911, after the preliminaries, G. P. began
the communications with the following.

“ Do you know anyone by the name of Julia? (Yes.)

She has not been heard from has she? (No.) ShallIgoon?

(Certainly. I shall be very glad to hear all you can give.)

I see very dark smooth hair and a quiet fleasant looking
face, but neither very old or {ou , between old and young, and
that is in connection with Julia now hear a merry laugh and
see so many people about her. This is a spirit I am talking
about. Do you understand?

(Yes, why do you put it that way?)

I thought you had an earthly Julia in mind.

(That is right, but I understood what Julia you had.)

All right. T did not want you to think I was talking about
the earthly one. You understand now. (Perfectly.) There is
a drawn look on the face and a worn manner as if the body was
very much worn at death. :

Do you know anything about a book which was constantly
read to or by this Julia in the last days? It looks like a Bible
and I feel a Christian influence about her. Do you know about
this?

(I do not, but I know a person who will.) ”

There followed a considerable passage with some evi-
dential touches of her mental attitude toward her suffering
and submission, but on the whole not requiring quotation.
Then abruptly came the following:

“Do you know anything about a peculiar spread? It looks
very old fashioned and of some interest as an article passed down.
It is blue and white and looks like one of those handmade things.
I mean hand woven. It is still in existence and is thought much
of. Julia did not do it herself but it was done by someone before
her day. Do you know anyone by the name of Margaret?
(Yes.) Connected with her? (Yes.)”

The living Julia referred to is the wife of my brother. I
was not especially thinking of her, but it was interesting to
note the distinction made spontaneously. The Aunt Julia
was not “ between old and young ” but my sister-in-law is.
But the Aunt Julia had very dark smooth hair and a very
quiet manner and face. I learn from her daughter that she
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suffered much and long in her last days and that the Bible
was read to and by her until the last few weeks of her illness.
The same authority says of the spread: “ Mother had a
blue and white handmade spread, quite a handsome one,
handed down from my great grandmother Little. It was
fringed on three sides.” Margaret is the name of her sister-
in-law and an Aunt of mine.

There were then some statements about the free and easy
habits of everyone in the living room, and then an allusion
to an “old fashioned clock on a bracket or shelf”. The
daughter recognizes this clock and says it was kept on a
shelf on the wall. An allusion to a house with shutters on
it to keep the sun out is not recognized by the daughter and
son. It was stated, without suggestion from me, that she
was a relative of mine and then reference made to “ the fam-
ily, not in your time but away back where they all started,”
which coincides with the fact that they had started before
my time far from their later home and beyond my recollec-
tion. She was said to be fond of flowers and “always
stooped and looked at them.” This, the daughter says, is
correct. Then came the following.

“'There is a dog there. It follows her into the house with
the same freedom which everything and everybody feels. It is
a short haired dog white with a brown spot here or there, short
ears and fat as he could be. It ought to run, but it doesn’t. It
is too well fed.”

The daughter does not recognize this dog in any respect.
But the living brother, mentioned later, does remember it as
a dog in his family. His wife died a few years ago. This
brother writes me that the dog was a white bull terrier, had
short hair, short ears, medium fat, followed the children into
the house and was a great pet of theirs. He does not re-
member whether there were any brown spots on it. The
dog belonged to the early days of the family and is now
dead.

In immediate connection with this came the following
which exhibits some confusion, as the sequel will show:
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“'There is a man here standing near her and all I hear is
brother. It is her brother. Do you know if she has a tall
brother over here?

(No I do not, but I can find out from someone I know.)

You know one brother you mean.

(No, but I know a living person who can tell; besides, I
know a person tall who is not a brother.)

[T had in mind a deceased son who I thought was tall, and
wanted to see if any correction would come.]

Over here. (Yes.) Of course there is a possibility that the
brother is not the tall man but I hear brother and I see the tall
man beside her.

(Well, I said what I did so that you could make any doubts
clear.

I zvill tell you about the tall man. He opens his mouth as
wide as a door for he is genial and good natured as she is and he
is fond of her. But I see some tools, sort of beside him. They
are in a box and seem to be kept around the house for little jobs
and things he wishes to do. He is what one would call a handy
man about the house. He is often in the home where the
grandma clock is and when he went to the spirit it was a sudden
thing and very sad.”

This is a description, not of the brother, but of her de-
ceased son. Evidently the control or subconscious of the
medium mistook the reference to brother as indicating the
communicator’s brother. He was in fact the brother of the
one whose dog had just been described in the previous sen-
tence and it was probably this that was said, so that the me-
dium or control, not knowing whose the dog was, misinter-
preted the term.

I saw this brother once when he was a young man and my
recollection of him was that he was tall. His sister says he
was not, but says that the reference to wide mouth would
identify anyone in the family.

I learn from the sister that the deceased brother had a
chest of tools that came from an ancestor and that this
brother was quite a handy man about the house at carpentry
work.

There followed a reference to someone connected with
this Aunt Julia and who was said to have been on school
committees and interested in the public affairs of his com-
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munity. No one recognizes such a person. The communi-
cations then continued.

“ And now Hyslop do you know anything about a store? Did
anyone connected with her have a store?

(I do not know, but the same person referred to will know.)

I see a store and I see a man with grey hair and a bald spot
on his head and he wears his glasses up here about half the time,
as if to ornament his head. In the store or near it is the post-
office, for I see him moving and talking about the mail. I do
not know whether the postoffice is in his store or next door, but
it is near. I wonder if this is all connected with Julia. It seems
to be and yet she is a new communicator to me and I am not
sure of her power yet.

(It all depends on what you have in mind. If anything of his
name can come out it will decide.)

We will see what more I can get. There are certainly two
men here, for one is shorter and stouter than the other and one
is husband I believe and one is brother.

(Tell who the husband is.)

If I can I will. Wait a little till I get something else which
is being projected. Do you know anyone beginning with S who
belongs in his group.

(Yes, living or dead?) [The daughter in mind.]

I think it is living. It seems to be a woman and she has a
memory that reaches farther back than yours you understand.

(Yes.) [Thinking of the Aunt S mentioned in sitting of
May 4th.]

What has your father got to do with all this?

(He understands all of it.)

I know he does, for he suddenly shows up as if he is in the
most familiar conditions. Again I see two letters R and ] are
they.

y('\Vhat is the J for?)

You mean what is the name. (Yes.) I thought it was
James but am not sure whether it is that or John. It is short
like that and is a family name. Right here do you know a Fred
who .... (Not Fred.) is there Frank.

(Yes, how is he related to that J?)

It is close in the family. I am all in a bunch of relatives. I
think J is father of F, and I think Frank was very close in touch
with his father and very much saddened by his death. Who is
C. (Not sure.) a woman alive in that connection. I am near
Frank with that letter.

(All right. I do not happen to know, but can find out. You
have not got the name of J correctly yet.)
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* You would like me to get it. (Yes.) I think J o pause. e.
(Yes.) Uncle Joe is it.
(Yes, he was mentioned here long ago in the New York
sittings.) ” ‘

I, of course, knew nothing about the store and learned
from the daughter that her father kept a store, but she re-
membered nothing about the post-office. The living brother,
however, writes me that the post-office was next door to the
store and in the same building. Joe, Uncle Joe, as the text
shows, was his name. The deceased son was named Ed. or
Edward. The living son is Frank. I took the Fred to be a
mistake for Frank and so said “ Not Fred” thinking of
Frank, and not suspecting that it might be a mistake for Ed.
The R in connection with J might be my father’s initial, as
he slipped in to help. The letter C could be the initial of a
cousin of mine and of the Frank mentioned, nephew of this
Uncle Joe, but there is no way of proving this intention on
the part of the communicator.

My wife soon came in for some communications, but just
before them there was an allusion to an “ Adde ” or Ada and
it was stated that my wife knew her. I recognized two Ad-
dies whom my wife knew and did not know at the time
whether they were living or not, but ascertained later that
both were living. One of them had been mentioned by my
wife in the New York sittings and probably this fact in-
fluenced the subliminal of Mrs. Chenoweth. The messages
however went on to say of this Addie or Ada that she had
taken her departure before she was ready and had desired to
live. ‘“She is rather a pretty woman with dark eyes and
hair and a vivacious manner. She was always into some-
thing that meant a good time and when she went away it
was a hard fight for life.”

Then the messages suddenly switched over to my wife,
without the control’s discovery that the change had taken
place.

Inquiry of the daughter showed that she recalled a living
Aunt Adda who is “a pretty woman with dark eyes, etc.”
and made a hard fight for her life some years ago. She did
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not recognize her brother’s wife in the account, and the
brother says of the message that he has “ no idea as to whom
the expressions would apply to,” and then adds that it might
have been applied to his wife “ who has been dead nearly
five years.” Further inquiry resulted in the information that
she had dark brown hair and grey eyes, was vivacious in
manner and was always in for a good time, and that she made
a hard struggle for years against sickness, but was more re-
signed at the last.

This terminated the communications from this Aunt and
tho she was more or less associated with messages that came
in connection with the more or less recently deceased Uncle,
her brother-in-law, they do not require separate epitomizing,
and we may turn to the other relatives. Intrusive incidents
relative to her may be found in them.

3. Uncle Finney.

This Uncle died at a very old age a few years previous to
the sitting and left his wife, also at a very advanced age, and
still living at the time of the sitting. This Aunt, too, had
had several attacks that might have taken her life, so that it
would be natural for a large group of friends, with her de-
ceased husband, to manifest interest in her.

On May 4th, 1911, through Mrs. Chenoweth, the com-
munications from my wife were suddenly interrupted with
the following:

“Now I want to go with your people to see someone who is
still in the body and who lives away from here. It is a woman
who is past the middle life and who is connected with you and I
think is called Aunt and I think the name begins with S. Have
yvou an Aunt S who is alive? (Yes.) Does she live far away
from here? (Yes.)

All right. 1 guess that is the line. Connected with her in
the spirit is a man who is very eager to get into communication,
but it is all new to him. Do you know anything about the
church life of these people?

(Yes, in general. Go on.)

That is all I want to know. They are rather set in their ideas
of God and the universe and believe in church going and all that
sort of thing and this man had an awakening from his dream
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when he got over here. He is not young, but a tall rather
slender man with quiet ways, but rather firm in his opinions and
the responsibility of life was rather a burden to him. I do not
mean that he was over serious, but he took life seriously and he
lived a conscientious and upright life and was not afraid to die,
but when he died it was a long and rather tedious process and
was a relief to him and to others, for he could not get well.
Do you know about this?

(Yes, I do.)

When he first opened his eyes to the light of this life it was
a great surprise to him but he did not think of it as death. He
expected some other change to follow. But it did seem so good
to have the use of his body and not have to be lifted about as
he had been.

He found a young woman who had preceded him by some
years. Just now I do not know the relationship but will try to
find out. She is rather light and very happy and was one of the
first to greet him. Do you know anyone by the name of Ida
who would be in that group?

(No, but I can inquire. I hope you can go on and make it
clearer.)

The best I can do I will do. You may rest on that. The
Ida seems to be a younger person than the young lady who met
him first. She is like a small child but was in the family group.

There is another woman with him about sixty years old or a
little more perhaps who wears spectacles and has mild blue eyes
and soft grey hair parted in the middle and worn very plainly
combed and she almost always wears a light dress of some thin
material about the home. She is preéminently a home body and
seldom goes away from the house, but she is with him in the
spirit you understand, and has a way of speaking to him as if
he were a member of her family. I cannot now see whether she
is mother or sister, but they belong together and she goes to
the home where S is and feels as if she belongs there. Is there
a younger woman who lives with S? (Yes.) I see one there and
a busy bustling sort of young woman she is and the spirits know
her as well as S. .

The woman in the spirit was a woman who worked un-
ceasingly. She always had to when the family was small and she
never ceased to do so as long as she lived. She is really more
like a mother and I am now perplexed as to whether she is the
mother of S or the man in the spirit but she belongs there as the
mother of one of them.

Who is A. Do you know? (Not yet.) I think this A has
something to do with this woman. It sounds like Abby. Yes
that is it.”
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It was of course what came later that identified my Uncle
more distinctly, but I saw who was meant very early in the
communication. As soon as “Aunt S” was mentioned I
saw that the communicator was my Uncle. He died nearly
two years previous to this sitting and was about 94 years of
age. His widow, about 90, still survives (Aug. 1911). She
lived in the West far from Boston. My Uncle, and the whole
connection as indicated in the communications, was very re-
ligious and of the strictest orthodox type. What is said of
him here is exactly true down to the distinctions drawn to
characterize him. He was long dying, being quite helpless
for some time. I learned from his niece that he had to be
lifted about in bed at the last. I can understand his surprise
after death and certainly the statement that “ he expected
some other change to follow ” consists with his belief in the
physical resurrection.

There is some confusion started in connection with the
name Ida. No one recognizes a relative by that name. It
may be a mistake for the Abby which came a little later and
which also may be a mistake for Addie, the correct name for
the person recognized by the widow. But as Ida is said to
be a “younger person than the young lady who met him
first ” and is “like a small child ” the name might be a mis-
take for Eliza, a sister of the surviving Aunt, who died as a
small child, and then this name confused with a younger
sister who was called Lida. The Abby, whose correct name
was Addie, was my Uncle’s youngest sister. This may ex-
plain the confessed confusion about the mother and sister.
In any case it is clear that the messages are very much inter-
fused or jammed together if my interpretation be correct.

A niece, a young lady, is not with Aunt S, as indicated in
the record. She is a daughter of the Aunt Julia and there
would be a special reason for the reference to her in connec-
tion with the Aunt S who had for years been very generous
to the family of the Aunt Julia.

The communications changed their content without in-
terruption into the following.

“ Have you ever been in the house where Aunt S is? (Yes.)
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Do you know anything about a peculiar old fashioned bureau
red brown and has some brass trimmings on it and has some
extra drawers on the top. It looks like two small ones but there
may be more but they are small. There is no mirror on it. It
is a sort of heirloom and has been in the family a long time. I
wonder if you know about it.

(If you can tell whose it is now I can be surer.)

I will see what I can do but first let me tell you that in com-
pany with the bureau is a small table with drop leaves and two
small drawers which look like the same kind of wood and they
were originally together, but are, I think, now separated. One
party has her table and another the bureau. I see a moving for
the bureau as if it had been taken away, whether for repair or
not I do not know, but it looks so new and good as if put into
new condition. It is strange but I cannot see to whom it be-
longs, but I see it in connection with Aunt S. She has several
old fashioned things which will in time be passed along as they
have a certain value to the girls.”

I knew absolutely nothing about the incidents here told
and had to make inquiries in the West. My cousin, who is
living with this Aunt Sarah, writes me that “ in one room of
Aunt Jane [name is Sarah Jane] there is a red cherry bureau
answering this description, given her by her father when she
went to housekeeping. At one time there was in the same
room a small drop leaf table she bought at the sale of an old
friend in Clifton who died a few years ago. She sold the
table. It had been repaired.” I have visited that house sev-
eral times, but never stayed all night in it but once, so that
I may have seen the bureau, but I never saw the table, as I
have not been at the place for ten years.

At the end of what I quoted I asked that the communi-
cator tell what girls would value the things mentioned and
a reference was made to “ the Hyslop girls ” which was not
relevant to my question, as they know nothing of this Aunt
except what one visit might effect. As she had no children,
I had in mind the cousin living with her and it is pertinent
that the name Frank soon came which is the name of this
cousin’s brother. The name Peter mentioned in the same
connection was not recognizable. I asked for the initial of
the last name of this Frank and evidently my question was
misunderstood and I got the initials of my deceased Uncle.
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They were F. S. and in a moment the name Fannie was given
which was probably a mistake for Finney which was his
Christian name. It was stated that Frank is alive, which
was correct. The name Ellis was given as the last name of
Frank, but this has no resemblance to his name and is nearer
the name of his deceased Aunt. The names Leighton and
Louie have not been identified. My father then interrupted
the communications, apparently because they had become
confused.

The next reference to an “Aunt Sarah ”” was on May 19th
and with her was mentioned an “ Uncle John”. But the
communicator indicated that it was a spirit by that name and
related the persons apparently to another group. On May
26th she was simply alluded to and the query put whether I
had an Aunt Sarah or not. No further details for identifica-
tion of my Uncle came. He had evidently been a difficult
communicator.

4. Robert McClellan.

This communicator was never identified by anything
more than the name Robert or Rob, both of which might
have applied to my deceased brother, only that the names
and facts associated with them indicated unmistakeably who
was meant. The first definite indication came in the name
of his living wife and a communication that actually pur-
ported to come from her, as I interpreted it at the time. But
I ascertained that the Aunt Lucy, which she was called, was
the deceased Aunt for whom this Lucy McClellan was named.
The name Ida or Irene came in connection with it and Irene
is the name of the daughter of my cousin Lucy. Finally the
name Marvin came, which was apparently corrected into Mac
and then MacIntire. The name should have been McClellan.
Then followed a description of the home, on May 11th.

“ Do you know anything about a light colored house with a
door in the middle and a few steps up to the door and the house
is out in the sunlight with no trees or shade near it and yet in-
side the house it is always cool and quiet and seems so peaceful.
This is not way back in the past but belongs to your generation,
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but it is away from where you live, but someone in the family
lives there. It is more like a country place than a city one and
as I walk up the steps and go into the house I find familiar scenes
and faces familiar to your father. Do you know this place.”

I recognized the house, but asked for more definite in-
formation. It did not come tho the effort was made to give
it.

The house described was that of my Uncle James Mc-
Clellan, the home also of Robert McClellan after the death
of his father. My father was a constant visitor at the place
and you can imagine why, when I repeat that this uncle was
not only a favorite of my father’s but had married my father’s
sister for his first wife and my mother’s sister for his second.
The house was not properly light colored. It was a drab
color, and if “light colored ” fits that the statement was cor-
rect. The door was in the middle of it with but a step or two
for entrance. There were no trees in the front yard to
shade it and so it was completely exposed to the sun, but was
always a very cool house because it was brick. Large trees
were in the rear, but they did not shade it. None of the
family is now living in it, but until recently Robert McClel-
lan’s son made it his home.

Reference was made to the barn and I asked what was
beyond it, with the hope of getting mention of the railroad,
but it was not indicated. But a silo which had never been
there was mentioned and the waving grain and a low fence,
all natural guesses for a farm. Then some trees and reddish
brown rocks were referred to “ away across somewhere ”’ and
compared to “ quartz mica ”. The trees are not identifying,
nor are the rocks as described. But there were limestone
cliffs “away across”’, where his grandfather had lived. A
windmill was mentioned, but none had ever been there. The
message, however, that followed showed that it is more than
probable that a windpump had been thought of. After the
communicator explained that the railroad had lost its interest
for those on that side, a perfectly natural thing as they lived
there all their lives, I started the messages in another direc-
tion as follows.




Experiments Continued. 187

* (Perhaps he can tell where they got the drinking water.)

Perhaps he can, for he had in mind some such thing I think.
It is brought from a little distance. It does not seem to be
exactly beside the house as is the custom at such places. Has
there been talk of piping for it to the house. I see some long
iron pipes, but they do not seem new, but I had an idea there was
some new work to be done sometime.

(I do not know, but tell from what the water came.)

This looks more like a large lake. You know Hyslop when
you first asked me all I could hear was spring, but when I came
to look I saw a large body of water which looked larger to me
than a spring ought to be, but it is some little distance away, but
is such lovely good water that it is worth any effort to get it.
Perhaps you know about that. (Yes.) There was another place
where water could be got. It was more like soft water. I have
two places in mind. One seems to be for stock in a yard or some
place like that and the other seems to Qe in the house itself and
to be pumped. Do you know that.

(Yes I do.)

Then do you know about an old abandoned well. It has a
stone or rock around it, but is left flat with a cover I think. It
is called an old well. Do you know about that.

(I think I do and T feel that it will be verified by others.
I hesitate only because I want to be sure of my memory.)

All right, but that has nothing to do with the cistern. There
is one you know, and way off in the woods, I think beyond the
railroad, you know beyond the railroad is some wooded land and
up in there is a little spring which forms a little brook in the
spring of the year and.is only a little pool in the summer where
I see the boys drinking from their hands and stooping over it
and drinking as boys will in spite of bugs and such things.”

At this point and without intimation of a change of com-
municator my father began with the incident of the polly-
wogs which I have quoted in the summary of his communi-
cations. The fact tends to show that he was the primary
factor in the work: for he knew many of the facts, tho prob-
ably not about piping the spring or the spring in the woods.

There was a large spring from which the water was ob-
tained for drinking. It was situated about 200 feet from the
house and perhaps thirty feet below the level of the house.
Perhaps fifty feet below it was the corner of the barnyard
where the stock were watered from the little brook into
which this spring emptied. I learned from this cousin Lucy
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named that nearly every spring she and her husband, Robert
McClellan, talked of piping this spring, but it was never done.
I never knew of this fact, as I had seen the place but once in
thirty years. It would have been absolutely necessary to put
in it a windmill pump to carry the water up to the house, as
* the spring was so far below its level. Even a hydraulic ram
could not do the work, as there was not sufficient fall in the
brook to make it effective. Hence the windmill must have
been a part of the contemplated piping, an event only thought
of and never realized.

There was a cistern inside the house with a pump in it.
This I recall. Also outside west of the house was an old
abandoned well covered with boards and rock. This I in-
distinctly recalled. Of the other incident I knew nothing.
I did not know of any Woods west of the railway. Inquiry
of my cousin brought the information that there was such a
wood and that there was there the little spring described.

The message purporting to come from a Lucy, afterward
called Aunt Lucy, which my cousin is called by certain rela-
tives, as I learned, suggested rather clearly that she was not
living. I had to find out by addressing inquiries about these
incidents to her. The reply showed that she was still living,
and hence it was my task to have the matter corrected with-
out betraying the mistake. .

It was not till May 19th that I had the opportunity, as I
did not have the information that proved this cousin to be
living. On this date I began the matter as follows.

“ (I would like to know when that Lucy Mac you mentioned
passed out, if it can be ascertained. I do not mean any exact
time, but some matters would then be cleared up.)

Yes we will see if we can do it right now. It was some days
ago that the message was given about her was it not? (Yes.)
Do you know her or did you know her personally?

(I knew the Lucy Mac personally.)

All right. Then you know what she looked like. Was there
a woman connected with her who was very stout and with a red
face and blue eyes and smooth evenly parted hair, parted in the
middle I mean. Was that the description of someone very near
her.
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(I do not recall that person as having been mentioned, but the
difficulty is connected with the Lucy Mac herself.)

Yes I understand, but when you asked the question I saw
this woman immediately and felt she had something to do with
that communication. I suppose you do not know about the
death of Lucy M and you want to see if we have made a mis-
take. Isthatit? (Yes.) Itis quite possible that someone here
most interested in her may have given her name and in an at-
tempt to send a message to her have made us understand that
she was here. That is one of the possibilities and at this mo-
ment I feel that Lucy M is not here but alive in your world and
that this stout lady was one here who was so eager to get a mes-
sage to her.”

I was then asked whether I knew if Lucy’s mother was
over there and I had to confess ignorance, tho I would have
supposed it under the circumstances, as the Lucy is old
enough to make it improbable that her mother is living. I
found that her mother had been dead twenty-nine years.

The reader will observe that I got the correction and
statement that Lucy Mac was still alive without direct sug-
gestion. The explanation of the mistake is interesting and
quite conceivable, and on the acceptance of the spiritistic
theory, quite probable.

There followed an account of her mother, her illness and
relation to her daughter. A little later came the following.

“Now this mother has a man with her who is very near to
Lucy, not a father. He is more like a husband or son, someone
out of her personal life who has been gone a little while, but he
ieems too old for a son. Do you know if she has a husband over

ere.

(Yes she has, and a little more of his identity will help
greatly.)

Yes that will come. He is a man who always had a wealth
of good nature.”

There followed a number of general characteristics true
of him and finally a reference to a school and an elm near it.

This husband, the Robert McClellan of my first Piper Re-
port, died fourteen years previous to this sitting. I learned
that there was a large elm near the school which he attended.
I never saw the schoolhouse.
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A number of incidents were mentioned which would have
been of a very evidential character if I could have verified
them, but I could not. No one could recall them. If they
occurred they were long before his marriage and would not
naturally be known even by his wife. To test him more
fully I resolved to ask him a question. Just after my father’s
death, as explained in the Piper Report, this cousin of mine
made arrangements for me to speak before a political gath-
ering in his native village. It was in the campaign when the
gold and silver issue was before the voters in 1896. I cannot
quote the whole mass of communications, as they would be
too tedious here for the main points which I can briefly men-
tion. One passage, however, is good enough to quote.

“(I will ask him if he knows anything about political
speeches.)

He nods his head in acquiescence and is first all smiles and
then all emphasis. He is a man of ideas just as I said he was.
He had some fighting to do. I do not know what it is but I see
another place, not his home, where I went first but a building
more like a small public building, rather old fashioned, but used
for public affairs. But the funny thing about it is I see lamps,
as if the place were lighted with lamps which hang from the
ceiling or beams or something like that, and I see men walking
about with lanterns as if they had come some distance to this
place and brought lanterns with them. Do you know anything
about this? There is a very high feeling among the people. It
is a case of more than town affairs, for I feel the national and
state interest as well, and I see something which he did which
turned the tide of influence. Do you know anything about cop-
perheads.”

I spoke in the town hall. It was lighted with lamps from
the walls and probably from the ceiling as described. The
building was a plain one. People came a great distance to
hear me speak, as I was well known in that locality as an old
resident there. A procession came from a near town and
the people brought lanterns with them. It was, of course, a
state and national affair. I do not know that my cousin
turned the tide in that locality, but it was very significant to
see the word “ copperheads”, and a little later the term
“mugwumps ”’: for he hated both types of voters. He was
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an unfailing Republican, a man of some intelligence on poli-
tics, but of more political interest than understanding of the
problems.

As I was the speaker I asked to have him tell who spoke
and a number of persons were described and evidently Carl
Schurz mentioned, but none of them were correct. No allu-
sion was made to me tho I was the only speaker. But the
coinage and gold and silver were mentioned as issues of the
campaign and the ratio of 16 to 1 which was the cry of the
time. They came however in a way that showed great diffi-
culty in communicating. In the subliminal recovery allu-
sions were made to Bryan and McKinley who were the rival
nominees in that campaign, and a remark ventured that in-
dicated some resemblance with the communicator. He did
resemble both men in a clean shaven face, but that is all.
As Mrs. Chenoweth recovered normal consciousness she re-
marked that she saw great gorges of rock like a canyon.
There was a small canyon of limestone cliffs not far from his
home on the edge of which was the home of his grandfather.

Mrs. Chenoweth never saw my first Report, but the main
incidents mentioned about the campaign might be guessed,
once the idea of it got into the subconscious.

On May 20th there was a return to him and incidents
connected apparently with his brother-in-law. But nothing
came clearly enough to make the evidence clear and un-
questionable. A younger woman was said to be with this
Lucy, which is true, the daughter living with her. There
was an allusion to a young man who was said to have been
with him the day before and might have been his nephew
who died some years before him. I was asked in it if he did
not leave a family, which was true, but the significant possi-
bility in connection with this is the fact that the whole family
of his brother-in-law was dead, of which this young man was
one. Apparently it was the confusion between the two cases
that induced the remark about his leaving a family, since al-
most immediately the reference is to *“ another man that was
saddened ”’ by his death and who was said to have followed
him. At once a reference to two deaths was made as not far
apart. His sister and brother-in-law died close together un-
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der very sad circumstances. There is much confusion in try-
ing to tell the facts which are complicated with the incidents
associated with the death of the nephew mentioned. It is
not necessary to give the incidents in detail. The facts have
to be well known in order to understand even the possibili-
ties in the messages as they stand. Superficially they are
false, but had they been specifically related in the right man-
ner they would all have been true and remarkably evidential.
But I encounter in this Robert McClellan the same difficulties
and confusion as he exhibited in his Piper communications.
They are unusually fragmentary and falsely related to the
parties. Evidently his mind did not work with that power
of concentration and adherence to incidents, and the “ men-
tal pictures ” came to the control either distorted or too rap-
idly to get their proper connections.

XI. Miscellaneous Incidents.

There were a number of sporadic communicators of some
interest, that were not directly connected with the person-
alities that I have described. In some cases they were
wholly unrecognizable and did not succeed in providing any
evidential incidents. In others, however, the incidents are
remarkably interesting for the reason that they are so remote
from the natural explanations of the ordinary Philistine.
They involved persons and facts wholly unconnected with me
and my relatives and far from any possible previous know-
ledge or preparation on the part of Mrs. Chenoweth. They
came in as intruders, so to speak, and the sequel shows that
they were relevant even when not connected naturally with
the experiments.

1. John McSweeney.

On December 3rd, 1910, in the normal state the name
Robbie came to Mrs. Chenoweth, and then the statement:
“It is Robbie’s baby.” Soon after the subliminal stage of
the trance was reached the following came orally as usual.

“Do you know something? I keep hearing Ira, Ira, Ira. A
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name Iron, Ira. Ironton. I can’t get it. Someone is shouting
it in my ear.

(Keep at it.)

Ire. Ire. Ironton. Do you know anything about that?
(No.) It is an old man and he has come in front of me to look
at me. He is a very ungainly looking man, scraggly beard and
farmer like clothes. He is perfectly furious because he can't
seem to say all he wants to and is not understood. All the rest
are laughing. He is not laughing. He is irate. Do you know
any one by the name of Sweeney?

( Yes.) He looks like the man described? (Yes.)

That is who it is. I seem to be released from his wrath. He
is funny. They can’t help laughing at him. He goes at every-
thing in that tremendous way. If he wanted to lift a mountain
he could not use any more energy. Is J connected with him?

(I don’t know.)

Put it down. That looks as if it belonged to him. Hodgson
mentioned that they couldn’t give him any more time. If I
named him I would call him Irate Sweeney.”

J. is the initial of the man’s name. I had forgotten it,
thinking he might have been Judge Sweeney, and also hav-
ing forgotten that it was McSweeney. John McSweeney
was a lawyer in Wooster, Ohio, when I was attending the
University there. He was a man known all over the state in
his profession, especially as a criminal lawyer, and had been
in Congress. He died twenty years ago. He was a very
large burly man with a very “ scraggly beard and farmer-like
clothes ”, not caring a penny for his appearance, and went at
everything in a tremendous way. He had a voice like the
roar of thunder and could be heard for squares when speak-
ing. He showed great passion when he spoke. All this I
knew. But I learned from a friend of mine in the place since
this sitting that Ironton was the place where his most inti-
mate friend lived, a Judge in the Courts. It was at least 150
miles from Wooster. I also learned from the same source
that Robbie was the name of a client of his in regard to whom
there were special reasons for making reference. The facts
are too personal to record here. I never heard of him or of
the facts.

I learned from my informant also, what I conjectured,
that John McClellan was an intimate friend of this John Mc-
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Sweeney. This will explain the appearance here of the man,
tho there is no indication of the presence of this John Mc-
Clellan in this record. It was the John McClellan whose
death was predicted through Mrs. Piper (Proceedings Eng.
S. P. R, Vol. XVI, p. 471) and who was mentioned by my
father after the fulfillment of the prediction.

2. Mark Twain.

This incident is not a communication in the form of either
a subliminal message or automatic writing. It represents a
dream of Mrs. Chenoweth narrated to me before the trance
came on and that had occurred, as stated in the account,
three or four weeks previous. It is important just to the
extent of Mrs. Chenoweth’s credibility for her ignorance of
the relation between Mr. Howells and Mr. Clemens. The
experience was as follows.

“1 thought I met Mark Twain. He said I want to send my
love to William Dean Howells. Tell him I have seen Winifred.
The name as I recall it sounds like Winifred. I am not sure.
She sends her love as definitely to Mr. Howells. I don’t know
whether Mark Twain knows Mr. Howells or not. It was a
dream that I had three or four weeks ago.”

This was told me on April 20th, 1910. It had no meaning
to me and I attached no value to it until I learned accident-
ally from a friend who knew all the facts that the name Wini-
fred in this connection was very significant indeed. Some
twenty years ago Mr. Howells lost a daughter Winifred un-
der circumstances that make it most interesting to the few
who know the facts to find this intermediation of Mark Twain
who was such a warm friend of Mr. Howells. Mrs. Cheno-
weth does not know the facts that make it so pertinent and
her ignorance of the relation between the two men gives the
incident greater value.

3. Edward Everett Hale.

On May 5th, 1911, the automatic writing was begun by a
communicator purporting to be Edward Everett Hale and
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was so signed. There was nothing evidential in it. He re-
ferred relevantly to Mr. Philip Savage whom he had known
in life, but as Mrs. Chenoweth knew of Dr. Hale as a public
man and especially a Bostonian, and also knew of Mr. Philip
Savage, the fact can have no evidential importance.

But it is not quite so bad with the message he sent to Miss
Whiting who knew him well. This message came through
G. P. who followed him in the automatic writing. I quote
what he said.

“We let the friend come as he was invited and is a really
helpful influence in many ways. We need the influence of men
of worth and upright spirit over here as much as we need men
in the world of materiality to work with us.

(I understand.)

I think Lilian Whiting will be pleased to know that he spoke
especially of her and of Miss Field, Kate Field. He has met her
and has been charmed with her wit and audacity he called it. He
says she was the most audacious spirit he ever knew expressing
itself through a perfectly femiuine body.”

When I gave the message to Miss Whiting she at once
told me the facts which gave it great interest and wrote them
down for me. I simply quote her letter.

“ The Brunswick, Boston, May 19th, 1911.
“ Dear Dr. Hyslop: .

Soon after the death of Kate Field (which occurred on May
19th, 1896) I received in Paris, where I was at the time, a letter
from Rev. Dr. Edward Everett Hale, one as comforting and
beautiful as it was unexpected,—as I had not written to him or
done anything to call it forth—in which he said that his sister
Susan had told him that Miss Kate Field’s death would be a
great sorrow to me, and after expressing his sympathy he added:
‘I did not know Miss Field; I hope I shall know her.” and this
sentence, in its perfect simplicity of faith, its taking for granted,
of course, that the life beyond offers all opportunity for meetings
and friendships, to be made, as well as renewed, impressed me
deeply.

“ This letter which I still have, and the message to which you
allude, seem to complete a sequence.

“ Most faithfully yours,”

LILIAN WHITING.”
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It was not possible for Mrs. Chenoweth to know the facts
which make this message to Miss Whiting from Dr. Hale so
pertinent, especially simply to say that he had met her, com-
pleting the sequence begun in the letter of his condolence
long before his own death.

4. Aunt Mary Ella,

The name Ella came once in connection with another rela-
tive, but it contained no accompaniments that would identify
its meaning, except its relation to another person well
enough identified, and this was long after it came with the
proper accidents. But on November 2d, 1910, in the sub-
liminal recovery from the trance, the following came.

“Oh Etta, Etta. (Etta who?) Who’s Marietta.

(I am not sure.)

Have you got anyone near you like that? (Not quite.)
[Thinking of my sister Henrietta.]

Mary Ella. Do you know this Marietta. Is it Mariette.
She’s ....

(What relation is she to me?)

I thought she was a cousin or like that.

(Go on with that.)

I see a little town and hear the trains all the time.

(Yes, I know who it is.)

She seems so bright and so glad to come.

(What word has she to say?) .

It is not scientific. She wants to get her own people. There
is a lot of people connected with her. Is there any one like Jake
or Jacob.

(I don’t know.)
Right after that I get Fannie. Goodbye.”

I had an Aunt Mary Ella, sometimes called Mary Ellen,
who lived in a small village right next to the railroad where
trains were passing within a few feet of the house at all times
of the day. She was a sister-in-law to the Aunt Cora men-
tioned above and deceased wife of Cora’s brother, my Uncle.
It is possible that the names Jake and Jacob are a mistake
for his name. His name is James. The reason for suppos-
ing it this mistake is that in connection with this Aunt Cora
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the names James and Jacob were directly associated. Fan-
nie is possibly a mistake for Finney, as it was apparently this
mistake in connection with the effort to give my Uncle’s
name, having first got the initials correctly and then the
name Fannie.

On April 21st, 1911, in connection with the subliminal re-
covery and the mention of the name of my Uncle David, I
again got the name Ella. This Uncle David was her brother-
in-law by marriage and lived in the same place with her living
husband, my Uncle James.

This is all that came to identify her, and but for its dis-
tinctness might have been noticed incidentally in connection
with the other personalities, but the allusion to the railway
and passing trains in a small town is so characteristic a refer-
ence that the incidents deserve separate mention.
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BOOK REVIEW.

Matter and Some of Its Dimensions. By A. Button. Privately
printed. The Trade supplied by Woodward and Lothrop,
Washington, D. C. 1910.

This is in many ways a remarkable little book. It shows
more than anything else the metaphysical and speculative ten-
dencies appearing in physical science. The author is a physicist
himself and has a laboratory of his own. He has adopted the
modern doctrines of the ether and has made a study of physical
phenomena from that point of view, and at the same time he
has endeavored to connect it with the phenomena with which
the psychic researcher is occupied. This makes the book a rare
one of its type. The outline of its position is this.

Physical science was for a long time based upon the theory
of the atom which was supposed to be indivisible and indestruc-
tible. Recent observations suggested that it was complex and
not simple. Even men like Davy, Clifford, Faraday and J. J.
Thompson were forced, or at least felt themselves so forced, to
assume something at the basis of the atom and electrical phe-
nomena offered this basis in the hypothetical ether. Soon phys-
ical science advanced the idea of ions and electrons, manifes-
tations of ether and electrical phenomena, at the basis of ele-
mentary matter. Experiment and observation led into the far-
ther belief that the elements are capable of transmutation, one
into another. The old doctrine of alchemy thus seems to have
received justification in its general claim. Thus far physical sci-

ence.
: But the present author, after going thus far, continues into
the field of supernormal phenomena, the subconscious and thera-
peutics. Here he attempts to apply etherial action to the ex-
planation of the phenomena of the mind. He then proceeds to
consider the phenomena of ecstasy and spiritual exaltation. In
both the mental and physical phenomena the doctrine of a fourth
dimension occupies a prominent place as necessary to the un-
derstanding of the problems involved.

To the reviewer all this is highly speculative. He does not
deny or question the facts on which the doctrine of ions and
electrons is based. All these may be well enough established.
But the question is whether the language employed to describe
the causal action assumed is intelligible. Take an example which
is one of the types of statement so characteristic of physicists
in the discussion of their problem.

“ Place a mass of quivering jelly,” says the author, “ upon a
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table, plunge a knife into each side, and give the knives a twist
in opposite directions. A strain, or stress, or torsion exists be-
tween the points of the knives, but in no sense can the stress,
or torsion, be considered matter. Now move the stress around a
central mass of jelly, and a certain amount of bound jelly will
be carried along with the stress, and the moving, bound jelly,
because of the motion, will have weight, or mass, or inertia.
Increase the speed of rotation of the stress, and the mass of
the bound jelly will also be increased.”

I can understand what is meant by moving matter, but “ mov-
ing stress ” has no meaning whatever. Anything might happen
as a consequent of “ moving stress”’, so far as we know, and
simply because we cannot deny the consequences of what we
cannot understand or conceive. Then there is “bound jelly ”.
What is that? In the illustration we have matter to start with
and in any outcome would expect to find matter at the end. But
to imply that matter would be the effect of moving stress while
it is not the stress itself is to force the human mind to start
without premises and to have an important conclusion neverthe-
less. What interests most people in speculations of this kind is
the outcome, not the intelligibility of the process. The whole
process hides a miracle under the name of science which in other
connections denies the existence of such things.

The theory of a fourth dimension does not appeal to the
reviewer. It seems to him that all the speculations based on that
idea from the time of Helmholtz, Zoellner, Reiman and others,
are based upon an equivocation in the use of the term “ dimen-
sion”. Its paradoxical character is apparent in the admission
that it has to be assumed tho not perceptible by the human mind.
Dimension is supposed to be a property of space and we as-
sumed three of these. Certain phenomena are supposed to im-
ply a fourth or even an indefinite number of them. The sci-
entist starts from mathematics and ends in a metaphysics. To
the present reviewer ““ dimension " in the speculations and mathe-
matics of physicists is not a property of anything, but is a mere
direction or relation. In metaphysics it is a quality or property.
Now space has but one dimension in metaphysics. In mathe-
matics it has an infinite number. But “ dimension” does not
mean the same thing in both sciences. The mystery of the
thing is concealed in the use of a term implying a metaphysical
property which is not that in mathematics.

The only function which the speculations about the ether
have for psychic research is their relation to the conception of
matter ever since the controversy with Christianity. Matter has
been defined by the properties of gravity, inertia, and impene-
trability. The definition of ether either ignores these properties
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or denies them. It assumes neither gravity, nor inertia, nor im-
penetrability. It in fact excludes them. The consequence is
that ether cannot by any rational process be called matter in
the accepted idea of that substance. Then to make matter the
product of this ether is to return to the conception that matter is
created in some sense and is not an eternal and indestructible
reality. Such premises on the part of physical science justify the
psychic reseacher.in demanding tolerance for the conception of
spirit. It does not prove such a thing, but the hypothesis of
something necessary to produce matter and which does not con-
tain the properties of matter as the materialists always con-
ceived, opens the way to the existence of spirit as a possibility,
which the older materialism did not and could not admit. It
will be only a question of evidence after this admission.

The psychic researcher does not require to assume or admit
the existence of ether. For him it may be true or not, just as
you please. It has no value for him but as an ad hominem argu-
ment in the field of physical science, nothing more.

The reviewer does not think that the author has been very
successful in applying his ether theory to clairvoyance and simi-
lar phenomena. This application rests on his fourth dimension
ideas and to this reviewer the fourth dimension only makes spirit-
istic ideas appear more incredible instead of intelligible. It has
been this feature of certain spiritualistic theories in the past that
has handicapped them and driven men away from them. I do
not think any metaphysical hypothesis whatever is either neces-
sary or helpful in the determination of this problem. Merely
the scientific question of isolating consciousness or not, is neces-
sary.

Y JAMES H. HYSLOP.
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A CASE OF SECONDARY PERSONALITY.
By James H. Hyslop.

The following case came to my attention first through a
reporter’s account in the New York Times of July 1st, 1907.
I immediately made inquiries and got into communication
with Dr. J. Hervey Buchanan, who was the physician in the
case and made arrangements to investigate matters which I
did yesterday to some extent. Dr. Buchanan took me to
two parties who had been directly associated with the man
who was concerned and I interviewed them. Notes are prac-
tically verbatim.

I first interviewed Dr. Buchanan’s father, who was stay-
ing at the time with his son, and who had been a personal
acquaintance of Mr. Charles Brewin, the man who had been
living under the alias of Frank G. Johnson. The following
are Mr. Buchanan’s statements:

Mr. Brewin had a store in Burlington, N. J., and was a
tailor by trade and had become a merchant tailor. Mr.
Buchanan, himself a minister at Pemberton, eleven or twelve
miles from Burlington, had met Mr. Brewin as a deacon in
the Baptist Church at Burlington, which he had served per-
haps twenty-five years. Mr. Brewin was not what one would
call a specially intellectual man, but was one of the old type
of men who did honest tailoring and attended strictly to busi-
ness. Burlington was a town of about 5,000 inhabitants.
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He disappeared from his home about four years ago and
was never heard of afterwards until a little more than a week
ago. His hat and a note were found on a Hudson River
ferry, and the theory was that he might have either fallen
overboard or committed suicide.

It seems that some paper had published the fact that a
trolley car conductor had recognized Mr. Brewin and ad-
dressed him by that name, and that he at once disclaimed it
and said his name was Johnson. The conductor reported the
experience to Mr. Brewin’s son in Burlington and to his
brother in Camden, N. J. They came to Plainfield and recog-
nized Mr. Brewin, but he did not recognize them, saying that
his name was Frank Johnson. They went home convinced
that it was Mr. Brewin, the son that it was his father, and
the other that it was his brother. .

A day or two afterwards the Plainfield Press published an
account of the matter which was sceptical and Mr. Buchanan
in passing the Press office called on Mr. Force and asked if
there was anything new, and received the reply that there
was not, that the man could not be found. Mr. Buchanan
told Mr. Force where he could be found, as the New York
reporters and papers had also apparently had difficulty in
finding him. On Sunday, June 30th, Mr. Buchanan met a
Mr. Varian and learned the facts about Mr. Brewin’s awaken-
ing. These he described very much as they were published
in the Times interview, which is fairly accurate in its essential
features.

After learning these facts Mr. Buchanan went to see Mr.
Brewin and the latter recognized him at once and said, “ I
have heard you preach lots of good sermons.” Whether the
sermons were good or not, Mr. Buchanan will not attest, but
that Mr. Brewin often heard him preach is true. Mr. Brewin
seemed to know nothing of Plainfield. Mr. Buchanan no-
ticed that the little dog which had been familiar with Mr.
Brewin for the eighteen months he had boarded with Mrs.
Dunn recognized him and jumped up on his lap, but Mr.
Brewin did not seem to know the dog at all. Mr. Brewin
asked Mr. Buchanan how he, Mr. Brewin, had behaved him-
self and was told that he did nothing wrong, that he had lived
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as a respectable citizen all the while, that he had attended
church, read the Sunday papers, etc. When Sunday papers
were mentioned Mr. Brewin refused to believe it, saying that
he had never read a Sunday paper in his life and did not be-
lieve in this. Mr. Buchanan also learned that he had dab-
bled a little in Wall Street, making $60 on one purchase of
stocks, and also that he had made a loan of $700 to some one,
as evidenced in memorandum record of it. Mr. Buchanan
also learned that Mr. Brewin had joined the Heptasophs, and
it s known that he had belonged to an organization by this
name in Burlington. Mr. Brewin seemed to know nothing of
what he had done in Plainfield.

I then called on Mrs. Dunn with Dr. Buchanan. Mr.
Brewin had boarded with her while he was in Plainfield.
Mrs. Dunn is a retired teacher from the New York Schools
and had taught a long time in the Y. M. C. A. I found her a
very intelligent woman and a good witness, as good a witness
as I have met for a long time. Her memory was evidently
good of the events centering about the awakening of Mr.
Brewin. The following is her story.

‘“ Mr. Brewin came to me in October, 1905, when I was
living in an apartment. He was introduced to me by Mrs.
Denton, a sister of Miss Brown, where Mr. Brewin was work-
ing. I had told Mrs. Denton I had a room and she remarked
that Mr. Brewin, alias Mr. Johnson, wanted a room. Mr.
Johnson came and was satisfied with the room, as he wanted
one that was steam heated. Mr. Johnson’s habits were al-
ways exemplary. He was straight-laced as a Puritan, went
to church, the Baptist of which the Rev. J. A. Chambliss is
pastor, and had a membership card of the Y. M. C. A. in his
pocket when he recovered his normal consciousness. He at-
tended church festivals and the only dissipation which he
seemed to indulge was that of treating the ladies at straw-
berry festivals. He neither smoked nor drank.

[Somewhere about June 24th or 25th the discovery was
made that this Mr. Johnson was Mr. Brewin and after the
meeting with his son and brother his own mind began to
wonder about the matter and Mr. Johnson worried about the
matter a great deal. He wanted to know what it meant, and
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spent, as the account of Miss Brown shows, two sleepless
nights over it. After this he reported to Mrs. Dunn the fol-
lowing dream whose date she recalls, and it comes in as an
incident connected with his awakening as Mrs. Dunn wit-
nessed it, or learned the facts as recorded below.]

“ Mr. Johnson came home Saturday night, June 29th, and
told me he had a dream in the store, that he had fallen asleep
on the counter where he was pressing clothes. He dreamed
that he was at Asbury Park and saw a large boarding house.
There was a piazza in front and the approach to it was a
board walk. The peculiar feature of the walk was a tree
growing up in the center of it. At the gate stood a sort of
stage drawn by two mustang ponies, one of them a balky
fellow. An old man called Uncle Pete had the management
of this conveyance. Many were trying to get into the stage
to go to visit a beautiful garden. Mr. Johnson named the
garden, but I have forgotten the name. Mr. Johnson was
just stepping into the stage when he woke up. He remarked
that he had been tired working all day and had put his head
on his arm and fell asleep. He said the dream made an im-
pression on his mind and referred to it several times that
evening.

“ Sunday morning he told me he had had the same dream
during the night and repeated the details as before. He said,
‘I believe I could go to Asbury Park and find that house.” I
said, ¢ Of course it was all a dream and the house does not
exist.” But he said it all seemed so real to him.

Soon after, Mrs. Dunn, as usual on Sundays, went away
to take dinner with her son. This was between 12 and 1.
“As I went out he said to me to take the key and said: ‘Iam
not going out. I have had a dreadful week. The Lord will
care for me. He always has.’

“1I left him in a Morris chair in the sitting room when I
went out, and I did not return until a short time before nine
o’clock in the evening. When I came home I rang the bell
and saw him through the curtain staggering to the door. He
opened the door and stood still looking at me, and said:
‘Who are you?’ I said, ‘Don’t you know me, Mr. Johnson ?’
He replied, ‘I never saw you before.” I came in and he re-
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marked: ‘Are you Mrs. Dunn, of Norwood Avenue, Plain-
field, New Jersey?’ ‘Yes,’ I said. ‘Do you live here?’ he
further asked. ‘Yes,’ Ireplied. He thensaid: ‘Isaw atax
bill on the table with that name on it and I found myself here
in a strange place. I do not know how I came here, but I
have been asleep and was suddenly awakened by the explo-
sion of a pistol, or gun, or cannon close to my head. It
startled me so that I awoke out of this sound sleep. I
jumped out of the chair and had to support myself by the
table and chair. I had to sit down again until this dizzy feel-
ing went over, and finding every thing strange about me. I
could not find my hat or coat. I went out and walked about
to see if I could find any one I knew, but came back with
everything strange about me. If I could have found my hat
and coat I would have gone away. I was afraid to go and
look for them, thinking that people who lived here might
return and imagine I was a burglar’

“‘Well, who are you?’ I asked, noticing that there was
something strange in his condition and behavior. He re-
plied: ‘ My name is Charles P. Brewin, merchant tailor of
Burlington, N. J., and I can’t understand how I came here to
Plainfield. Do you know how I came here? Do you know
anything about it? Find my coat and hat. I want to get off
on the next train.” I then said, * You have been sick and have
been with me for some little time.” He replied, ‘ Oh, no, I
left Burlington yesterday.” He complained of his head being
dizzy and that he could not collect his ideas, and urged me to
get his hat and coat, saying, ‘ My wife will be terribly wor-
ried!’ This was the first time he had ever mentioned he had
a family. He went on: ‘I am not in the habit of staying
away from home at night” ‘Well, I said, ‘you are in a
strange place. I shall go and find when the train goes and
tell you. You wait and do not try to get to Burlington until
I get back.” He replied that he would stay and that he had
been afraid to go prowling about the house for fear he would
be taken for a burglar.

“I went immediately for my son, and when I returned
with him, he did not know him, though in his previous state
he knew him well. I introduced my son. While he was
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talking with him I went a few doors to Mr. Varian’s and he
went for the doctor.”

When the doctor, J. Hervey Buchanan, and his father
came, they found Mr. and Mrs. Varian, Mr. and Mrs. W. E.
Dunn there, and later Mrs. Dunn with whom Mr. Johnson
had boarded all this while, and he, Mr. Johnson, recognized
none of them, though he had known them well in the state
from which he had awakened.

“ Monday morning, Miss Brown, with whom he had
worked while in Plainfield, came in to know why he had not
come up to work. Mr. Varian had told her something of
what had occurred. In the course of the conversation I told
him the dream which he told me and which I have already
described. He at once spoke up: ‘Did I tell you I dreamed
that? There was just such a place as that. We went there
several successive summers. The proprietor was a man by
the name of Brown [mentioning it in full, but I have forgot-
ten it]. He said, ‘ It is the same name as yours,’ referring to
Miss Brown, to whom he had to be introduced when she came
in. He then asked Miss Brown if she would be so kind as to
write to the man, giving the number on Third Avenue, As-
bury Park, and see if this was correct. She promised she
would do so. The son, when he came again, confirmed the
fact that they had visited the place described.

‘“He used to read the World, Herald, and sometimes the
Journal. He did not like the last, but did like the first.

“ When the brother and son came the second time, which
was soon after the time mentioned in this interview, he rec-
ognized them immediately and was delighted to see them.
He was not demonstrative, but showed a subdued happiness
in the meeting.”

[I then asked Mrs. Dunn if he had ever given any account
of his history as Mr. Johnson, ancestry, etc. The following
are her statements on that point.]

“ He said his father was an Englishman. He did not give
his father’s full name nor where he lived. But he said his
father’s mother had married a second time and he himself,
Mr. Johnson’s father, did not like his step-mother and left
home as a boy or young man and came to this country. His
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father’s mother had frequently sent money to his father from
England. Hints here and there showed that his father lived
in the country, but no particular place was mentioned. He
spoke of singing schools and spelling bees. His father mar-
ried a second time after the death of his mother, the second
wife still living (in New York, I understood) and had a
daughter by her, a step-sister, whom an insurance policy,
taken out while he was Johnson, named as the beneficiary.
This policy was taken out last winter in the Foresters and
named $1,000, which was to go to this step-sister in case of
his own death. The Brewin family state that there never
was any such person in existence.

[Mrs. Dunn then brought me the policy to examine. It
named Mr. Frank G. Johnson as the man insured, and Anna
D. Johnson as the person in whose favor it was issued. She
was said to be 23 years of age, date of issuance being Feb-
ruary 15th, 1907. He gave as his own age 49 years. He is
really over 60.]

‘““ He did not say where he was brought up. He told me
through the winter that he had worked in New York City at
different places before he came to Plainfield, and named
Sharps under the Fifth Avenue Hotel, Arnheim’s on Broad-
way and 8th St., another on Fifth Avenue, and Regis Tailor-
ing Company on 8th Avenue near 14th St. He spoke of
friends in New York, one by the name of Jack, who had re-
cently married. He said he had received a letter from him
recently, stating that he was going to housekeeping. He
said he had promised to give him a wedding present of a bed-
room set. He went to New York, saw him and his wife, and
spent nearly $100 that day for a white enamelled bedstead, a
chiffonier, etc., took the lady with him, and she did not want
so expensive a present, but he said he liked it and wanted it.
He saw it put in the house and was told he was always to
make his home with them when he came to New York. He
said this man’s wife was named Kate and that he had known
her for a number of years.

*“ He also stated that he went down to New York and
visited a Dr. Fithian, whom he knew in connection with some
missionary work in West 16th St. at a Baptist church there.
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He saw some notice in the paper that the pastor and his wife
had gotten into trouble. The doctor had taken the minister’s
wife home and he, Mr. Johnson, gave her $5 to help her.

“ He said at one time that he would get $5,000 from his
step-mother, as this was due him, and invest it in business in
Plainfield for himself.

“ He was always interested in religious matters, and went
to church socials, entertaining the ladies there at his own ex-
pense. I teased him about going off with some one, but he
said he had lived so long as a single man that it would take a
good deal to pull him away. He gave me to understand that
his life had been in New York, and that he had lived on 14th
St. near 8th Ave.

“ Miss Brown told me that he had asked her on Wednes-
day preceding his awakening to come and tell me about the
reporters and strangers who had come to see him and to ask
me to explain what it meant. When he came home he asked
me if Miss Brown had been here and what I thought of it.
He was horrified to hear them say he was a married man and
had a son and daughter. He worried a good deal about it,
and I explained it to him as a case of mistaken identity.

“ He was interested in ‘ psychology’ as shown in some
books which he got in New York, and a crystal ball which
he bought and paid $5 for. He spoke of an attempt to hyp-
notize him which had failed.”

[I examined the pamphlets which he had bought and they
were issued in the name of a Professor Frederick T. McIn-
tyre, evidently a professional hypnotist.—]J. H. Hyslop.]

I next called on Miss Brown who keeps a dyeing and
pressing establishment and had an interview with her. She
knew little about the events which were connected with his
awakening, not having witnessed them personally, and re-
ferred me to her niece who did witness some of them. But
Miss Brown gave an account of the way she came to employ
Johnson and described his character as it was exhibited to her
observation.

He came to Plainfield in answer to an advertisement, as
she learned from him at the time. But the man who had ad-
vertised for a presser was not satisfied with his appearance
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and gave him fifty cents to return to New York. But he in-
quired whether there was any one else in the place that might
want a presser, and he was referred to Miss Brown. When
he came she did not like his looks and was reluctant to em-
ploy him, but in response to the desire to let him show what
he could do she set him to pressing as an experiment, and
found him an excellent workman and gave him employment.
The next morning he asked to deliver cards at the doors of
citizens asking them to patronize the establishment in which
he was working. He disfributed these cards several morn-
ings and at such early hours that people who were not ac-
customed to rise so early complained of it, and as a result he
thought he was shadowed by the police. When he came to
work he frequently complained of suffering with his head.
He came in April two years ago and went to the hospital and
did some pressing for a Dr. Ard.

“ His work was satisfactory and regular until his friends
came to see him after hearing of his discovery.”

Miss Brown’s niece, Miss Agnes Irene Brown, was then
called in to tell what she knew of the incidents associated
with his awakening. She had not heard what was said when
his son and brother came, as they had talked in low tones.
After the talk was over the son came and told her that it was
his father, but Mr. Johnson did not recognize them. While
they were here Mr. Johnson came to this niece and asked her
if she knew anything about him, and she replied that she did
not. After they went away Mr. Johnson remarked to her
that it was all like a fairy tale to him and that he would like
to go to his house if he had one. He asked me if it was not
funny, if he had been about New York so long, that they had
not found him.

In response to my questions, this niece and her aunt, Miss
Brown, said he frequently complained of headaches. He had
been sick one day three weeks ago last Monday, and the
story was that he had had a “ spell ” in church and was taken
to a drugstore for treatment. It was supposed to be heart
trouble. When he had headaches he never talked much, but
bathed his head with essence of peppermint, saying to all
that this was the best thing for such ailments.
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He was asked at times about his history, but could never
give it. When he was asked one day where he went to
school he replied: “ Oh, in New York!” He could not re-
member dates. After the fire occurred in the shop he could
not remember when it occurred. Miss Brown gave him a
Bible with this date in it so that he could remember it. He
often turned about to ask Miss Brown what the date was.

After his friends, son and brother, left, he tried to think
out what he had been told, and worried a great deal about it.
This was preceding the incidents which Mrs. Dunn has told.
He could not recall any of the things told him. They
weighed on his mind and he would ask, doing this several
times, if they knew anything about him and these things.
Miss Brown did not know. Tuesday the reporters came
again and he could not recognize them.

He took his money out of the bank ($145) and gave it to
Miss Brown to keep safely for him, saying that he might
need it in an emergency. Miss Brown called in her niece to
witness the fact, as she did not want to have other people’s
money in her care without such witness. The next day he
told Miss Brown that he had gone to the bank to get his
money and was told he had taken it out, but he did not know
what he had done with it. Miss Brown told him that he had
given it to her the day before. He asked her when and
where he had given it to her and she told him.

Miss Brown learned from him that he did not sleep Mon-
day and Tuesday nights. He did not understand why or
how he could be said to have a son and that he had set him
up in business [afterwards ascertained to be correct]. He
wanted to know where he got his name.

On the morning of the fire in the dyeing establishment
he told Miss Brown of a dream that he had the night previ-
ous. This he told before the fire occurred. It was that she
had a fire in the store and that she was almost burned to
death. Such a fire did occur that day and Mr. Johnson res-
cued Miss Brown who would have otherwise been burned to
death. Miss Brown showed me the scars on her arm caused
by the fire.

At another time they had sent a fur coat home after re-
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pairing it. The owner complained that the lining was in tat-
ters when it came back. Miss Brown and Mr. Johnson did
not understand it, and the coat was brought back. He then
dreamed that he took the coat to New York, went up an ele-
vator, saw a little short man, and was told by him that the
skins for the lining were not the right kind. He then said he
would take the coat to New York, which he did the next day,
and met the man he had seen in his dream, and went through
the scenes of the dream itself. He frequently told of his
dreams of this kind, but Miss Brown and her niece could re-
member clearly only the two mentioned, and one more re-
called a little later.

““ On Saturday, the 29th, he slept in a chair in the store all
day, but kept waking up and asking me if I was asking him
questions. He wanted, too, to borrow money.”

Then Miss Brown recalled the third dream. He told her
that he had dreamed that his old boss had been badly hurt.
Three days elapsed and he remarked that this had occurred
with this man. He said he had worked with Mr. Fishbone
and had invested some money in his business, something like
$300. Mr. Fishbone’s business went to pieces a year later.

He always said the Lord had directed him to her (Miss
Brown), that the Lord was always good to him. When he
came to her he was very thin and skinny. But he gained
thirty or fifty pounds in her employ. He never told his age,
but said he was born in 1858. He claimed that his ancestors
were from England; that his father was a broker on Wall
Street and had $60,000 which his step-mother had used up
without giving him any. He said he had a letter from her
promising him $5,000.

JAMES H. HYSLOP.

July 3d, 1907.

New York, Oct. 9th, 1907.
I made arrangements to call on Mr. Charles Brewin in
Plainfield this evening with his wife. They two are now
living there rather than live in their native town where some




212  Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

suspicion exists as to the genuineness of his change of per-
sonality. My object was to get acquainted with him and to
question both him and his wife regarding his past history
previous to his disappearance from home some years ago.
Indirectly I wished to prepare the way for his consent to hyp-
nosis that I might find the history of the two years and some
months of his life in New York, during his Johnson person-
ality, previous to his going to Plainfield.

He is a comparatively young looking man, though he
must be between 55 and 60 years of age. He was in the
Civil War which ended forty-two years ago.

On questioning him I find that he had a sun-stroke in
1865, while in the war, and has always felt the effect of sun
heat ever since. He is more sensitive to it now than before
his lapse of normal personality. He ever afterward had a
pain in his head, affecting the back part of it especially. He
says he used to tell his doctor that there was something
“clodding ” his brain in the back of his head. In 1879 he
was working at his trade of tailoring and got up into the show
window of his shop and there heard a sound like a pistol shot
in his head. He soon became dizzy. He went to his physi-
cian and was doctored for rheumatism for a while. Then he
was examined by a Mt. Holly physician who said the trouble
was with his eye, having observed that it was inflamed.
Then a physician at a hospital finally told him that he had
had a hemorrhage of a blood vessel in the left eye which was
the one that gave him trouble. Probably it was the bursting
of this vessel that he had felt as a pistol shot.

Before he disappeared from home, his wife says, he had
not been able to attend to business. Mr. Brewin says he
does not remember leaving home and does not remember
being ill. Mrs. Brewin says he left home on Monday morn-
ing, November 9th, 1903. He had not been out of bed for
some time, but Sunday morning he came down-stairs and said
he would go up to his son’s, but was persuaded by Mrs.
Brewin to lie down on the couch, as she said that the son
would be at church. Mrs. Brewin went to church and when
she had returned Mr. Brewin had gone to bed. He got up the
next morning and seemed nervous and left the house about
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8 A. M. He said he was going to the store. He had been
accustomed to bid Mrs. Brewin good-bye, but this morning
he simply asked her to give him his overcoat and left without
the usual good-bye. Her daughter-in-law’s brother saw him
in the station with his coat pulled over his shoulders as if he
were cold. That was the last that was known of him until
they learned some days later that he had been seen crossing
the ferry on the Delaware river. Later the police of New
York telegraphed if any man in Burlington by the name of
Charles Brewin had disappeared, saying that they had found
a hat with an envelope in it on a Jersey City ferry, with that
name on the envelope. But he could not be found in New
York though his photograph was sent on for the purpose.
From that time on nothing was known or heard of him until
he recovered normal consciousness last June.

He tells me himself that he has had no headaches or dis-
tress since the recovery. He dreams only about his present
work, except that the other night he dreamed that he had a
quarrel with his hostess, Mrs. Dunn, and left to find new ac-
commodations. Finding them to suit, he agreed to take the
rooms and lay down on a couch. Awakening in the dream—
not really—he followed the new hostess over the house and
could not get up with her, when he thought the house was
haunted and threatened to shoaot the hostess with silver bul-
lets, as a witch. Apparently this dream was a subliminal
reminiscence of his interest in occult matters while he was
Johnson.

The left eye is still weaker than the right. He also some
years ago had a fall on the ice, but was never conscious of
any ill effects from it. At one time he could not work in a
draught, but he can now.

Mr. and Mrs. Brewin do not recall any relatives or friends
by the name of Johnson, except that a niece married a John-
son in Trenton. Mr. Brewin says he remembers absolutely
nothing of the period of his lapse as Johnson and has to hear
what others say about it without any recall.

The following account is by Dr. Buchanan, who was Mr.
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Brewin’s physician. He saw the importance of evidence that
the man had been the subject of alternating personality and
many of the incidents which he tells were discovered in the
effort to prove amnesia. They will speak for themselves.

Plainfield, N. J., September, 1907.
My dear Prof. Hyslop,—

You have been kind enough to ask me for a statement of
what facts are in my possession regarding Chas. P. Brewin,
who for the last two years and more had been living and
working in Plainfield as Frank G. Johnson, and who had been
missing from his home in Burlington, N. J., for some four
years. To prepare my account I would say that I have some
recollection of the excitement caused at the time of the dis-
appearance of Chas. P. Brewin from his Burlington home,
the finding of certain effects, a hat and note, I think, in a New
York ferry boat, and the fruitless attempt to locate him. My
actual acquaintance with Frank G. Johnson was formed on a
professional visit to the lady with whom he boarded, Dec. 7,
1905. He was introduced to me as Mr. Johnson, seemed to
be a perfect gentleman, quiet, unobtrusive, and anxious to do
what lay in his power to assist in the time of need. I met
him subsequently to this several times; have sat in the same
pew with him in church and shared the same hymn book,
met him at his presser’s bench where he was employed, at
various entertainments, on trolleys, etc., and have had many
short conversations with him. As Frank G. Johnson, my
opinion of him was that of a quiet, unassuming bachelor, of a
devoutly religious turn, with no vices, and with sufficient
money to supply his needs and permit him to extend a help-
ing hand where needed, which he always did freely and gen-
erously. In short, I never for a moment had a suspicion that
Frank G. Johnson was any one but Frank G. Johnson, a
journeyman clothes presser and tailor and a gentleman. So
much for Frank G. Johnson. Thursday morning, June 27,
my father, Rev. J. C. Buchanan, formerly pastor of the
Baptist church at Pemberton, N. J.,, a town ten or twelve
miles from Burlington, called my attention to an item in the
Philadelphia Press to the effect that Chas. P. Brewin had
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been found in Plainfield by a trolley conductor named Alfred
Woolman, later known as a relative of a former Sunday
school scholar of Mr. Brewin, and identified as his proper self.
That his relatives had been summoned but that to every-
body he positively denied his identity as Brewin, insisting his
name was Johnson. I told father I knew a Johnson, and on
describing him he was satisfied that it must be Brewin, and
later, on a trip down town, he met Mr. A. L. Fone, Editor of
the Daily Press, and made further inquiries of him and in turn
gave him the information in his possession. From this the
reporters got hold of the case and from then on the life of
Frank G. Johnson was one perpetual pester and annoyance
from this and other purely curious sources. I mention this
because I firmly believe it to be the cause for the clearing up
of the case. I am told by those intimately associated with
him that from the time his brother and son first saw him there
began to show evidences of a mental struggle going on as to
whether his identity was what he claimed it to be. He would
ask his employer if he wasn’t Johnson, etc., and would brood
and stew over it till his head ached. To such a pitch did this
worry extend that on the Saturday evening previous to his
awakening his head ached so and was so congested that he
was compelled to stay in the store long after closing and
keep quiet. In other words, physical causes were awakening
to clear up the fog of four years, and the old areas of mental
processes were again grasping after old and familiar facts
under the stimulus of old ideas and faces brought to a brain
acting under increased blood pressure and excitement. So
much for Frank G. Johnson. Sunday evening, July 30, I
was summoned by Brewin’s landlady, Mrs. Dunn, to comé at
once as Mr. Johnson had suddenly waked up and become
Brewin. I went at once, taking my father who had known
Brewin years before and very intimately. Arriving at the
house I told father to wait in the hall while I went in the
kitchen where I found him eating a bit of bread and butter,
with a cup of tea. I found him white and somewhat weak;
but perfectly clear mentally. My first remark, “ Well, Mr.
Brewin, I see you have come to yourself at last,” elicited the
reply, “ Who are you?” To my reply I added that I had a
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gentleman with me whom he probably knew. Calling father
in, Brewin gave him one look, jumped to his feet saying,
“ Mr. Buchanan, how are you?” and greeted him cordially.
We then went into the parlor and all sat down where we
tried to get him acquainted with facts as they existed. But
it was a hard job. Had it not been for my father, who was
the only one he knew as Brewin, and in whom he had implicit
confidence, I think nothing we said would have been believed.
He told us of his awakening as if by a pistol shot, finding
himself in a strange place, his fear of being thought a bur-
glar, etc., all of which data you already have and its repeti-
tion is useless here. So too, is detailed account .of many
things that occurred in the evening. To be brief, everything
“Johnson,” and all of “Johnson’s ”” acts and acquaintanceships
were gone and Brewin was back where he left off four years
ago, and yet note this, Brewin was not clear on all points of
Brewin’s past; the full clearing of his brain came rapidly fact
by fact. Of the many interesting bits I recall during that
evening talk were his insistence that he left Burlington an
evening or so before and he must get back or his wife would
worry about him; his telling me of his membership in the
Burlington lodge of Foresters; and his blank surprise when
told he had joined in Plainfield the previous March, and had
a policy made out to an Anna Johnson, his sister, for $1,000,
all of which had documentary evidence; his after failure to
recognize the dog he petted, the landlady he had boarded
with two years, her son with whom he had stock deal-
ings, his garden that he had planted, etc. About 10 P. M. I
saw he was getting tired and I told him he had better go to
bed, and again I was amused at his asking where to go. I
took him to his room and he recognized nothing, asked if he
had slept there before, etc. He sat on the edge of the bed,
put his hand in his pocket and drew out a black pocket-book
and said, “ Why, that isn’t mine, my pocket-book is red.”
Disclaimed ownership of the watch and chain he took off,
which were not the ones he had when he left and which he
described and which description was the next day verified by
his son, went to the closet and recognized none of the clothes
there, though he had worn them all. Saw a card, on the
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bureau, of his present employer and asked who that was. 1
told him it was the card of the lady by whom he was em-
ployed, which didn’t please him and he emphatically declared
he was a boss tailor and worked for no women. I finally got
him to bed and he slept quietly till nine the next morning,
awakening clear in mind and with less distress in his head
than he had had as Brewin, four years before. Later in the
day his brother and son came on. The recognition was mu-
tual and immediate, and later in the day Brewin left for
Pavonia to see the wife he left ““ the evening before ”, four
years ago. After a week or so he came back with his wife
and is filling out at the same bench the time he contracted for
with Miss Brown as Frank G. Johnson. His four years are
a perfect blank. He tells me he remembers nothing that
took place, even though he is again working in the same
scenes of his last two years as Johnson. His health is bet-
ter, and he suffers less pain in his head, though he cannot
stand exposure to the sun. In short, his employer has now
working for her a Mr. Brewin, who is, with the exception of
a vastly improved mentality, the Frank G. Johnson, and said
Brewin is quite as often addressed as Johnson as he is as
Brewin.

Of the most of this interesting case you already have
notes that are copious and exact, and I need not repeat them
here. I simply want to add that the genuineness of the case
is unquestionable. Even now Brewin is having trouble in
collecting back pension due him for the period of his exist-
ence as Johnson. The principal facts that have struck me,
psychical and physical are these:

1. The similarity between Johnson and Brewin in char-
acter. Both are identical, church-goers, quiet, unassuming,
neither smokes, drinks nor swears, both enjoy and frequently
take trolley rides for pure pleasure, enjoy church fairs and
are liberal patrons. Both have a ‘“hanker” for minstrel
shows.

2. The retention in Johnson of all the professional skill
that Brewin possessed in the matter of tailoring in all its as-
pects, and Brewin was an expert tailor.

3. The retention by Johnson of much of the head dis-
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tress and remedies therefor that Brewin had, and since de-
scribes as having had as Brewin for years. Johnson used
peppermint constantly to cool his head, a favorite remedy of
Brewin’s.

4. The absolute loss by Brewin of his store of memories
of Brewin that represented his life in every aspect as I can
analyze it except as stated in 1, 2, and 3. .

5. The creation of Frank G. Johnson, with all it gives
rise to in the way of query. When did Johnson evolve from
Brewin? Why was he Johnson and not Smith? Where did
he get his stock of parents, relatives, etc., as Johnson? Who
were the friends he had since he wag Brewin no more? etc.

6. And finally what is the physical basis? The only ex-
planation seems to be the expulsion of a clot, opening long
unused channels in the brain that have carried blood again
to the long quiet channels gradually bringing back old mem-
ories and scenes.

Look at the history: Incrcased blood pressure from
worry and thought as to his identity, finally severe head-
aches, a crack, and the mind clears, and gradually fact by fact
the whole past life of Brewin returns and Brewin is himself
again. But where did Johnson go? For he has gone and
his four years are gone, and a careful examination yesterday
(Sept. 21, ’07), shows no evidence of his presence. This is a
wonderful case and offers much food for thought. If, as you
suggest, hypnosis would evolve much, I wish it could be
tried, but I am afraid consent will be hard to obtain. At any
rate, speculate as one may, it is an unique case, and one I
shall anxiously watch for future developments.

Yours truly,
J. HERVEY BUCHANAN.

I include below the account in the New York Times be-
cause it is at least corroborative of some of the incidents and
contains a few not indicated in other accounts. I saw the
Times reporter and had a talk with him. He was an intelli-
gent young man, interested in the case on its scientific side,
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and told me that the editor printed it substantially as handed
in by him.

[From New York “ Times ”’, Monday, July 1, 1907.]
REMEMBERS AGAIN AFTER FOUR YEARS.

Old Mr. Brewin Wakes from a Nap with His Old Personality
Restored to Him—Has Been Another Man—Living a New
Life as a Working Tailor—Now the Old Life is Here and
the New Forgotten,

Plainfield, N. J., June 80.—Charles P. Brewin, the old mer-
chant of Burlington, N. J., who disappeared from his home four
years ago and was found here last Monday living a new life as
Frank G. Johnson, went to sleep this afternoon at 2 o’clock still
convinced that he was Frank Johnson; that he had never known
anybody named Brewin; that he was unmarried; that he had
never lived in Burlington, and that he would live out the rest of
his life working in the cleaning and dyeing establishment of Miss
Mary Brown.

He awoke at six o’clock. He did not know where he was.
The room he has occupied for more than a year was strange to
him. He saw a Bible on the table marked with this in gilt let-
ters: “ Frank G. Johnson.”

He didn’t recognize the name at all. He knew that he was
Charles P. Brewin, and he wondered what his old wife and son
were doing in Burlington. He wondered what had become of his
store there. He calculated that he had been away about four or
five days. The memory of his old life had come back, and the
memory of the new had faded away.

Last Thursday, standing in Miss Brown’s dyeing establish-
ment and looking appealingly at a Times reporter, old Mr. Brewin
said plaintively:

“Oh, I feel something away back in my head, but I can't
make out just what it is. There’s a story there if I could just
make it out. I have been dragging at it all day but I can’t tell
it. If I have a wife and a son and a brother, of course I would
like to know about them. As it is, I am just Frank Johnson; I
know of no one who is close to me.”

The old story in his head came to him yesterday afternoon
when he woke up. His old Brewin memory took up the thread
again where it left off on November 8, 1903, when he went to bed
at his home in Burlington. The next morning he started down
to his store and tailor shop. The earth seemed to swallow him
up. He was then 56 years old. He was a Deacon in the First
Baptist Church, and his good works were well known. He had
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lived in Burlington for more than thirty years. A brother,
William, lived in Pavonia, near Burlington, and a son, Frank P,
lived in the home town.

A thorough search for the old man was started by his rela-
tives and friends. His disappearance was the sensation of that
section of New Jersey for a year. He was traced to Philadelphia,
Bristol, and Trenton. Then his coat and hat were found on a
Jersey City ferryboat. There was an indecipherable note found
with the coat and hat. It was thought for a while that the old
‘man had committed suicide.

But the week before last Alfred Woolman, a conductor on a
trolley car here, who had lived all his younger days in Burlington,
saw the old man known as Johnson the tailor, who had worked in
Miss Mary Brown’s place for two years or more. Recognizing
him, Woolman spoke to Mr. Brewin, who maintained mildly that
he was a Johnson, not a Brewin. Woolman communicated with
the old man’s family in Burlington. Last Monday his brother
and son walked in on the old man while he was at work on a coat.
They knew him at once, but he could not remember them at all.
They went away, saying they would come back again. His aged
wife in Burlington was newly prostrated with grief. At times
she had thought he must be dead.

When the story of the finding and identification of the missing
man got out, reporters crowded to the little cleaning and dyein
establishment of Miss Mary Brown. She warded them off,
maintaining that every time her employe tried to think hard it
made his head hurt. It was the hurting him that roused her.
Last year he rushed into a burning building and rescued her and
her sister from death. It was she who gave him the Bible with
his name inserted in gilt letters.

Miss Brown was the guardian of what few memories the old
man had left. His new life dated, so far as he could remember,
only three or four years back. But things would not stay with
him more than a few weeks. What he preserved he told Miss
Brown, and when he wanted to know if he had any particular fad
in his memory treasury he would ask Miss Brown: “ Do I know
that, Miss Brown?” “ Did that happen to me?” Or “Did I
say that, Miss Brown?”

Mrs. Eleanor Dunn, of 52 Norwood Avenue, with whom the
old man had roomed for more than a year, thought him a model
citizen, and was surprised as much as anybody last week when
told that her roomer was probably named Brewin instead of
Johnson. He himself laughed at the idea. He had no intention
of leaving Plainfield. He had planted a little garden for himself
in the back yard of Mrs. Dunn’s home, and was arranging to go
into chicken raising.
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But this afternoon, after attending the morning service at the
First Baptist Church, the old tailor lay down to take his Sunday
nap. His room is on the second floor of Mrs. Dunn’s house, and
two of the last things he saw of the familiar life of F. G. Johnson
were the Bible with the gilt letters on it and a row of tomato
plants he had recently set out in his garden.

Mrs. Dunn went out visiting while he was asleep. The old
man woke about 6 o’clock. The room was strange to him.
Whose Bible was that? He had never seen that garden out there
before. What hills were they over there? He remembered no
such hills near Burlington. And where was the river that runs
by Burlington?

Mrs. Dunn, who had learned the facts about her roomer, at
once suspected that something had happened inside of his head
at last. She telephoned to Dr. J. H. Buchanan. One of the men
who last week recognized old Mr. Brewin was the Rev. Dr. J. C.
Buchanan, father of the physician, who has been visiting his son
in Plainfield for several weeks. The Rev. Dr. Buchanan had
often seen Mr. Brewin at Burlington, and had known him inti-
mately at Pemberton, where the old tailor and the preacher had
mutual friends. The preacher accompanied his son on this call.

The moment the new-found Mr. Brewin saw his old friend
come up the walk he rushed out and greeted him enthusiastically,
though last week he didn’t know him. The preacher and old Mr.
Brewin sat down and talked over work they had done together in
the Baptist Church at Burlington. They recalled hours they had
spent together on the front porch of Tailor Stratton in Pember-
ton.

“Do you remember anything you have been doing these
nearly four years?” Mr. Brewin was asked. “ Four years?” he
repeated. “ Why, certainly. I have been running the furnishing
store down on Main Street, and both it and the tailor shop are
doing well, indeed. Three or four days ago when I left—I guess
I’ve been sick a day or so—things were getting along first class.”

Finally they made the old man realize that he had been an-
other man for nearly four years. They told him of his own dis-
appearance. At the end of the long story, and after he had con-
vinced himself that it was all true, he murmured in his mild way,
instinctively rubbing the top of his head:

“ Well, I hope I haven’t done anybody any harm while I was
away.”

The incident of Mr. Brewin’s taking out another insurance
policy in the Foresters, under the name of Frank G. Johnson,
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was verified for me by Dr. Buchanan. The following is the
record ‘'which he obtained from the insurance agent.

Plainfield, N. J., July 6th, 190%.
My dear Prof. Hyslop :—

In regard to the Foresters’ certificate of Frank G. Johnson
(Chas: P. Brewin), I find it to be as follows:

No. 494148, issued to Frank G. Johnson, age 49, Beneficiary
Anna D. Johnson, age 23, Court Plainfield No. 1144, Feb. 15, 1907.
If you will write to T. Millman, M. D., Supreme Ex. of the For-
esters, 59 Yonge St., Toronto, Canada, stating the facts I think
you can get copy of his application to the order and the facts
therein stated, possibly also copy of the medical exam.

Yours,
J. H. BUCHANAN.

I got into communication with the physician of the In-
surance Company in Canada and he gave me a copy of the
man’s history as stated by himself when he applied for a
policy. He confirmed the statement that a policy had been
issued to him and asked that details be withheld. There was
nothing in the examination that showed any lapse of memory.

The following letters will show that I was not able to cor-
roborate the statements made about his life as Frank Johnson
in New York City. This is a most interesting circumstance
in the case. The places of his employment in this city, of
course, were given to Mrs. Dunn during his life in her house,
and he knows or remembers nothing about them now in his
normal state. Of course Mrs. Dunn may have remembered
the incidents only in fragments. But be that as it may, they
are not corroborated.

Hot Springs, Arkansas, June 26th, ’08.
My dear Prof. Hyslop,—

Your letter concerning the Rev. Fithian was forwarded to me
from N. Y., hence the delay in answering.

I have been pastor of the “ Old Sixteenth ” for a little over one
year. There never was a pastor of the church named Fithian.
The names of my predecessors which go back for fully forty
years, are Mac Laurin, Hodder, Payson and Jutten. Moreover I
am positively certain that there is no such Baptist minister in
New England or N. Y. State.

I came out here for my health the last week of April. About
one month before I came a man named Fithian began coming to
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our meetings. I was told that he went to the S. S. of the church
when a boy. He is a man about 45 years old. He is not a min-
ister, and never was. He is in business somewhere in the vicinity
of Battery Park.

If he is the man in question he impressed me as a good clean
man, but decidedly odd in his mental makeup, and of pronounced
intellectual conceits.

But this outside your request for information. I do not know
Mr. Fithian’s address.

Very truly yours,
WM. J. NOBLE.

New York, June 29, ’08.
The American Institute for Scientific Research,

Gentlemen :—Your letter of June 23d received and note con-
tents, replying to same would say we have never had anyone by
that name in our employ.

Yours respectfully,
STEWART. (Formerly Sharp & Co.)

Plainfield, N. J., July 6th, 1907.
Dr. James H. Hyslop,

My dear Sir:—My knowledge of Mr. Brewin (Johnson) is so
limited as to be valueless, I fear, for your purpose. He was not a
member of our church, but I understand was, before coming to
Plainfield, associated whether by actual membership or not, with
the Sixteenth St. Bap. Ch., New York City. I have been told
(not by him) that he has with him a letter of certificate of Chris-
tian character from that church. He is said, by some of our
members, to have been a regular attendant at our church services
on Sundays and frequently at our mid-week prayermeetings, but
naturally our congregation being quite large, I did not often hap-
pen to see him. Pehaps a half-dozen times I met him and ex-
changed greetings. He appeared to me a very modest, quiet,
devout man. I do not remember that he ever spoke in prayer-
meeting or offered a public prayer. I am told that he contrib-
uted liberally of his small means for the various objects of benev-
olence that were presented in the church.

The treasurer of our Benevolent Fund has mentioned to me an
incident which illustrates that “ Johnson’s” memory was good
while his “ Secondary personality ” was in action. He made a
subscription one day of $5 to some cause, not having the money
in his pocket. The treasurer did not know where to find him, but
after several weeks “ Johnson” chanced to see him, went up to
him, inquired why he had not called for the money, drew out his
pocket book and paid the $5.

I can well understand how this case to the scientist engaged
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in pathological or psychical research is one of rare interest, and
wish you full success in your investigations.
Sincerely yours,
J. A.CHAMBLISS.

New York, July 16, 1908.

Dear Sir:—

Replying to your welcome letter of the 11th inst. I am not a
minister of the Gospel nor a sexton. Dr. Noble advises me that
no minister by the name of Fithian was ever at 16th street church.
I cannot understand how Frank Johnson knew that I attended
the 16th st. church as I have only been going to these meetings
during this summer. I wish I knew more about this party and
why you connect me with this case. It might help me to recall
him. I knew a man by the name of Charlie Johnson about the
time you mention. He was in the railroad business. Can this be
the man you refer to?

Yours truly,
B. F. FITHIAN.

Conclusion.

The one misfortune in this case of Mr. Brewin, alias
Frank Johnson, is that both he and his former physician, not
Dr. Buchanan, but the physician of the Brewin days, refused
to permit the application of hypnosis for the study of the sec-
ondary self. This was indispensable to the determination
both of the nature of the secondary personality and of its re-
lation to normal consciousness. It was clearly enough es-
tablished by certain incidents that the secondary state was a
genuine one, tho there was no verification of the statements
about the two years or more in New York City. The only
incidents of a verifiable nature that throw any light upon the
case are those which were spontaneous events after recovery
of normal consciousness and the few borderland phenomena
that marked the transition. The best of the borderland phe-
nomena is the dream two days before recovery. This estab-
lished the connection between the secondary and primary
personality. The pistol shot, like that of Ansel Bourne (Pro-
ceedings English S. P. R, Vol. VII, p. 231), is another transi-
tional phenomenon. tho it depends for its character upon the
testimony of Mr. Brewin alone. The dream, however, and
its character are certified by Mrs. Dunn and Mr. Brewin’s
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son and wife. The attendance at a church which represented
the same denomination as that to which he had belonged in
his former home shows a mental connection with the normal
life, tho not a conscious one. The taking out of an insurance
policy in the same company in which he was insured during
his normal life is another important link between the normal
and secondary state, tho also not a conscious one.

The apparent fabrication of incidents in the New York
life of the man may involve a dream life which we could not
reach except through hypnosis, and that was not permitted.
It was agreed that the man was in bad physical condition
when he first came to Plainfield and that he had much im-
proved in health while there. What the New York City life
was we cannot tell, or even whether the man had been in
New York City at all. This period of two years and more is
wholly unaccounted for and is in total oblivion to Mr. Brewin.
We know the case only during the Plainfield period and that
very imperfectly. We know just enough to admit that he
was in a secondary state, but the proper explanation of it de-
pends on bridging the chasm between the man’s disappear-
ance from home and his sudden recovery in Plainfield. The
remote cause of the lapse into the secondary state was un-
doubtedly his sunstroke in 1865 and its sequel, and the more
immediate incident of the grippe which had seized him a short
time before the fatal lapse of the normal self. We can only
conjecture what took place in either or both cases, tho neu-
rology and physiology might do this with tolerable proba-
bility. But we do not know why the effect would take this
special form and continue for four years with so sudden an
awakening and return to a normal state.

It will be important to compare the answers to the ques-
tions put to Mr. Frank Johnson by the insurance company in
which he reinsured during his secondary state. It will be re-
membered that he took out a policy for $1,000 in the same
company in which he had taken a policy as Brewin. In the
application which he made as Johnson he states that his
father was not living and that he died at the age of 61 years
from an accident, being thrown from a horse, and that he was
ill four days. He also states that his mother was dead, that
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she died at the age of 43 years with pneumonia and was ill
about three weeks. Of his grandparents he says that they
were all. old when t